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Monday, May 9, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:01 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

Okay.  So this morning we have the Enbridge panel back up, continuing on from Thursday afternoon, I guess we were, yeah, Thursday afternoon.  And I don't know if there are any preliminary matters this morning.  Mr. Cass, anything from you, or...

MR. CASS:  None for me, sir.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No?  Okay.  We left off then looking for Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. Mondrow, do you have any more questions this morning?

MR. MONDROW:  I do have a few more minutes, Mr. Chairman, but I believe some of my friends have asked to precede me.  Mr. Elson in particular has a plane to catch, and I'm here, so I have no problem with that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Okay.  Let's do that.  Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  I'm happy to proceed.  I understand -- and that's my preference, but I understand that Mr. Kaiser is up are is up on the list.  I prefer to go with -- if possible, but I understand that there may be another scheduling conflict.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Kaiser, any issues that Mr. Elson goes first?

MR. KAISER:  How long will he be?

MR. ELSON:  Forty-five at most.

MR. KAISER:  I think I'd prefer to go.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And your flight is -- what time are you heading out?

MR. ELSON:  My flight is at 11:50 to Ottawa.

MR. QUESNELLE:  How long do you plan on being, Mr. Kaiser?

MR. KAISER:  Forty-five.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And you also have a commitment later this morning?

MR. KAISER:  Well, I had a scheduled meeting with our witness, who is on a tight time schedule, but I'm -- I'll stand down if my friend has to make -- I thought he had a co-counsel with him.  I misunderstood.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you very much, Mr. Kaiser.  I very much appreciate it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1 (resumed)

Ian MacPherson,

Steve McGill,

Faheem Ahmad; Previously Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  And I'll try to be even faster than my time estimate.

I'd like to start, panel, by asking some questions regarding the general criteria that the board might require before allowing subsidies for community expansion projects, and I'm going to be asking, I guess you could say, general questions that relate to this generic proceeding and what that kind of criteria might be.

But to recap briefly, I understand that Enbridge is proposing a separate portfolio managed with a profitability of .5 or higher; is that higher; is that right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  Based on your earlier testimony, that means that roughly speaking 50 percent of the costs are borne by existing customers?

MR. AHMAD:  That's not quite true, because I think that, in one of the responses, we showed that there is a component of SES that will be borne by new customers, and in addition to the SES amount, the new customer will also pay the cost of these projects based on the existing -- existing distribution rates.  So it will be more than 50 percent.

MR. ELSON:  The SES is already accounted for in your proposed profitability and X numbers; is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  So it may not be that new customers are exactly responsible for 50 percent of the cost, but the point I'm trying to -- there is a significant percent of the costs.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct, yeah.

MR. ELSON:  And based on SEC IR 22 you noted that the forecast amount to be collected over 40 years from existing customers to make up the shortfall in the profitability index would be roughly $439 million over those years?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  So my first questions relate to the reasons why the Board might wanted to allow such a significant subsidy, what the relevant criteria should be, and for starters I think you would agree that there needs to be a pretty good reason to provide a significant subsidy from existing customers for uneconomic projects; was that fair to say?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah.

MR. ELSON:  So one justification for a subsidy might be that the expansion would result in a net reduction in GHG emissions.  Would that be a valid justification?

MR. McGILL:  I think that would be a consideration.

MR. ELSON:  So that would be, you know -- in other words, GHG emission reductions could be a good reason, a good consideration, for a subsidy?

MR. McGILL:  Not per se for a subsidy, but by converting customers in these communities from existing fuel types to natural gas there would be reduced GHG emissions, so that there would be some benefit associated with that as the result of implementing our proposal.

MR. ELSON:  And would you agree that GHG reductions should be a mandatory requirement for an expansion project that will be subsidized?

MR. McGILL:  No, I wouldn't.  I think as we stated in our interrogatory responses that it is a consideration amongst a number of considerations.

MR. ELSON:  And so I think what I'm trying to get at is why we're going to provide such a large subsidy.  One of the reasons that obviously comes to front and centre for us would be potential net to GHG emissions, but if you don't have that, then why are you providing such a large subsidy?

MR. McGILL:  In order to provide the economic benefits to the customers in these communities that would benefit through the expansion of a gas distribution system to those areas.

MR. ELSON:  So I think what you are referring to there is the stage 3 benefits, what I like to think of as the sort of spinoff benefits, the economic spinoff benefits.

MR. McGILL:  Well, there are the stage 2 benefits, which relate directly or more directly to the customers in the expansion communities, and then there are what are known as the stage 3 benefits, based on EBO 134, that look at a broader, more societal view with respect to the benefits of this type of project.

MR. ELSON:  Well, let's break those apart.  For the stage 2 benefits, essentially lower bills, I just have -- you know, I struggle with the concept of providing lower bills to some customers just by increasing the bills of other customers.  Why does natural gas specifically deserve a subsidy to do such a thing?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think we have tried to get at this in our evidence and in some of the interrogatory responses.  One of the characteristics of a postage stamp rate are that there are subsidies built into that.

For example, I took a look at an exhibit from our 2016 rate-setting proceeding under the current IRM, and there is an exhibit that's part of that, that's part of the cost allocation of rate design exhibits.

What that indicates that for 2016 the basis on which our rates are set is that the rate 1 or residential customers are subsidizing all the other rate classes to the tune of almost $11 million.

MR. ELSON:  So your -- go ahead.

MR. McGILL:  So subsidies are part of what we do in terms of setting rates for utilities such as Enbridge.

MR. ELSON:  So you are unconcerned about cross-subsidization?

MR. McGILL:  As we've said in our evidence, what we've tried to do is land on a proposal that would allow us to extend service to these communities while not placing an undue burden on our existing customers, and we believe we have achieved that.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I'll leave that and ask again about stage 3 benefits, and I understand that -- I like to call these sort of economic spinoff benefits.  Wouldn't you agree that there are also stage 3 economic benefits from conservation programs, for example increased productivity from lower energy bills and increased economic activity from home retrofits, et cetera?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, there would be.

MR. ELSON:  And wouldn't there be stage 3 economic benefits from renewable energy generation projects as well?

MR. McGILL:  Potentially, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And Enbridge hasn't done the analysis to determine whether the stage 3 benefits from natural gas expansion would be lower or higher than the benefits from conservation or renewables, have you?

MR. McGILL:  No, we haven't.

MR. ELSON:  I'll move on to another possible criteria.

If a project is receiving a significant subsidy, would you not agree that at least a comparison should be done with other alternatives such as renewable energy or conservation to ensure that this is the best way to spend those dollars?

MR. McGILL:  Well, we could do that, but that might not support the objective that we're trying to achieve of getting service to these communities.  So it is a question of whether or not we want to achieve that or not.  So if we put other tests in addition to the economic tests that we've traditionally used into the mix, then that doesn't really help us in trying to achieve the objective of extending gas service to those areas.

MR. ELSON:  When you say that we could do that, you're saying that that could be part of the application requirements that you include in an assessment of alternatives.

MR. McGILL:  Well, I have no idea as to what would be involved with that.  I don't know the extent of the analysis that would be required in order to come up with some reasonable estimate of what the -- call them stage 3 benefits may or may not be associated with renewables or demand-side management efforts.

MR. ELSON:  And when you say that it might not support the objective, your concern is that if turns out that some of the alternatives are better than natural gas, then the result might be that a decision is made not to expand natural gas to at least some of these communities?

MR. McGILL:  If that -- if those things are determined to be the overriding criteria, that could be the result, yes.

MR. ELSON:  So you think that money should still be spent on natural gas expansion, even if there's better alternatives -- is that what you're saying – in order to abide by what you see as directions from the Ministry?

MR. McGILL:  Well, you know, in the case of DSM, by extending the system, we provide the opportunity to create some DSM benefits.  So I think the whole situation is more complicated than you portray.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I mean, I guess -- you know, do you think that you should spend $439 million of ratepayer money without first looking to see whether there are better ways to more cost effectively achieve the same goals?

MR. McGILL:  To the extent it may be possible to do that.  Again, I don't know what would be involved in trying to develop the measures you're proposing.

MR. ELSON:  I think you'd agree that what we're talking about here are very long-lived assets, and that forecasting the cost and benefits by necessity goes a fairly long way into the future; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, the feasibility test is carried out over a period of 40 years.

MR. ELSON:  And I think you'd agree that cost benefit projections into the future generally involve a fair amount of uncertainty?

MR. McGILL:  Most projections or forecasts do have to cope with some degree of uncertainty, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And uncertainty ultimately is risk, and that's risk that the economic projections will not turn out as predicted; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, uncertainty -- yes, uncertainty would be related to risk.

MR. ELSON:  So when you are comparing alternatives, I think you'd agree that you would also want to compare the risk profile of the two options.

MR. McGILL:  If that was possible to do, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Would Enbridge object to a requirement that it provide a comparison with alternatives as part of any application for an expansion project that requires a subsidy?

MR. McGILL:  Without knowing the details of what those tests might entail, I can't say that the company could agree to it, no.

MR. ELSON:  So you're saying that the company would object to it, or you're saying you just don't know right now?

MR. McGILL:  I'm saying that unless we knew what the measures were going to be, I can't say whether or not we would agree to them.

MR. ELSON:  Now, you know, we're not trying to figure out the specifics in our discussion right now.  But the principle of looking at alternatives, does Enbridge object to that or support that?

MR. McGILL:  We wouldn't object to it, no.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I assume that Enbridge wouldn't object to a requirement that the expansion projects be the best alternative; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  Well, the best alternative, given what the objective of the exercise is.  If the objective of the exercise is to get gas service to these people in these communities that have been begging for it for a number of years, then there are a number of considerations that need to come into that; economic, social, other.

MR. ELSON:  Well, if the objection is expanding the natural gas system, then there's not much of a question about whether the outcome is going to be whether to expand the natural gas system to a certain community.

But if we broaden the objectives out to what communities actually want, which is lower energy costs, what the province wants, and other people want in terms of GHG emission reductions, reductions in risk, et cetera, if you are looking at those objectives, you know, wouldn't you agree -- I mean, would you have trouble recommending going ahead with expansion, even if ended up costing customers more and involving them in greater risk than alternatives?

MR. McGILL:  No, not if that was evident.

MR. ELSON:  I'm sorry, not if what was evident?  You wouldn't recommend it if that was evident; is that what you're saying?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, if we had information that was clearly indicating that undertaking these projects was not in the best interest of the company or the people that would be served by them, then I would suggest that we wouldn't be pursuing them.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have one last potential criteria to ask you about before moving on, and this one will be quick.

I believe Enbridge agrees that subsidies from existing commerce should not be utilized where they are not required for the project to proceed.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, if a subsidy isn't required for the project to proceed, I don't understand why we would seek one.

MR. ELSON:  I'll turn to my second area of questions, which relate to some of the economic risks associate associated with gas expansion.  And for those questions, I'd like to refer to a compendium that I have filed electronically.

And if I can ask that be marked as an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  K3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE FOR ENBRIDGE PANEL 1


MR. ELSON:  If could be put up on the screen, there is some colour in it that is viewed best in that format.

In particular, I'd like to ask you about the first document in the compendium, which is at page 1.

This was the compendium that was filed with the Board prior to Enbridge first appearing as a witness panel -- and I believe, Lorraine, you had it on your computer when I spoke to you last time and should be there.

I have a number of paper copies, but they are not in colour, and so the colour is the best option to use.

MR. MILLAR:  Was this filed through the Webdrawer, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  It was filed, and I know that is on the computer that is controlling the screen.

MS. SPOEL:  If I can help?  It was filed on May 4th, and it's about halfway down the first page of the list of documents in this case.

MR. ELSON:  While you're looking for it, I can make reference to the document that is actually in the compendium, and perhaps you can find the compendium as we go through the first set of questions.

The first document in the compendium is Exhibit S3.EGDI.ED6 attachment.

That is of course Enbridge's response to Environmental Defence Interrogatory No.6.

Panel, while that document is being pulled up, I'll just describe what it is and perhaps I can ask you some of the initial questions.

This is the natural gas market review presentation.  There's the compendium there, and it's on page 1 of the compendium.  Here we go.

So I understand that this is an Enbridge presentation that was recently filed with the Board by Enbridge.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And you're, of course, familiar with this document?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I'm somewhat familiar with it.

MR. ELSON:  And it's from January of this year?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And if we could turn, please, to page 6 on the screen -- page 6, if we could turn back to page 6, please.  Thank you.  This section is entitled "Ontario emissions and cap and trade policy."  Do you see that there?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  Would you agree that cap and trade is only one part of Ontario's wider GHG emissions reduction strategy?

MR. McGILL:  I'm assuming it is one major part of that strategy.

MR. ELSON:  But we also know that other measures are going to be necessary, including measures that have not been identified by the government yet?

MR. McGILL:  Well, as far as I know, we haven't even seen the final cap and trade guidelines or rules at this point in time, so I guess the answer to that question would be yes.

MR. ELSON:  But in addition to cap and trade there is going to need to be other initiatives as well?

MR. McGILL:  Probably, yes.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to page 7, please.  This chart here shows the GHG emission reduction targets and Ontario's progress towards those targets, right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the yellow line is the 2020 target, right?

MR. McPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the red line is the 2050 target, correct?  The red line at the bottom 6 that chart, or graph, I should say.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the dotted black line is the forecast emissions based on the current policy initiatives that have been announced?  That's the dotted black line that is between the large grey area below it and the other coloured areas above it, that dotted line?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  So what this is showing is that there is still an enormous gap between even the 2020 targets but particularly the 2050 target.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the 2030 target is not listed on here, but on the right-hand side of the page at the bottom bullet, you can see that the 2030 target is 110 megatonnes by 2030, which is roughly two-thirds up from the 2050 target to the 2020 target; that would be where that line would be?

MR. McPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So I'll turn back to this chart shortly, but I'd like to turn now to page 14 in the PDF, please. This page is entitled "initial thoughts from ICF", and I think we've referred to it before.

But again, this is referring to a study undertaken by ICF on behalf of Enbridge and Union, right?

MR. McPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  I'd like to focus on the conclusions in that study summarized in bullet 4, and I'll read that to you.  It says:
"EGD will need to reimagine infrastructure and business model.  Residential, commercial, industrial natural gas consumption could need to decline by approximately 40 percent by 2030.  Even if protection afforded industrial emitters consumption will need to decline by 20 to 30 percent.  No net increase in natural gas consumption for electricity generation."

And the last bullet:

"Electrification of transport and buildings."

Now, Mr. McGill, these are comments in a recent Enbridge presentation, so I take it that you don't disagree with these, do you?

MR. McGILL:  Yeah, these are comments from ICF.  And they were sort of the lead-in to the next part of that presentation entitled "natural gas is part of the solution".

MR. ELSON:  I think you said yes at the beginning there, saying that you don't disagree with those; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  I'm saying that they are the comments of a consultant at ICF.  I think in terms of what they said here, when you look under the first bullet under point 4:
"Residential commercial, institutional natural gas consumption could need to decline by approximately 40 percent by 2030."

It doesn't say that it's absolute.  It's saying that it could need to decline, and we don't know exactly what that means at this point in time, and the companies, as we've indicated in the evidence and interrogatory responses and earlier in this proceeding, at the hearing, that the company is undertaking a number of steps to work with the province to reduce the greenhouse gas emissions associated with our operation.

MR. ELSON:  That wasn't quite my question, you know.  Maybe I can rephrase it.  Enbridge itself acknowledges that at least there is a risk that natural gas consumption could need to decline by about 40 percent by 2030, or do you disagree with your consultant's own numbers?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I wouldn't agree with the way you've phrased the question.  The 40 percent again is qualified by the need, "could", will depend on a lot of different things.

MR. ELSON:  I'm using the word "risk" in association with the word "could", that there is a risk that it would decline by 40 percent.  You don't have to agree with me, but if you could say one way or the other whether that's your understanding, then we could move forward.

MR. McGILL:  Well, I guess if I go downstairs and buy a 649 ticket there is a risk I could win the lottery on the weekend.

MR. ELSON:  I'll take that question -- that answer and I'll move on.

The potential 40 percent reduction referred to is in the time frame of 2030, right?

MR. McGILL:  That's what it says.

MR. ELSON:  And could we turn back to page 7, please?  The 2030 emissions target again, we saw, was 110 megatonnes, right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's what the document says.

MR. ELSON:  But the 2050 target is around 35 megatonnes with that red line at the bottom, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So if you look at the gap that needs to be closed, it grows a lot from 2030 to 2050, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Would it be fair to say that if significant reductions are needed by 2030, even more will be needed from 2030 to 2050?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And 2050 seems like a long way away, but your system expansion surcharge will be applied over a 40-year period; correct?

MR. McGILL:  That's our proposal.

MR. ELSON:  And a 40-year period starting today would last until 2056?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And these, again, these are long-lived assets.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So by 2056 we might need to be seeking out reductions that are even higher than the 40 percent?

MR. McGILL:  We don't know how the reductions in GHGs are going to be achieved.  There are a number of ways you can do that.  Many of those ways will rely on the existence of a gas distribution system.

MR. ELSON:  Let's turn to page 16, please.  And I believe that this page is forecasting the cap and trade and some other initiatives on Ontario's GHG emission reductions, right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, what the graph shows is how the natural gas industry can contribute towards these GHG reductions.

MR. ELSON:  And the white area there is the gap between the reductions from those initiatives and the reductions needed to meet the GHG targets; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Well, the white section of the chart is identified as reductions that are expected to come about through the introduction of new technologies and innovation.

MR. ELSON:  Well, perhaps we could turn to page 32, which is part of the ICF report, because they characterize it slightly differently than is in the presentation from Enbridge.

If you look at the legend to this chart, this is the same chart that is excerpted in the presentation.  But here when ICF refers to it, they call it a gap.  Do you see that there in the legend?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So the characterization in the ICF Report, much more clearly than Enbridge presentation, is calling this a gap; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So what I was trying to get at is that there is still a large gap, even after cap and trade and other initiatives.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and it is expected to be met by the production of new technologies.  Have you ever heard of carbon sequestration?  We have customers on our system now that operate greenhouses that extract the carbon, the CO2, out of the exhaust from their heating equipment.  And then they recycle that back into the greenhouses to make the plants grow bigger and better and faster.  That's an example of the kind of technology that can help evade greenhouse gas emissions; that's a starting point.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. McGill, a 40 percent reduction in natural gas use would require considerable investments; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  I would expect so.

MR. ELSON:  And some of those could be achieved through conservation?

MR. McGILL:  I would think so.

MR. ELSON:  But could all of that be achieved through conservation?

MR. McGILL:  I don't know.

MR. ELSON:  And so investments could be necessary to swap out equipment to move away from natural gas, in other words electrification; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  Possibly.

MR. ELSON:  Could we return back to the bullet on page 14 that makes reference to that?

The last bullet on page 14 refers to the electrification of buildings.  Do you see that there?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  And that could include heat pumps that are powered by electricity?

MR. McGILL:  It could.

MR. ELSON:  And what this is saying is that heat pumps could partially or completely displace a building's use of natural gas for space heating and water heating, and thus contribute to the reduction in natural gas.  Is that what this is referring to?

MR. McPHERSON:  Excuse me, I think the words -- it does not say completely.  I think that it's considered as part of the contributing solution, that technologies, electrification and heat pumps for light-duty transportation and buildings could be part of the solution in reducing emissions.

MR. ELSON:  That's a fair comment.  And right now, I think you can't predict what initiatives will be necessary to reduce GHG emissions through the reductions in natural gas consumption, do you?

MR. McPHERSON:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?

MR. ELSON:  You don't know what initiatives are going to be necessary to reduce natural gas consumption to meet our mission's targets, do you?

MR. McGILL:  No.

MR. ELSON:  Could we turn to that ICF report again, starting at page 20 of the compendium?  And so this is just the cover page, and if we could turn to 21, at the bottom there is a reference to – well, actually before I get there, I understand that an undertaking was made to provide the report from ICF, rather than the presentation itself.

Could you update us on the status of that?  Is there a separate ICF report that you can provide?

MR. McGILL:  No, the deck that was provided in the interrogatory response was the report.

MR. ELSON:  So you don't have anything else from ICF, other than this presentation, in terms of a more detailed report?

MR. McGILL:  In terms of a report?  No.

MR. ELSON:  You say in terms of a report.  Do you have something else that you might call a study, or a more detailed analysis from ICF?

MR. McGILL:  It's my understanding that there is an appendix to the report.

MR. ELSON:  Is that the appendix that is referred to in the final bullet here: "Appendix: Company-specific change in natural gas demand”?

MR. McGILL:  It could be.  We're looking into that now.

MR. ELSON:  Could you provide an undertaking to provide that appendix, and any other appendices to this ICF document?

MR. McGILL:  I will undertake to try to find the appendix and provide it, if I can find it.

MR. MILLAR:   J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO PROVIDE ALL APPENDICES TO THE ICF DOCUMENT ENTITLED "APPENDIX: COMPANY-SPECIFIC CHANGE IN NATURAL GAS DEMAND”


MR. ELSON:  And if we could turn to page 38, under this heading it says that: "Aggressive 2030 targets and C and T policy will reduce demand for natural gas in Ontario."

Would you agree with that?

MR. McGILL:  I wouldn't agree that reduced natural gas demand would be the only means of achieving these targets.

MR. ELSON:  No, and I don't think that's what the heading says.  But would you agree with what that heading says there?

MR. McGILL:  I wouldn't agree with the statement the way it's written.  I think, depending on the nature of some these initiatives, the average consumption per customer might go down, but the number of people using natural gas might stay the same or grow.

MR. ELSON:  So I understand that there may be some disagreements between Enbridge and its own consultant; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that would be fair to say.

MR. ELSON:  If you could refer to the final bullet on this page here, this talks about the long term 2030 to 2050, and it says, "Demand destruction versus business as usual is inevitable."  Do you see that there?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Is this another area where you disagree with your consultant?

MR. McPHERSON:  Well, I would say that the statement is qualified by the words following it, which say, “technology, innovation and green gas supplies needed for economy to have access to cost effective" -- I can't read the words --


MR. ELSON:  “Energy by pipeline,” I believe it says.

MR. McPHERSON:  Energy by pipeline.  So I think it's referencing what we were talking about.  There are some good existing ideas to green the system.  Ontario has vast resources of assets in gas distribution, storage, and end user assets for using natural gas, and that there is innovation and potential to bring that supply and continue to use that very economic asset.

MR. ELSON:  I'd like to ask you about a scenario.  Let's say that the various initiatives necessary to bring the GHG targets drive up the price of natural gas, such that the conversion rates in your community expansion projects are not what you forecasted.

That would mean that Enbridge would take in less revenue than predicted; fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  If that were to occur.

MR. ELSON:  And Enbridge is not willing to bear that risk, is my understanding.

MR. McGILL:  As we've said earlier, the company is willing to bear the same risks it bears today.

MR. ELSON:  And so that risk would fall on ratepayer shoulders?  I'm not being critical; I'm just asking a question.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  I'd like to end off by following up on some of your discussions with Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Mondrow regarding risk, and I believe you said that the risks are essentially unchanged since EBO 188 as between your current proposal and the EBO 188 proposal?

MR. McGILL:  Do you have a reference for that?

MR. ELSON:  It was in the transcript, and I can just ask the question again.  Do you believe that your current proposal raises more risks for consumers than the proposal under -- or the rules under EBO 188, in terms of stranded assets, et cetera?

MR. McGILL:  No.

MR. ELSON:  So you believe it's unchanged, the risk profile?

MR. McGILL:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  I'd like to take you to EBO 188, and there is a copy in Union's application which is at exhibit -- their application in EBO 2015 -- sorry, EB-2015-0179, which is the updated copy that I believe should be available.

And if we could turn to page 73 of the PDF, and if you can turn down to section 2.3.9 -- thank you -- it says here:
"The Board does not agree that a design target of zero net present value and a profitability index of 1.0 is appropriate, given the forecast risks inherent in the investment portfolio analysis."

Do you see that there?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to the next page at section 2.3.10.  And four lines down it says:
"The Board concludes that the Investment Portfolio should be designed to achieve a positive net present value, including a safety margin, for example, corresponding to a PI of 1.1.  The Board believes that a portfolio designed in this way will minimize the forecast risks and hence more likely to achieve the desired results with no undue rate impacts."

Do you see that there?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so what the Board is saying here in EBO 188 is that the utilities need to include a safety margin to make sure that the PI doesn't drop below 1; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  In other words, the Board is requiring a safety margin to make sure that existing customers wouldn't be providing a subsidy to make up for an unprofitable portfolio of projects; correct?

MR. McGILL:  That's one way to interpret it, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And it seems to me that it's quite clear that the Board was intent on avoiding a subsidy from existing customers; is that fair to say?

MR. McGILL:  In the case of EBO 188, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And under the current proposal there is no safety margin; right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McPHERSON:  In our proposal we're not proposing to change the existing methodology for that supply to EBO 188 for the balance of our system.  It is only this group of customers under the community expansion portfolio that these proposals would apply to.

MR. ELSON:  What I'm talking about is the new proposal.  The new proposal has a profitability index of, you know, roughly .5, and so there is no safety margin to avoid customers, existing customers, from subsidizing, whereas under EBO 188 there is.  There is no .1 or .2 safety margin.  There is a built-in subsidy from existing customers.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and that's the case for the proposed community expansion portfolio.  We are not proposing to change any of the guidelines with respect to the investment portfolio or the rolling project portfolio.  The other part of the proposal is that the community expansion portfolio would be excluded from those two other portfolios for the purposes of determining a PI.

MR. ELSON:  And I understand that.  Under EBO 188 you have a safety margin to make sure that you are -- if you hit, you know, forecast problems and you don't hit your targets you're still not going to have a subsidy from existing customers; you don't have that same safety margin under the proposal for the expansion you're talking about here.  I think it's self-evident, but I'm just giving you a chance to respond to that.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, with respect to the community expansion portfolio that we've proposed, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Now, in addition to the safety margin issue, I think there is another way in which the risks under the current proposal differ from what was contemplated under EBO 188, and one of those relates to carbon.  When EBO 188 was decided, electricity was far more carbon-intensive than now because of coal power; correct?

MR. McGILL:  I would expect that to be correct.

MR. ELSON:  So back when EBO 188 was decided, switching to natural gas could have significant reductions in terms of carbon emissions.

MR. McGILL:  With respect -- well, I don't want to get into argument here, but it is Enbridge's position that moving customers from natural gas to electricity even today reduces carbon emissions.

MR. ELSON:  And that will have to be an item that is dealt with during submissions and during your leave-to-construct application as to whether that is the case or not.  But, you know, I think you would agree that the landscape has changed in terms of that differential because of the phase-out of coal power.

MR. McGILL:  I agree that there has been a phase-out of coal-fired generation in Ontario.  I wouldn't agree that that necessarily means that there isn't a GHG benefit in converting someone using electricity for heating and hot-water heating to natural gas.

MR. ELSON:  The final difference that I'd like to ask you about is that it's my understanding, and I think it's obvious, when EBO 188 was decided, Ontario's GHG emission targets were not even on the horizon, of course.

MR. McGILL:  I don't believe they were in 1998, when the EBO 188 report was issued.

MR. ELSON:  And so these risks and uncertainties relating to how those GHG targets are going to be achieved and the impact on Enbridge's core natural gas business are something new that we're addressing here and something that wasn't in issue in EBO 188?

MR. McGILL:  That specific issue -- I don't believe that specific issue was considered in part of the EBO 188 process, I'll call it.  But there would have been other risks around the commodity cost of gas relative to competing fuels, so I think risks change with the times.

MR. ELSON:  I would agree that risks change with the time.  Thank you, Mr. McGill.  I have no further questions, and thank you for the indulgence of my colleagues for allowing me to go first, and with leave from the Board I'll depart for my flight.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  And I should add that my colleague Kiel Ardal will be asking questions for South Bruce and also NOACC further this -- today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Cass, could you -- Mr. McGill's testimony in the last couple of minutes in exchange with Mr. Elson, can you check the transcript tomorrow?  I'm not so sure he didn't misspeak, and we don't have to get into it now, but in the change of electricity, from natural gas to electricity.  Perhaps you can just take a look at that and confirm that.  If there is a problem let us know.

MR. McGILL:  We'll do that, Mr. Chair, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Kaiser.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Kaiser:

MR. KAISER:  Mr. McGill, just to follow up from the questions -- one of the questions from my friend from the Environmental Defence Fund -- and this was a question on what the objective of this hearing is.

And did I understand your answer to be that in your view the objective has been predetermined by the Government of Ontario and it is to determine the most efficient and effective way to extend natural gas to communities that are currently unserved?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I believe the main objective for us all being here is to determine ways to extend gas service to unserved parts of the province.  And what the province asked the Board to do, from what I can read, is examine ways that that could be done.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, I distributed this morning a compendium.  It's entitled "EPCOR cross-examination of Enbridge."  If I could have that marked.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. KAISER:  There are copies in front of you.

MR. MILLAR:  Does the Panel have copies?

MR. QUESNELLE:  We do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  So it is Exhibit K2.2.  It's EPCOR's cross-examination references for Enbridge.

MR. QUESNELLE:  2 or 3, Mr. --


MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me, 3.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF EPCOR FOR ENBRIDGE PANEL 1, ENTITLED "EPCOR CROSS-EXAMINATION OF ENBRIDGE".


MR. KAISER:  Mr. McGill, if we could turn to the first page, this is a copy of Enbridge VECC 3, and I'm also going to be looking at the second page, which is a copy of SEC interrogatory 22.

Now, this is a comparison that you've made of the Enbridge program and the Union program.  And you identify the, of course, first the SES charge, and if we look on the next page, that you estimate -- you estimate to be collected over 40 years, and it amounts to about 415 million; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Then you also identify the amount of the ITE you intend to collect over ten years, and that's around 13 million.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And then finally you estimate the amounts you intend to collect from existing customers over 40 years, and that's 439 million?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And in round terms, that all adds up to about 866 million?

MR. McGILL:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. KAISER:  Now, if we -- I'm going back to the first page, Mr. McGill -- if we were to look at line 3 in case of both Enbridge and Union, it categorizes the revenue surcharge in line 1 as "revenue."

If we had an EPCOR column, which we don't, is it your understanding that the word "revenue" would become "aid to construct"?

MR. McGILL:  From what I understand of EPCOR's evidence, I believe that's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Now, why do you call this revenue?  The money is coming from customers, both existing and new -- I leave aside the municipalities; they're not getting -- those customers are not getting any service -- well, certainly the existing customers are not getting any service.  The new customers are getting service, but this is a surcharge above the rates.

But let's just deal with the existing customers.  They're not getting any more gas for this 439 million, are they?  415 million?

MR. McGILL:  So line 3 of the table is referring to the treatment of the surcharge revenue and in both the case of Enbridge and Union, it's being treated as revenue.

Line 3 of the table doesn't speak to any subsidy that would be collected from existing customers.  That would all be flowing through regular rates, and I'm assuming that would be treated as revenue as well.

MR. KAISER:  Now, the difference between calling it revenue or an aid to construct -- and we've identified the difference -- you and Union call this revenue; EPCOR calls it an aid to construct.

The difference is that in your case, the capital investment in this situation is 410 million for the 39 projects?

MR. McGILL:  That's the estimated amount, yes.

MR. KAISER:  So by calling it revenue, that 410 million becomes an addition to your rate base, and you get to earn a rate of return on that.  Is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And if we call it an aid to construct -- if this Board says that's really not revenue, it's an aid to construct, the 410 does not get added to rate base, correct?

MR. McGILL:  No, we would add to rate base the 410 million less the contributions made by the new community customers as SES charges.

MR. KAISER:  And the total contributions here are the 856 million we've agreed to earlier.

What's the amount you would deduct the 410, if this is called an aid to construct?  How much?

MR. McGILL:  Off the top of my head I don't know that.  But we're working on an undertaking response, I think it was in response to one of Mr. Shepherd's questions from last week, and that information would be indicated in that response.

MR. KAISER:  All right, so that undertaking, do you have the number on that undertaking by any chance?

MR. McGILL:  I'm not sure which one it was.

MR. KAISER:  Well we can -- get it later.

MR. McGILL:  It might have been -- if memory serves correct, it would be J1.12.  Maybe I'm going to get corrected here – just bear with me.  Yes, it's J1.7.  Sorry.

MR. KAISER:  When do you think that might be available?

MR. McGILL:  Sometime within the next two days.

MR. KAISER:  And that will -- just to be clear before I leave it, that will tell us, that will tell the Board how much the addition to rate base will be under this program, in the event the --


MR. McGILL:  What that undertaking has asked us to do is to demonstrate the calculation of treating the SES revenue as revenue versus treating if as contribution in aid of construction.

So part of answering that undertaking will require us to apply the SES revenue as CIAC, or contribution in aid of construction, and you'll see it in the details of our response.

MR. KAISER:  Just in case there is a gap here, when you're answering that undertaking, would you make sure -- or we'll create a separate undertaking that you're going to advise the Board that if line 3 becomes an aid to construct as opposed to revenue, as you categorize it in interrogatory 3 of VECC, you are going to tell us what, under that scenario, the addition to rate base will be?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that will be indicated as part of our response.  I just want to go back to -- we went through this to some extent last week and, you know, we were asked, you know, what the difference was between treating this revenue as revenue, or treating it as a reduction in the capital cost as a contribution in aid of construction.

And the response was, and it still is, that by treating these monies as revenue, impact on existing ratepayers is less than it would be if we had treated these monies as contributions in aid of construction.

MR. KAISER:  I understand your answer; I read the transcript.  All I'm asking for -- I mean, this is not a complicated question that Mr. Shepherd put.  We've had a weekend.  I'm just wondering why we don't know what the addition to rate base will be -- instead of 410 which it would be if it's categorized as revenue, what it will be if it's categorized as an aid to construct.

MR. McGILL:  And I've told you that you will see that as part of our response to undertaking J1.7.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I know you are.  But you I won't have a chance to examine you by the time that comes in.  Is it that complicated a calculation?

MR. McGILL:  It's a calculation, and I want to make sure that we have the correct number before we put anything into the record.

MR. KAISER:  All right, let me continue on then.  You will get us the number at some point.

Now, if we call it an aid to construct and not revenue, those customers -- these would be the customers in these expansion territories, or in fact, all customers, they're not going to have an additional cost, namely a rate of return on this rate base addition, although you say there still be will be a rate base addition, but not the full 410; is that it?

MR. McGILL:  If the SES revenue is applied to reduce the capital investment as a contribution in aid of construction, the amounts being recorded in rate base will be less.  And then in turn, the return generated on rate base would be less, because it would be based on a lower number.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, the SES is 415 million.  That's here; it's on the second page.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  The contemplated investment over 40 years, or whatever period of time you take, is 410.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  That suggests to me there is no addition to rate base, if it is an aid to construct.  Is that not right?

MR. McGILL:  No, it's not right, because the SES is recovered over 40 years --


MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. McGILL:  -- and it has to be discounted to take that time period that the money is being recovered over into account.

MR. KAISER:  And over what period are you investing the 410 million?

MR. McGILL:  Over a nine-year period of time is the way that we have forecast the capital investment in our proposal.

MR. KAISER:  So that's the reason for the detailed calculation.  There is a timing difference between the receipt of these funds and their expenditure on assets and construction costs.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, there is timing involved in both the timing of the investment and the timing of the revenue recovery.  And in order to do that analysis properly, you have to do it out over the full 40 years.

MR. KAISER:  While we're talking about this timing, you used 40 years for the SES and Union uses 10.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Why is that?

MR. McGILL:  It is because if we stayed with the 23 cent SES and recovered it for ten years, we would end up with a significantly higher contribution coming from existing customers.  And as I've said all along, we're trying to strike a balance between the incremental charge to the customers in the new communities and the impact on existing ratepayers.

MR. KAISER:  Just so I can do the calculation once you come up with -- I'll call it the net rate base addition, in the event that SES is categorized was an aid to construct -- what's your rate of return on rate base these days, your allowed rate of return?

MR. McGILL:  Somewhere around 9 percent on 36 percent equity.

MR. KAISER:  So once we get this number, this net rate base addition, if I multiply this by nine percent and I multiply that by 40 years, will I get the additional cost.

MR. McGILL:  If you take the product of that multiplication and multiply it by .36 you will get the annual return associated with that investment.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  Let me turn to a slightly different topic.  You have answered -- and I think this is in the material -- an EPCOR Interrogatory No. 2.  This is about these reinforcement charges, and Union has proposed what they call an advanced reinforcement charge, and you address this interrogatory.  I don't think I have any questions on it to this point, but as I read your answer I just want to make sure I have this right.


EPCOR as opposed to Union charges reinforcement charges but only when you have to do the reinforcement; is that correct?


MR. McGILL:  Could you ask that question again, please?  I just want to make sure I understand it fully.


MR. KAISER:  Union has a concept they call "advanced reinforcement", which is to say, even if reinforcement isn't required, they would require the customer, such as EPCOR, where they have such a charge proposed, to pay for future reinforcement if and when it occurs.


As I read your answer to this interrogatory, your position is different; you charge for reinforcement when it occurs and only if occurs.  You don't charge for advanced reinforcement that you actually don't know whether it's going to occur or not.


MR. McGILL:  I don't believe we have done that, no.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  Now, we've talked about -- there have been a lot of questions about the risk of who bears the risk here, understandably so, and I gave you a copy of this IGUA Interrogatory No. 8, and that simply referred Mr. Mondrow to BOMA 13 and your response to BOMA 13.  The question that was being put was who bears the forecast risk or who bears the risk.  You have this response:

"Under the company's proposal the actual cost of any community expansion project would be closed to rate base."

And I have taken that to mean sort of a code word that the utility doesn't bear the risk of any losses.  Is that fair?


MR. McGILL:  What we've said is that the company is prepared to take on the same level of risks that it takes today.  In part (b) of the response to this question, in the second sentence, what we said is:

"If costs overruns relative to the forecast capital cost community expansion projects were to be incurred, such costs would be recoverable in rates provided that they were prudently incurred."

We always have to meet that test.


MR. KAISER:  No, no, and we all agree that you don't get any recovery anytime if the costs aren't prudently incurred.  These projects, these 39 projects, this 410 million, bringing together 16,000 customers, could turn out to be losses.


The question that everyone is asking you is, who bears the losses?  Assuming they are prudently incurred, you can draw down on certain funds under this proposal, as I understand it, such that you the utility don't have to cover these losses; is that correct?


MR. McGILL:  I'm not sure what you mean by "draw down on certain funds."  What we would be doing is closing the capital cost of these projects to rate base, and once that happens and those costs are included in our rates, we would recover the depreciation return and tax associated with those assets.


MR. KAISER:  Let me answer your question.  You say you don't understand the concept of a draw down to certain funds.  You have the interrogatory that we were just discussing.  This is the first one, the second page, this is the $866 million we talked about.  These are the funds that you are drawing down over different periods of time, 40 years in the case of two sources, ten years in the case of the IT, 866 million, they are going to come into your bank account.


When you use this term "closed to rate base", does that mean in layman's terms that if there is a loss on an annual basis and the costs are prudently incurred, but there is a loss, you can draw down on that source of revenue?  What you call revenue?


MR. McGILL:  No, the monies that add up to the $866 million proposed in response to Schools interrogatory 22, those are future revenues.  There is no pool of money that we draw down from.  That's a forecast of the revenues with respect to the SES and the ITE that would come about as a result of implementing the proposal.


The other 439 million is what other customers would pay through rates towards these projects.  So there is -- it is not like we're creating any fund to draw down against.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I accept that the monies will be collected over time, and to the extent the fund is completely provided to you, it will be some period of time, 40 years in some case, ten years in another case, but there is a stream of revenue.  Let's just call it a stream of revenue.  Let's forget the term "funds".  There is a stream of revenue which you estimate at the end of the day will be 866 million.


Can you use that stream of revenue to cover losses that you would incur in these 39 projects?


{Witness panel confers]

MR. McGILL:  Are you referring to forecast risk with respect to customer additions?  Or I'm not sure exactly...


MR. KAISER:  I'm not referring to -- well, forecast risk would be part of the risk.  I'm not talking about risk.  I'm just saying this:  Let's suppose that there are significant losses -- there are losses on these 39 projects.  I'm asking you:  Can you use this stream of income which is set out in your interrogatory response to Schools, the 866 million, all of it -- it is real income, it is a stream of income, it is going to come in the door, you hope -- can you use that to offset losses you incur on the build with respect to these 39 projects?


MR. McGILL:  Well, I'm still struggling with the question.  I'm not certain what you mean in terms of "losses."


MR. KAISER:  Very simply:  You run a business.  Sometimes you make a profit; sometimes you make a loss.  We have, for instance -- you'd be familiar with this concept -- something called incentive regulation, which means usually set over a five-year period, your rates are set, and sometimes there are losses and sometimes there's over- earnings -- you've heard that term -- and if there's over-earnings sometimes when there is rebasing there is a split of it, but generally the utility is responsible for the losses.


This has become a cardinal element of modern rate-making, so you have losses when you run your business, or you can have losses, and I'm talking about potential losses with respect to these 39 projects.


If there are losses on those 39 projects can you cover the losses from the stream of income?


MR. McGILL:  Okay, so first, in terms of the representative rate model, the last one at least was subject to a rebasing in 2013.

So all the costs were trued-up, the base was reset and the customer's revenue requirements, requirements for the years in the next IRM, were based to some extent on that rebasing.

So we would expect the same thing to apply here, that if these projects cost more or less than what's anticipated, the actual cost of those projects would be captured in the rebasing, and then reflected in rates going forward after that.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let me then go back to BOMA 13; I mentioned that.  You have a sentence there which you use twice in A and B.
"Under the company's proposal, the actual costs of any community expansion project would be closed to rate base."

That's the first sentence of A. The first sentence of B, which is Mr. Brett's second question:
"Under the company's proposal, the actual cost of any community expansion would be closed to rate base."

What does that mean?  Does that mean if there are any losses on rebasing, you're simply going to put the losses in rate base?  Or does it mean you are going to do it every year?

MR. McGILL:  Well, it means a couple of things.  It means that the actual costs of these capital projects, we're asking that they be included in our rate base for the purposes of rate-making.

For the years, I guess, between rebasing under the IRM model, we're asking for a capital pass through, so that we can start to recover the depreciation return and tax on those investments before the end of an incentive rate term.

With respect to going forward after that, it's our expectation that the cost of these projects would be included in the company's rate base going forward.

So, this -- the sentence, I think, say what we meant them to say, is that the actual cost of the projects would be closed to rate base, or included in our rate base.

MR. KAISER:  Well, first of all, I'm not talking at all about the capital pass through.  I understand that.  You don't want to be making investments during a period of IRM, and not be able to put those assets into rate base and earn a rate of return on them when they are used and useful.

We get that, and certainly EPCOR doesn't object to that.  That was part of a Union settlement, as I recall, that I was involved in for some period of time, and you guys are just copying it.

But this closed to rate base, I'm talking about losses.  I'm not talking about capital pass through.  I'm saying let's suppose there are losses on this 39 project exercise.

You say closed to rate base.  That means -- let's suppose there's a loss of 50 million bucks.  Everyone in this room, probably even the Board, is interested in knowing are customers going to pay for those losses, or is the utility going to bear those losses.  That's the elephant in the room.

This closed to rate base suggests you would take -- and tell me if I'm right, you're going to take the loss.  Let's suppose it's 50 million bucks, and at some point in time you're going to put it in rate base and earn a rate of return on the loss. Is that right?

MR. McGILL:  No, that's not correct.

MR. KAISER:  What does closed to rate base mean?

MR. McGILL:  It means that the capital investment would become part of the company's rate base.

If there are any operating losses going forward, we would -- between rebasing, we would be at risk for them and then those costs, in addition to the company's capital costs, would be captured in rebasing and recovered in rates going forward.

MR. KAISER:  Now we're making progress.  So if there are -- and losses of course capital cost -- but they can be operating losses, right?  That happens from time to time; rarely in this business, but it does happen.

If there are losses, you've just said they are at the utility's risk.  The utility will bear the risk, and it is only on rebasing that you will make any adjustment going forward with respect to loses incurred.  Is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Hang on a second.  Excuse me.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McGILL:  I'll try and answer this by way of an example.

Right now in the feasibility test, we include an estimated operating and maintenance cost per customer for these customers being added through these projects -- or any other project, for that matter.  For a residential customer, it's around $70 per customer per year.

So let's say we get to the end of an IRM term and we rebase, and we find that cost is actually $75.  So that would be applied -- we would seek to recover that $75 per customer per year as part of our revenue requirement to be recovered in rates from all customers.

So, up until the time we rebase, we might be, to use your words, losing $4 a customer in terms of O&M costs.  But it would be our intention to have that cost reflected in our revenue requirement going forward after rebasing.

At the end of the day, this is still a cost-of-service, rate-regulated business.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  So I take it from that -- and this is important, and I apologize for belabouring this – if there are any losses in the initial period, let's call it five years, we're going have to figure out what you're proposing there, but let's suppose there are losses in the five years; you're not going to attempt to recover those losses, those actual losses during that period, but you are going to deal with it going forward, going forward only, in future rates at the time of rebasing?

MR. McGILL:  And that's what we would do today for any such circumstance.

MR. KAISER:  So is it fair to say, based on that, that -- now, when you rebase to recover these past losses, I'm talking about O&M losses, my understanding is that calculation simply goes in to estimate the rates going forward, and you're basically saying to the Board, You know what?  We sort of screwed up.  We didn't have the right rates.  Our costs are much higher than our revenues.  our rates going forward are going to have to be higher.  But you're not actually recovering past losses; correct?

MR. McGILL:  In a rebasing on an IRM, I wouldn't expect so, no.

MR. KAISER:  And you are not proposing anything different here, correct?

MR. McGILL:  No, we're proposing capital pass through with respect to these investments in the intervening years between IRM and rebasing.

MR. KAISER:  I am not talking about capital.  I'm talking about O&M losses, nothing to do with capital.

MR. McGILL:  They would be treated exactly the same as any other O&M gain or loss.

MR. KAISER:  So is the answer to the last question that you are not proposing anything different here?

MR. McGILL:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Kaiser, can I just seek some clarity from Mr. McGill?

Mr. McGill, there is no separate accounting for any of these projects after they're put into use?  You are not capturing costs related to any of these projects on a stand-alone basis.  Your operation and maintenance is system-wide and aggregate?

MR. McGILL:  That's right.  We would be monitoring the profile from this standpoint of what we need to do to manage to that PI of .5 or more.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. McGILL:  So we would be keeping track of the revenues from the projects and their cost.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  That actually, Mr. McGill, brings me to my next question, which the chairman anticipated.  The question was:  Will you keep separate accounts for these 39 projects, so that we can determine whether there was a loss or not?  And I take it from your last answer that the answer is no?

MR. McGILL:  What I said is that we will be monitoring the projects and keeping track of the information that we need in order to manage this rolling project portfolio, with respect to the community expansion portfolio.

MR. KAISER:  Would you have any objection to keeping a separate financial statement for all 39 of these projects, collectively?  Not individually, collectively?  An annual financial statement?  Would that be too onerous?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think several -- at least several of the elements of that would be required in order to management the portfolio to a PI, so I'll come back to my original answer that we are prepared to track and report what is required -- the information required in order to manage that portfolio to the PI threshold that we've proposed is .5, so that would entail keeping track of the revenues associated with those projects and the costs associated with those projects, so to that extent you would get some degree of annual reporting.  I wouldn't propose that we would do financial statements for each of those projects or the portfolio --


MR. KAISER:  No, not --


MR. McGILL:  -- in the financial statements in the traditional sense, I guess.

MR. KAISER:  I'm not asking for individual projects.  I'm simply saying will we be able to determine, will the people in this room be able to determine, whether this thing turns out to be an absolute disaster or not?  Will there be some reporting that will establish over some period of time -- you've talked about an annual reporting -- whether there are losses being incurred or not?  And I take your answer to be yes.

MR. McGILL:  Like I said, we'll be reporting such that we can manage the profitability index of the portfolio, and that would be an indicator as to whether or not we were successful with these projects, and part of the screening process for any one of these projects will be what its impact is on the PI of that portfolio.

So that, in itself, I think provides a control that would minimize the risk associated with these projects requiring contributions beyond what's anticipated.

MR. KAISER:  Will that report allow us to determine whether there are losses being incurred or not on this group of projects?

MR. McGILL:  That reporting will enable the Board and the stakeholders to determine what the profitability of those projects are.  Like I said, we're not planning on providing financial statements in the traditional sense with respect to these projects.  We are not proposing to treat them all like separate businesses or a separate line of business.

MR. KAISER:  Well, the customers are putting up quite a bit of money here.  New customers and existing customers collectively are putting up over $800 million.  They'll probably want to know in future proceedings before this Board whether this has turned out to be a disaster or not, and possibly even change the program.  It wouldn't be reasonable for them to expect some kind of financial statement once a year that tells them whether collectively on all of these 39 projects losses are being incurred or not?  Wouldn't that be reasonable?

MR. McGILL:  Well, yes, and that's what we're proposing to do.  I think today under EBO 188 we report on two portfolios, a rolling project portfolio, which is a rolling 12 months at any given point in time, and an annual -- which is the investment portfolio.  Those are the tools that the Board has today to monitor the profitability or the economics of all of our system expansion.

So what we're proposing is to carve out a small portion of that to be monitored in basically the same way.

So in terms of providing an indicator, I believe it will, the kind of indicator that the Board would need to be able to determine whether or not we're successful in the way we've been going about adding these communities and managing that part of our business.

MR. KAISER:  All right, and in the BOMA 13, that sentence which you've used twice, "under the company's proposal the actual costs of any community expansion would be closed to rate base" , when you say "actual costs" --


MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- those would include operating costs as well as capital costs?


MR. McGILL:  No, operating costs do not form part of rate base --


MR. KAISER:  Okay.  So --


MR. McGILL:  -- only capital cost.

MR. KAISER:  So the capital cost would be closed to rate base?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Now, we've talked about rebasing.  Are you proposing some sort of incentive regulation with respect to the regulation of the operations in these 39 communities or not?

MR. McGILL:  What we're proposing is that in terms of the operating costs associated with serving these customers, those costs would be treated exactly the same way as all our other operating costs from a rate-making standpoint.

MR. KAISER:  My question was:  Will these 39 projects -- I know you've segmented them for certain purposes -- do you contemplate that they'll be subject to the same type of incentive regulation that the rest of your business is subject to?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

I want to turn to a different topic.  We have a situation currently, or at least in terms of the proposals that you and Union put together, where the existing customers that have the privilege of ponying up to support this expansion are the customers of Union and Enbridge.

Do you have a view as to whether it would be more equitable to a charge that all Ontario gas customers should be responsible for paying the same type of surcharge as you're proposing for the customers of Union and Enbridge?  Do you have a view on that?

MR. McGILL:  Well, we've indicated in our evidence that we don't believe that that would be appropriate.

MR. KAISER:  Why is that?

MR. McGILL:  Well, we've identified some of the reasons behind that in our evidence.  One of the main reasons is that these businesses are cost of service rate-regulated.  By imposing such a charge on our customers, that charge would not be part of our cost, so that doesn't fit within the definition of cost of service rate regulation.  That's one part of it.

The other part of it is that that proposition doesn't take into account that over time the people in these communities or these projects will reach a point where their incremental revenue requirement or their incremental revenues will exceed their incremental revenue requirement and they will start to pay back the subsidy.  So if we go with this expansion reserve kind of model, I don't know how you integrate that return of the subsidy back at some future point in time.  All that's been indicated in our pre-filed evidence.

MR. KAISER:  I'm talking about the money that's being paid by the existing customers, not the new customers, the existing customers.

MR. McGILL:  That's what I'm talking about.

MR. KAISER:  But there are existing customers out there of Kitchener, of Kingston, of NRG.  Why shouldn't they face exactly the same surcharge that you're proposing for your customers and Union's customers?

MR. McGILL:  Well, to the extent Kitchener and Kingston or NRG expands their system, they may do so.  I don't know what the plans of those utilities are.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Now, on that topic -- I know you don't want to call it a fund.  We talked about this 866 million.  We at least know in your case what the amount is.

What type of regulatory review do you contemplate that this Board would carry on with respect to those monies that are flowing in monthly?  Is there any regulatory review?

MR. McGILL:  So you're asking me to comment on how the Board should supervise or regulate this proposed expansion reserve?

MR. KAISER:  Yes, and more broadly, money is coming in from the public from new customers, from existing customers, which doesn't relate to service.  It relates to underwriting the cost of expansion, including money from the municipalities, 13 million.  Are those parties -- is the Board going to want some kind of regulatory process to make sure that those monies are coming in, what the amount is, and that they're being properly used?

Have you contemplated what type of regulatory review, if any, there would be over that?

MR. McGILL:  So we're talking about the SES revenue, the ITE revenue coming from the customers in the community expansion projects?

MR. KAISER:  I'm talking about all three on this interrogatory that we started off with, the second page in the document.

MR. McGILL:  Okay.

MR. KAISER:  That's significant money; $866 million is going to come floating in.  It has a stated purpose.

I'm asking you whether you have any view of what type of regulatory process would be necessary with respect to those monies.

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think our normal rate-setting process would give the Board ample opportunity to administer and oversee that.

MR. KAISER:  I know they could do it at the time of a rate process; no question about that.

I'm just asking you whether you've turned your mind to what type of review, if any, the Board should conduct.

This is not revenue from the sale of service; none of it is.  None of these three items have anything to do with the sale of gas.  It's something new.  This Board has never seen it.

It is not an insignificant amount.  It is $866 million.  What type of review do you contemplate?

MR. McGILL:  Well, like I said, I contemplate the annual rate review.  The SES is proposed to be described in a rate rider, which is a rider to our rates.  We have a number of those riders to our rates now.  The Board reviews those as part of our normal rate-setting process.

With respect to any subsidy that is collected through rates from existing customers, again, that is all going to be subject to the Board's regular review of our rates and how we set them.


And then the ITE, we would be reporting that revenue as part of our forecast revenues as part of that rate-setting process as well, when we indicate to the Board whether or not there is going to be a sufficiency or deficiency with respect to what our existing rates collect and what our revenue requirement is, year in, year out, as we move through the IRM years.

So that's the process that exists today.

MR. KAISER:  But these funds, unlike real revenue, have a specific purpose, namely the construction of facilities in 39 markets; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and we have elements of our revenue today that are for specific purposes, things like relocating meters, things like decommissioning services, things like setting up new -- there is a rider G to our rates -- I think it's rider G -- and there is other revenues, and those revenues are included in the determination of whether or not current rates provide a deficiency or sufficiency.  The ITE and SES would simply be additions to other revenue that are taken into account as part of the rate-setting process.

MR. KAISER:  Let me come back.  These revenues have a specific purpose.  They are not revenues from the sale of gas.  They are revenues for particular capital projects in 39 markets.

Is there a review of whether you are spending all or more, or is there a review of the capital expenditures rise to those 39 markets contemplated?

MR. McGILL:  With respect to the capital expenditures, as I have said, I expect we would be bringing to the Board leave to construct applications for each of them.  That would entail a review of the capital costs associated with those projects.

In terms of our annual revenue requirement and rate-setting process, the SES revenue and the ITE would form part of other revenue, and be taken into account in the determination of our rates.

MR. KAISER:  I understand that.  We have a situation where this money is going to come in over 40 years.  The construction is going to take place over nine years.

I'm just trying to find out, and it -- these monies that are coming in from these three sources which we've identified, and we know the amounts, they are going to be used for a specific purpose.  This exercise is going to go on for nine years.  The money is going to continue to come in for another 31 years.

Outside of the fact that you are going to throw it into revenue -- hopefully; that's your hope -- outside of that, what regulatory review would you contemplate with respect to the -- and I know you are going to get a leave to construct.  But is there going to be any ongoing review of what you do with this capital?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I think Mr. McGill has explained several times what he believes the regulatory review would be.

Mr. Kaiser may disagree with that, and may want to make argument about it.  I don't know what more Mr. McGill can say, having already answered what he believes the review would be.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Kaiser?

MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  I'll move on, Mr. Chairman.

I want to turn to franchise agreements, Mr. McGill, and you've had some interrogatories on this.  You had, in fact, EPCOR interrogatory 1.

Let's start with these 39 markets.  You have franchise agreements for all 39; correct?

MR. McGILL:  We have franchise agreements in place that cover a number of the communities in the list of 39 projects.  I'd have to check to find out which ones exactly we do or we don't.  I believe we provided that information -- or perhaps we didn't -- in the interrogatory responses.  I know we provided information with respect to all of our existing franchises in the municipalities that they cover.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, and that's -- and you did.  Thank you very much, and that's EPCOR 1.  It is in your package right near the back --


MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- this long table.  And the column to the far right, you haven't had any questions on this to this point, so let's look at this.

One of the questions was whether you -- we know you don't have service in these municipalities.  That's why they're -- this is a list of all of your franchises, I think, if I look at this table, and you tell us whether there is a CPCN and whether there's service in the municipality.

These are -- these are municipalities, or these are franchise territories outside of the 39, I believe.

Do we have in this table -- I see some that have the demarcation NA --


MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- under the CPCN.  Does that mean a CPCN has not been granted?

MR. McGILL:  I think what that means in most of these cases is that the NAs refer to the upper tier municipalities.  So take, for example, the region of Peel.  That's an upper tier municipality, and it's comprised of Mississauga, Brampton, and Caledon.

So we have franchise agreements with all four, and the reason we have a franchise agreement with the upper tier municipalities is typically because we will have assets located or adjacent to regional roads.  So we need to have an agreement with respect to that.

But in terms of actually providing service, we would have franchise agreements typically with the three lower tier municipalities, and certificates with respect to each of them.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  Now you have had a number of cases where you have renewed franchise agreements?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  After their initial term of 20 years has expired?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I'm not sure what the initial terms were for all of our franchise agreements.  I know that the new form of franchise agreement, or the current form of franchise agreement is typically for a duration of 20 years.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, nothing turns on that.  You've renewed franchise agreements when their initial term has expired; forget about the 20 years.

Have you ever renewed franchise agreements after their initial term, and in cases where you have not built any facilities?

MR. McGILL:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. KAISER:  Now, when you enter into a franchise agreement with a municipality, which you do, and in these 39, you've clearly have in some cases, do you do that with the expectation that you are going to build in the near term?  Or do you just sign them, put them on the shelf, and hope some feasible project comes up?

MR. McGILL:  No, it's the latter.  In the case of some of these 39 communities we will require franchise agreements for the municipalities involved where we've never had a franchise agreement before.

We haven't had any detailed discussions with respect to that with any of these municipalities, and we wouldn't do that until we knew we had a clear pathway to provide service there.  And this is the part of the process of getting to that point.

MS. SPOEL:  Can I just qualify, Mr. McGill?  You just said -- Mr. Kaiser asked you whether it was the former or  -- two options; you said it was the latter, but that was signing it and putting it on the shelf.  Did you mean to say it was the former?

MR. McGILL:  The former.  Sorry.  Thank you for that.  We don't go out and inventory franchise agreements that we're not contemplating at the...

MR. KAISER:  We had a discussion a while ago about this ITE, which was based on an estimate of the tax -- future tax revenues the municipality might receive as a result of the project moving forward.

Are you contemplating that that would become -- that concept would become part of a model franchise agreement?

MR. McGILL:  No, what we're anticipating is there would be a separate agreement with the municipality associated with the leave to construct that provided for the ITE.

MR. KAISER:  Would you object -- and this is not part of a discussion about changing a model franchise agreement, but you negotiate with these municipalities that you've signed franchise agreements with continuously.

Would you object if they asked for a term that -- in the agreement that they could terminate the franchise agreement if you hadn't built facilities within a reasonable period of time, say five years?  Would you object to that?

MR. McGILL:  I don't think we would, no.  As I said, we're not in the business of going out and entering into franchise agreements we don't intend to act on.

MR. KAISER:  Now, another matter arises from Dr. Yatchew's evidence that he talks about transparency.  Would you object if municipalities were required to issue a public notice when they're thinking about renewing a franchise agreement or issuing a new one?  Would you object to that?

THE WITNESS:  I don't think we would object to it, no. I think part of the process we go through now when we renew franchise agreements, we speak with members of the municipal councils on occasion, if they have issues that concern us that have been brought forward by their constituents or employees of the municipality with respect to the way we have conducted some of our activities in that area, we'd deal with those as part of that discussion.

MR. KAISER:  Right.  Thank you.

Now, in your evidence -- and I gave you the reference, and I think it's page 7 of 36, paragraph 25 -- you don't need to turn it up -- you made the statement in paragraph 25:
"The extension of natural gas service to these communities will benefit all ratepayers.  New customers will benefit from fuel cost savings."

And then you go on to -- you said:

"The incremental revenue generated by these future customer attachments will benefit all customers."

And you go on to say:
 "All customers will also benefit as a result of the company being able to achieve increased economics of scale."

We'll come to that in a minute, but this "incremental revenue generated by these future customers will benefit all customers", I recall Union saying in their evidence that their golden rule was that all of the parties that benefit should contribute to this expansion exercise; is that your position as well?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I think at a high level that's our position, and I think our proposal calls for that.

MR. KAISER:  Now, you speak of incremental revenue generated by these future customers.  In this case we're talking about 16,000.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  That incremental revenue, you said, will benefit all customers because it will have a -- it'll be additional revenue that will cover costs.

It will also benefit the utility; it will also benefit Enbridge; correct?

MR. McGILL:  To the extent that it will allow us to earn a return that compensates us for the cost of the capital employed to build these assets, yes.

MR. KAISER:  And 16,000 customers, if you were to sell a utility, is it not the case that sometimes people look at the number of customers you have in the utility when they decide to buy?

MR. McGILL:  I would expect so.

MR. KAISER:  So let's say you get 16,000 customers out of this deal as you were hoping; that's worth something to you, isn't it?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, to an extent, but you have to put that in the context, the right context, which is that we are adding somewhere around 35,000 customers per year.  We're talking about adding 16,000 customers over a ten-year period of time.

MR. KAISER:  Correct.

MR. McGILL:  So from the standpoint of the valuation of the business, I don't think that would be a significant factor.

MR. KAISER:  But it is a benefit.  How big a benefit is to be determined, but it is a benefit.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I presume there would be a benefit associated with that.

MR. KAISER:  So we have a situation here where the province is putting in some money, the municipalities are putting in some money, the existing customers are putting in some money, the new customers are putting in some money.  What's the utility putting in?

MR. McGILL:  We're investing the capital required in order to build these facilities, and we are borrowing the debt component that's required in order to fund that capital.

MR. KAISER:  Well, you say that, but isn't it a fact that 410 million, which is the amount of capital, is being more than covered by the 866 million that's coming into Enbridge from three other parties?

MR. McGILL:  Again, you have to consider the time value of money, the time spans involved, and the fact that the only risk this business faces isn't limited to the number of customers we're going to attach, or what the capital cost of these projects are.

We have inherent risks in this business today, you know, with respect to people damaging our plant, all those things.  We're compensated for that risk in our return across the entire business.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's move on quickly to another topic here, and this is economies of scale which you deal with in your -- at page 4 of your evidence, paragraph 14, and you say that this seems strange that at a time when the province is arguing for consolidation of the electricity sector, that at the same time they would be supporting or somebody would be supporting, this Board would be supporting, I guess is your inference, the expansion of the number of natural gas distributors.

Now, we have five natural gas distributors in Ontario today; correct?

MR. McGILL:  I believe so, yes.

MR. KAISER:  And we have about 70 electric utilities, give or take, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Probably somewhere between 70 and 80.  There has been a few amalgamations occurring of late, so I'm not sure exactly what the number is right now.

MR. KAISER:  So you actually think going from five utilities to six utilities in the province of Ontario in the case of gas is going to make any significant impact on economies of scale that you face?

MR. McGILL:  Well, there is nothing in our evidence or any of the other evidence I've seen in this proceeding that would indicate that we're only talking about one additional utility.  In our case there would could be 39 additional utilities, one for each of the communities, and that would entail some administrative burden --


MR. KAISER:  Well, in this --


MR. McGILL:  -- in Union's, and it would be even more, so we're not talking about an instance of one particular proposition that's in front of us.  We're talking about the prospect of a completely different way of doing business.

MR. KAISER:  Fair enough, fair enough.  But in this case we are talking about one utility potentially coming into this province and five going to six.  Is that going to have any impact on your economies of scale?

MR. McGILL:  Can you repeat the question, please?

MR. KAISER:  In this case, as opposed to what may happen in the future, we have one potential entrant, the first one we have seen in 39 years, that's going to increase the number of companies from five to six.  Is there any real impact, negative impact on your economies of scale?

MR. McGILL:  On Enbridge's economies of scale?

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. McGILL:  I don't believe that there would – well, again, it is difficult for me to answer the question because I don't know to what extent the new entrant would be considering providing service in areas that we have under consideration.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's put it differently. We have Kingston, we have Kitchener.  Small companies compared to you, a fraction of your size.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Any evidence they are less efficient than you are?

MR. McGILL:  Subject to check, I believe their rates are higher than ours, so I'm not sure if that's an indication of efficiency or not.  But I think that's an indicator of the benefit of a scale of economy.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will probably hear from them on that.

I just want to end on one note, Mr. McGill.  We have the province off in the wings here; we don't know what they're going to do.  They signalled, I would call it, some money being available, grants and loans.

At some point, this board may be making recommendations possibly as to how those funds ought to be used.

Your project, as I understand it, doesn't assume any funding from that source; is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose there is funding available.  Would you support, as one possible use of the funding, underwriting conversion costs in any of these expansion markets, regardless of who the providing utility might be, as a provincial program?

MR. McGILL:  When you say conversion cost, the cost of the end user converting their equipment?

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. McGILL:  No, we would not object to that.

MR. KAISER:  That would probably help you reduce the risk, would it not?

MR. McGILL:  I expect that it would encourage people to convert over to natural gas more quickly.

MR. KAISER:  Okay, thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.

Mr. Mondrow, do you have a few more questions?  Does it make sense to do that before we break?

MR. MONDROW:  I'm happy to do that.

I'm going to jump the board here and just take Mr. Elson's seat.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure, by all means.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. McGill can look me in the eye this way.

MR. McGILL:  Good morning.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


Mr. McGill, I wanted to clarify one thing I think I heard when you were having your discussion with Mr. Kaiser.

Enbridge is proposing Y factor treatment for -- is it just the capital associated revenue requirement for these projects, or the entire revenue requirement for these proposed projects?

MR. McGILL:  It would be the entire revenue associated with the project.  I'd have to go back and look at the details of our annual rate re-setting model.  I believe it is impacted by the forecasted number of customers for the given test year.

So I would expect, to the extent that that is the case, that we would be picking some of the costs just in the forecasted customer additions, really the development of the revenue requirement each year.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Can I go to your response to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 2, please?  I want to look at part (a) of your response.  I'm sure this was queued up on Friday, but time has passed.

So If you could agree with me in the interim.  This is your response to Energy Probe 2, and part (a) it says:
"From 2001 to 2015, the customer's investment portfolio PIs ranged from a low of 0.95 to a high of 1.80, with the cumulative net present value amounting to over $650 million during this time."

Now, that number, that $650 million, as I understand it, it's not actual revenue.  It's a forecast of revenues over time assuming that rates don't change.

MR. McGILL:  It's the net present value of that forecasted revenue stream over 40 years in the case of each year.

MR. MONDROW:  Assuming current rates --


MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- for the purpose of the calculation.

MR. McGILL:  That's the requirement in EBO 188; we assume current rates for that --


MR. MONDROW:  But, of course, rates will in fact change over that period as history unfolds, right?

MR. McGILL:  I would expect so.

MR. MONDROW:  And when Enbridge rebases, the expansion customers will pat rates that reflect the average cost-to-serve of all your customers, subject to the contribution charge?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So new customers are not going to thus going to subsidize existing customers at all, right?

MR. McGILL:  I wouldn't say that's correct, in that the only reason our rates change is because our costs change.  So the two things move in tandem.

What the numerator in the PI calculation is, it's the net revenue associated with the company's expansion activity.  So it's the netting; it's not just -- you just can't assume that revenues are going to increase year over year without the attendant increase in costs.

These are still cost-based rates.  You know, the time frames are different now under IRM, but they are still cost-based rates.  So the two things track in tandem, so I don't think that's a fair statement.

MR. MONDROW:  I don't understand that answer at all.  We just agreed that this number, this numerator is not actually a representation of revenue you expect to earn.  It's a calculation to determine whether there is a subsidy or not for the project proposed, isn't it?

MR. McGILL:  No, it's not.  It's -- if you look at the way you calculate a PI, the numerator is a 40-year stream of net revenue; so revenue minus costs discounted over 40 years.

So, the proposition you put to me was that while in future years our rates will go up.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, no, I didn't say -- I didn't  say --

MR. McGILL:  That's what you said, and then my response was yes, but our costs go up as well.  So the net difference is what matters and it might change over time, but not the way you're portraying it.

It is not as though the customers in these new communities aren't -- through the expansion haven't system aren't going to be contributing to an overall benefit or reduction with respect to all customers.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm with you there.  Maybe we're tripping up on the words "new customers subsidizing existing customers."  Maybe that's a semantic play there.

But it seems to me what happens with these new customers is that when you rebase, the new customers will assume a portion of the fixed costs to serve all of your customers, thereby reducing the portion of the fixed costs that existing customers have to pay in rates.

Isn't that's what's going to happen at rebasing?  You're going to levellize your rates across all your customers, new and existing, and that will be a benefit in respect of your fixed cost structure to your existing customers, right?

MR. McGILL:  I'm not certain with respect to the impact on all customers in general, I think, trying to apply a measure that's used in a feasibility test with respect to how rates are set on a year-by-year or through rebasing process.

So to the extent that the investment and expansion is delivering on a forecast basis more revenue than the cost over its life than it is, in fact, I think bringing costs down for everyone.

MR. MONDROW:  Have you quantified anywhere in your evidence the benefits, you call them subsidies, to these existing customers, that these new customers are likely to contribute?

MR. McGILL:  Well, what we have done is what we said in this interrogatory response, that when you look at the history of our investment portfolio over the last 15 years, it has delivered a positive net present value to the tune of $650 million, so that's a contribution towards cost of service for all customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Where the PI is less than 1, that's not a contribution towards the cost of service -- sorry, it's not covering the cost of service for any customers, if the PI is less than 1; right?

MR. McGILL:  No, if the PI of a project or a portfolio is less than 1, then that portfolio or project is not covering its 100 percent of its capital cost.

MR. MONDROW:  Anytime over its life.

MR. McGILL:  Over the 40-year time horizon of the calculation.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Fair enough, over the 40-year -- two generations' worth of time.

MR. McGILL:  Forty years.

MR. MONDROW:  So other than the $650 million which represents the net present value of revenues at rates as they currently sit for the purposes of the PI calculation, Enbridge has not quantified the benefits to existing customers provided by new customers.

MR. McGILL:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  This is it.

MR. McGILL:  Well, in our evidence with respect to our proposal we quantified the stage 2 benefits associated with the proposal.  We had discussion of stage 3 benefits that would come back across all ratepayers and the province in general.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, you quantified the stage 2 benefits somewhere?

MR. McGILL:  In our evidence, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. McPHERSON:  It's Table 10 to our -- page 33.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I'm going to switch topics.  I have two more questions:  If the Board were to conclude that it can't or it shouldn't tilt the playing field, that is, either every distributor gets subsidies from existing customers in the province or none do, what would be Enbridge's position on that choice, whether subsidies should be collected from your customers and Union's customers and provided to everybody as one option or no existing customer subsidies should be applied as option two; which of those options would you endorse if you had to choose one?

MR. McGILL:  Probably subsidy across the board.

MR. MONDROW:  And you had extensive discussion with Mr. Elson this morning on GHG reduction strategies.  Is the community expansion proposal part of your GHG compliance strategy, Mr. McGill?

MR. McGILL:  We haven't viewed it is a such.  However, converting customers to natural gas from their existing fuels will have a positive benefit in terms of GHG emissions.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, have you determined whether those conversions are the most cost-effective approach to meeting your GHG compliance requirements?

MR. McGILL:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

We'll take our morning break.  Let's go according to that clock up there, which I think is running a little slow again, but let's come back at 25 after 11:00.  20 minutes.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:06 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, I believe you're up next.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn.  Mr. Millar, could you do me a favour?  I left my notes in the side room.  Could you get them for me?  Otherwise, I'll be lost right after Mr. Quinn here.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, I wanted to note that I appreciate the accommodation of Enbridge.  I advanced them some questions over the weekend to try to expedite matters this morning, so they've had a chance to review the questions that I have asked them to take them undertakings and they have accepted that they will accept them as undertakings, so that he so that will expedite things.  If I could just read the questions into the record?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good.  I appreciate that.  Thanks for doing that, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the first question – and I am respectful Mr. Millar hopefully will be able to provide us with an undertaking number at the appropriate time.



MR. QUINN:  So, I will just read the question.  I can actually advance these to the court reporter -- I have them with me -- if I've read too quickly.

In discussing the implications of carbon cap and trade on the attachment rates with OGA, Enbridge stated that they had analysed the impact of carbon costs up to $300 per tonne and concluded that there was still an advantage for natural gas over other fossil fuels and electric resistance heating, please file the analysis and the resulting comparison --


MR. McPHERSON:  Excuse me, Mr. Quinn, a comment on that.  The number we actually analysed up to was $200 per tonne, not 300.

MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry, the record reads 300 --


MR. McPHERSON:  I think it was repeated incorrectly by Mr. McGill, but I originally said $200.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you for the clarification, Mr. McPherson, and if we could have an undertaking?

MR. MILLAR:   J3.2.


UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  IN DISCUSSING THE IMPLICATIONS OF CARBON CAP AND TRADE ON ATTACHMENT RATES WITH OGA, EGD STATED THAT THEY HAD ANALYZED THE IMPACT OF CARBON COSTS UP TO $300/TONNE AND CONCLUDED THAT THERE WAS STILL AN ADVANTAGE FOR NATURAL GAS OVER OTHER FOSSIL FUELS AND ELECTRIC RESISTANCE HEATING (VOL L, PG. 207-208).  PLEASE FILE THE ANALYSIS AND THE RESULTING COMPARISON.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

The second question advanced and -- in discussing the survey of customers undertaken to understand prospects for conversion, Enbridge indicated that the survey done in '06, for Alfred and Plantagenet was different.

Please file the survey methodology and the results for the 2006 survey.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  IN DISCUSSING THE SURVEY OF CUSTOMERS UNDERTAKEN TO UNDERSTAND PROSPECTS FOR CONVERSION, ENBRIDGE INDICATED THAT THE SURVEY DONE IN 2006 FOR ALFRED AND PLANTAGENET WAS DIFFERENT (VOL 1, PG.139-140).  PLEASE FILE THE SURVEY METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS FOR THE 2006 SURVEY.

MR. QUESNELLE:  J3.3.  I can follow along here.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.  And the last question is -- it was just getting clarification on a FRPO 4.6 interrogatory, Enbridge answered -- our question was not clear to Enbridge, and the they informed that when natural gas is producing electricity, it is more carbon conscious to combust the gas as opposed to generate heat with electricity.

Our question was trying to get to at what percentage of natural gas-fired electricity in the annual electricity dispatch stack must gas generation be below for this statement to hold.

Asked differently, if natural gas generation of electricity were to increase, at what level would the heating through electricity generated more -- have more carbon output.

So I will provide those to the court reporter to make sure there is clarity in the question.  Enbridge has seen those questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And the last one is J3.4.


UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  IN FRPO.6, OUR QUESTION WAS NOT CLEAR AS ENBRIDGE INFORMED THAT “WHEN NATURAL GAS IS PRODUCING THE ELECTRICITY”, IT IS MORE CARBON CONSCIOUS TO COMBUST THE GAS AS OPPOSED TO GENERATE HEAT WITH ELECTRICITY.  OUR QUESTION WAS TRYING TO GET TO:  AT WHAT PERCENTAGE OF NATURAL GAS FIRED ELECTRICITY IN THE ANNUAL ELECTRICITY DISPATCH STACK MUST GAS GENERATION BE BELOW FOR THIS STATEMENT TO HOLD?  ASKED DIFFERENTLY, IF NATURAL GAS GENERATION OF ELECTRICITY WERE TO INCREASE, AT WHAT LEVEL WOULD THE HEATING THROUGH ELECTRICITY GENERATED MORE CARBON OUTPUT?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Moving to cross.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

Good morning, panel.  I'm sorry I didn't even introduce myself.  I'm Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

And I'm just going to start with a follow-up to the oft-referenced table 10.  I don't know that you need to turn it up, but if you want to have it in front of you, it's table 10 in Enbridge pre-filed evidence, page 33.

That table presents the net present value of stage 1 and stage 2 benefits.  I understand that Enbridge has used the Board definition of net proceeds of a project representing the opportunity cost of capital.

However, I could not find the opportunity cost in the record, the actual value of the opportunity cost of capital in that analysis.

Has Enbridge filed that number and if not, would you undertake to calculate it and provide it?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, on table 10 actually we have used -- for the opportunity cost we have used the social discount rate, which is used in our DSM calculation and DRC calculation particularly, which is 4 percent.  So that is the opportunity cost from a societal perspective.

MR. QUINN:  That's the rate.  What I'm looking for is over that same period of time, what is what others have referred to as the profit that Enbridge shareholders would make, or what Enbridge refers to as the opportunity cost of the capital.  That's the number I can't find.

MR. AHMAD:  Okay.  So do you want me to provide that number?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, please.

MR. AHMAD:  Sure, I will provide that number.

MR. QUINN:  Through an undertaking, sir?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, I can undertake that.

MR. MILLAR:  I believe we're at J3.5, Mr. Chair.


UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO PROVIDE A FIGURE FOR THE PROFIT THAT ENBRIDGE SHAREHOLDERS WOULD MAKE, OR WHAT ENBRIDGE REFERS TO AS THE OPPORTUNITY COST OF THE CAPITAL


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

We also appreciate that Enbridge has sought more innovative approaches to getting more customers in your traditional franchise areas. One example that we noted was LNG.

Can you help me understand why Enbridge is proposing LNG initially, trucked from Quebec, instead of natural gas which has been expanding its application in Ontario?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I think as we get into the details of each of these projects, I don't think that compressed natural gas would be off the table.

For the purposes of doing the analysis with respect to this portfolio, we made the assumption that we would use LNG to service these communities.

MR. QUINN:  And what was the compelling reason to -- each of the projects highlights LNG and not CNG.

Can you just give me the top three factors that would say LNG would be superior as an initial application?

MR. McGILL:  I think what comes into play is it's a consideration of a trade-off really between the amount of storage facilities that's required at the delivery site or in the community, trucking costs and around security of supply.

So in cases where we are going to use LNG or potentially CNG, we want to make sure we have enough inventory on-hand at the community, so that we can continue to provide service under adverse weather conditions and things like that.

So in the case of CNG, compressed natural gas has a lower energy density compared to LNG, so we were trying to balance off a number of these factors to determine what the optimal solution would be for any one community.

So what we did in this case was we made the assumption that LNG would be the more appropriate solution with respect to the 19 communities we've identified.

As I said, that's not to say that as we get into the detail on each one of these projects, we might find that some of them can be better served with CNG, and we would pursue that.

MR. QUINN:  I respect that those details would come out in a leave to construct, sir, so I wouldn't want to delve into that specifically.

But at a high-level, is CNG more cost effective -- and I say cost effective not including the security of supply situation, but just more economical in terms of cost?

MR. McPHERSON:  I think the answer is it depends on a number of different factors, the load.  But one of the key ones that we found in preliminary analysis is the distance from the site that is being serviced.

So as we go further away from our system for resources of LNG  -- I mentioned Quebec as one source. There's others in the United States that could bring those supplies.  Those are the key factors that make a big difference in some of the costs of the valuation.

And also the storage, as Steve mentioned, Mr. McGill that he mentioned is a key factor for that say.  Peak day load is one of the main factors.  Storage is one of the highest cost for LNG that we found in our analysis.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I'll defer and we will look forward to detail if you're in the position to do a leave to construct.

So I'll end my questions there and thank you for your answers.

Turning probably to my last question, and given your help with other questions asked earlier, early on the first day, Mr. Duncanson was asking you about the relative cost of natural gas in 2014 versus 2015.  And Mr. McPherson provided that the costs of the early parts of 2014 were levellized over the 24-month period.

Do you remember that discussion, Mr. McPherson?

MR. McPHERSON:  I do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, I respect that some of your more recent responsibilities have moved you from day-to-day aspects of gas markets, so you may not have full knowledge of the evolution of more recent QRAMs, but I believe it is important to have an accurate record.

So I actually advanced the link to Board Staff and to Enbridge from the Board's website of the relative gas prices in 2014 and '15.

And if you would scroll down to the Enbridge prices, please?  So this is directly taken from the OEB website, and it is obviously a public reference.

So scanning through '14 and '15, would you agree with me that the October 2015 price of about 13 cents is, in fact, significantly different from the 17 to 20 cents per cubic metre in the QRAMs of the -- following the winter of 2014?

MR. McPHERSON:  Sorry, can you repeat the question, please?

MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me that the 2015 price of about 13 cents is, in fact, significantly different from the 17 to 20 cents per cubic metre in the QRAMs following the winter of 2014?

MR. McPHERSON:  I do agree.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the prices in fact --


MR. McGILL:  Just one other point there.  I don't know that -- if many would recall that there was sort of a two-step process in the spring of 2014 around the, call it amortization of true-up, and what happened, as I recall, was that the April QRAM in 2014, we were amortizing the true-up over 12 months, and then we came back, I believe it was in the July 2014 QRAM, and the Board decided that because of the magnitude of the price change experienced that year that the true-up would be spread out over 24 months.

So just if you want to keep it clear, that's just the way these numbers have all --


MR. QUINN:  Uh-hmm.  Yes, sir, I do have a vivid recollection of the events of 2014 with respect to price, and your description does justice to the levellized and expands upon that concept of levellizing over the 24 months, so thank you for that clarification.

Having said that, though, the prices for those periods were actually 35 to 60 percent higher than the October 2015 price?  Would you agree with me that, subject to check, that that's kind of the range of prices seen after -- so starting in April of 2014?

MR. McGILL:  Well, it depends on which month you want to compare to which, but the April 2014 was -- 2014 was the highest unit cost for the period of time depicted in the table.

MR. QUINN:  Uh-hmm.  Okay.  Well, maybe we can turn up a reference that may help understand this more specifically.

If you could turn up FRPO 8, your response to FRPO 8 in the interrogatories.

Thank you.  Do you have that?  Okay.  In FRPO 8 we had asked for a comparison in terms of payback periods that reflected a -- what we believe is a more apples-to-apples comparison.

In Enbridge's pre-filed evidence the propane number was taken from, if you -- maybe I'll state as a question, Mr. McGill:  You confirmed, I think, in talking to Mr. Duncanson the other day that the number used for the annual bill for propane was taken from the survey of customers, and what they came up with is their 2014 bill?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, it was.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So to compare apples to apples and to respect that, I understand, that Enbridge used the October 2015 price for their annual bill; is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we did.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So would you agree with me that the comparison provided in this table using a propane price of 1,650 estimated from CPA evidence found at tab 9, Figure 1 would represent more of an apples-to-apples payback?

MR. McGILL:  No, I wouldn't.  I think -- I think the chart that was presented by Mr. Duncanson last week made it pretty clear that the reduction in propane prices in 2015 was the anomaly, and that if you looked over the longer period of time the differential was more in keeping with what we had depicted in our original Table 1 in our evidence.

MR. QUINN:  So you believe that --


MR. McGILL:  If you want to -- if you want to pick cherries, you know, pick propane for 2015.

MR. QUINN:  And that's -- the 1,650 is the 2015 propane price?

MR. McGILL:  That's the '15 number, but if you look at -- if you took the average over the last five or six years, it would be probably in excess of $2,000.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, it was your table from your evidence that I was using and updating, which used the October 2015 price.  Using that as a basis I was trying to present propane prices which at least are on this record in this proceeding for an apples-to-apples comparison.

MR. McGILL:  And your question was, did I believe that that was a more representative portrayal than what we had prepared -- provided in our pre-filed evidence, and I said no, because picking the 2015 number for propane is picking the lowest price it's been in probably the last six or seven years, so that wouldn't be representative either.

MR. QUINN:  If I can have a moment.  I'm surprised by your answer.  I'm just going to...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. McGill, the historic price of propane is on the record then in one of these other charts?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, it is.  It's in -- I believe it's in Parklands' evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I think there is a risk of just getting into argument, sir, so I think I'll leave it at that point, and thank you for accommodating and thank you to Enbridge for the provision of answers.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.

Dr. Higgin?


Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good morning, panel.  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe Foundation.

So I would like to start going into my cross-examination right at the beginning of your evidence, and so can we look at paragraph 1 of your pre-filed evidence, where you define -- can we pull that up, please -- what is a community expansion project.  You define it in that paragraph.

So I'm just waiting for it to come on the screen, but I'll proceed on the hope it's coming.  Here it is.  Paragraph 1.

Basically you have proposed a threshold, amongst other things, of 60 single-family homes as being part -- for a community expansion project; am I correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the first question is obvious:  Why 50?  Why not 20, why not 100?  Why 50?  Is that because you and Union had a discussion and thought 50 was a good number, or why 50?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I think the number 50 came out of discussions that we had had with Union in 2014 and 2015 as what we believed to be a reasonable number.

DR. HIGGIN:  So just to talk about the significance of that then, is homes that are less than 50 would not qualify to be included in the portfolio; correct?  Community, sorry?

MR. McGILL:  No, what we've also included in the portfolio is what we're calling I think short main extensions, and that would be situations where there could be fewer than 50, and I believe that there are one or two of the communities in the list of 39 where there are fewer than 50 potential customers today.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's what I just was going to ask you about, so you would confirm that in your list of 39 there are communities that are less at the moment than 50; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So what I'd like to understand and get on the record from you, because I can't find it in the evidence, is what are all of the other criteria that define your CEP, or community expansion portfolio?  So the first one would be what is the incorporated status of the municipality?  Is it a township, a village?  That's one thing.

Another example would be unserviced and not within the ability to infill from the existing distribution system.

And so what I'd like you to do, by way of undertaking, is to list all of the criteria.  They would include the investment portfolio, the rolling portfolio, and then at a project level, criteria such as distance to the gate station, such as the cost of the main to get from the existing system to the gate station.

What are those criteria by which you define that portfolio?

So, by undertaking could I ask for you to provide that for us?

MR. QUESNELLE:  If we could scroll to the bottom of the page here --


MR. McGILL:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  TO PROVIDE DETAILED CRITERIA OF THE COMMUNITY EXPANSION PORTFOLIO, AND THE SELECTION CRITIERIA THAT WOULD BE USED SHOULD THE BOARD APPROVE FEWER THAN 39 PROJECTS, OR TO EVALUATE A NEW MUNICIPALITY

DR. HIGGIN:  Just one thing with that.  Include in the in the undertaking, if you could, it would be helpful this criteria, this approach that says if the Board was to ask you to go with a subset of projects less than the 39, how would you would you proceed, using these criteria that you're going to provide us, to come up with that subset.  That would be part of the undertaking.

The other one would be if a new community came in through the door, how would you use those criteria to say they would or would not be included in the portfolio, okay.  I'm trying to draw boundaries around the portfolio.

MR. McGILL:  Okay, yes, and we can undertake to do that as part of the undertaking response.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  What I'd like to go to next is your evidence again.  I'd like to pick up at paragraph 20, please, of your evidence.  I was going to go to 7, but that's been covered.  So I'm now going to go to paragraph 20.

What I'd just like to confirm with you is that your position -- and I will put it to you, and you can agree or not -- that rather than changing the EBO 188 investment and rolling portfolios, you're proposing to proceed by exemptions.  Am I correct that is Enbridge's approach?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  Well, as I've said, the proposal is to treat these projects as a separate portfolio of projects and manage them to a specific PI, which would require some kind of exemption from EBO 188, I believe, and that we would also exclude the portfolio projects from the determination of the company's regular rolling project portfolio and investment portfolios.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thanks for that confirmation.  You've already put that on the record.

So, as we already discussed, unlike Union -- that's a key point -- you're proposing a separate CE portfolio, and that's called a community expansion portfolio or the CEP.

So the question I have, and maybe it can be done as part of the undertaking, how would projects drop out or drop in to the portfolio?  What would be the basis for that portfolio?

Is it going to be that 39, or would there be changes over time based on factors that may change the requirements?  How would the --


MR. McGILL:  Well, it's my view that the portfolio would have to be monitored for the full 40 years.  You know, projects with come in, projects would drop out over time, and we indicated in our evidence that the list of 39 communities was not an exhaustive list.

I think somewhere in the interrogatories, we were asked to define what exhaustive meant, and that means that there could be other communities that we haven't considered at this point in time that could qualify to be included in the portfolio.

DR. HIGGIN:  Or conversely, some of those 39 could drop out for some reason.  For example, too high a capital cost or other factors, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and as part of managing the portfolio to a specific PI level, we would have to go about business that way.

If there was some projects that were going to bring the PI, the portfolio below .5, then we would have to postpone or defer them.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, that was exactly -- you answered my next question, thank you.

That is it was a rolling portfolio and it would basically change with time.  And one of the factors that you would manage it by is the .5 that you proposed for the portfolio.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So now I'd like to come back and talk a bit more about stage 1 and stage 2 economic analysis.

So as a segue into this, could we look at paragraph 23 of your evidence?  You outline here in this evidence, what you're proposing for that type of analysis.  And just confirm for me and everybody, there is no proposed stage 2 analysis for the current EBO 188 projects or indeed, and that's the key thing, for the CE portfolio projects.

There is no approved analysis methodology?

MR. McGILL:  Not set out in EBO 188 as it stands today.

DR. HIGGIN:  Correct.  So in your view, what is the objective then, the purpose of a stage 2 analysis?  For example, I can give you a couple of examples and you can agree or not and put your own.  Is it to confirm the benefit to the connecting customers?  Or is it also, for example, to calculate the SES?  You know, what is the purpose of the stage 2 analysis?

MR. McGILL:  I think it is the former, which is to provide an estimate of what the benefit of the project to the customers that would be served by it.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So now Union has provided an illustrative stage 2 analysis at one of its exhibits or response to CPA, and we'll deal with that with them.

As you just mentioned with Mr. Quinn, you've also provided an illustrative stage 2 analysis at table 10 in your evidence.  That's at paragraph 97, if we could just Again pull that up.

Just first as a clarifying question for me, what is presented here in stage 1?  Because I'm confused and my age, that's easy, you know, to happen.

I believe you put the social costs of the stage 1 as opposed to the NPV of the investment portfolio, which uses the cost of capital, the utilities' cost of capital.

And what's the difference between those two, and how would that impact what we're looking at here?

MR. AHMAD:  The stage 1 is the same as the normal net present value analysis under EBO 188, except for the fact that the discount rate is different.  So we are using a social discount rate of 4 percent for discounting.

DR. HIGGIN:  Why are you picking that number, 4 percent, versus what we all are used to as a normal stage 1 analysis is the weighted average cost of capital for the utility.

MR. AHMAD:  So this is a -- I'm not picking it up by myself.  This is how it is described in EBO 135, 134.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's where it comes from, and so it's as per -- you are adopting the methodology then in EBO 134 to present this NPV number?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  And how much higher or lower directionally would it be, if you are using a social discount rate of 4 percent versus the weighted average cost of capital, what directionally?

MR. AHMAD:  If we use a bigger discount rate, then it will be a bigger negative number.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's what I would have thought as well.  So just to confirm, by using the higher discount rate, it would be a bigger negative number?

MR. AHMAD:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Now, can we come then and talk a bit about stage 2.  You've asked -- Mr. Quinn has asked you an undertaking, so I'll recognize that that's being put on the record.

So the question is coming to the stage 2 benefits and talking about the inputs --


MR. AHMAD:  Uh-hmm.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- that is in that analysis.  So first of all, what are the inputs?  Are they the same as shown in Table 1 -- that's paragraph 46 of your evidence -- so those inputs that you've put into that calculation, are they the same as those as regards, for example, the fuel savings and so on.

Are those the inputs that you used or, if not, can you tell us what they were and where we can find them, the inputs?

MR. AHMAD:  I think I have -- essentially I have used the similar inputs there, but my detailed response is actually on the record in one of the IR responses, so I will refer you to that.  So...

DR. HIGGIN:  If you could.  I couldn't find that information except as it's shown in that Table 1 for fuel costs.

I'm sorry it's taking -- maybe we could just have an undertaking to provide it to me rather than taking everybody's time.  That would be fine.  Provide the reference for the inputs.

MR. AHMAD:  All the inputs and the detailed calculations that I've provided in that --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, if you could, and that would be an undertaking --


MR. AHMAD:  Provide that information.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  TO PROVIDE THE INPUTS TO THE TABLE AGE PAGE 46 OF THE ENBRIDGE EVIDENCE

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So can we now turn back to S3.EGDI.FRPO.8.  I just had a problem when I looked at that response.  Perhaps you can help me.

Okay.  So just to repeat:  This is a version of Table 1, as asked by FRPO.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  We are not going to have the debate about propane prices again, but when I look at that, I couldn't understand why the weighted average wouldn't have been updated to show the change to the propane, and that doesn't seem to have happened.

Why wouldn't that have been updated?  I did the calculations, and I have some numbers, but why did you not do that, and could you now do that, to the weighted average?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, it appears that that's an oversight, and we can undertake to calculated the weighted average of --


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. McGILL:  -- the revised propane price.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That's J3.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.8:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATED WEIGHTED AVERAGE OF THE REVISED PROPANE PRICE.

DR. HIGGIN:  Finally on this, going back to Table 10 again -- I'm sorry to jump, but we need to go back to your analysis here in Table 10.

I think you can anticipate my question.  And that is:  Taking the stage 2 benefit, three-eighty-four-four-nine-five million and change, if you used the number in the revised Table 1 as per FRPO, what would you get in terms of a number?  Because whether or not -- I just want to do that simply because my proposition is that that number is highly sensitive to the differential in fuel prices.

So can you just show us that sensitivity by using the FRPO 8 numbers for that?

MR. AHMAD:  Actually, this number 384 that you are quoting here, so I have used the energy price forecast, so the forecast number.  So the Table 1, that shows is that is one snapshot in time, and in 2015, so we compared the prices, so I'm not sure if that forecast number, if we use, so that will be an apple-to-apple comparison.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, that's your caveat, but --


MR. AHMAD:  That is also based on the net present value, so these are discounted numbers.

DR. HIGGIN:  I understand exactly the calculation.

The point I want to make is the sensitivity of that number to, for example, a significant change in the cost of propane, and so that's the number that I would like to do, and to illustrate that sensitivity I'd like to use FRPO 8 just as a basis to show the sensitivity that would happen.

MR. McGILL:  What I think Mr. Ahmad is trying to convey is that that would only change the propane price in one year out of 40 in the stage 3 analysis.

And I think if you -- the interrogatory we're trying to find a minute or two ago was our response to OGA Interrogatory No.14, and that's where we go through the detail of the stage 3 calculation.  There is, I think, four pages of spreadsheet here.

DR. HIGGIN:  You said stage 3.  This is stage 2.

MR. McGILL:  Okay.

MR. AHMAD:  No, stage 2 is...

MR. McGILL:  And you did the same for both stage 3 and stage 2.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I think, Mr. Chair, I think the issue here is if we are going to use this information either in this proceeding or in future, we need to understand how the sensitivity of the numbers in stage 2, which is the benefit to connecting customers, is sensitive to the differential and to the forecast of fuel.

That's all I'm trying to establish here.  So I put it to you if it's useful to put that on the information, just to show that type of sensitivity.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think it would be.  If we could have...

MR. McGILL:  We can do that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking 3.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. 3.9: TO EXPLAIN HOW THE SENSITIVITY OF THE NUMBERS IN STAGE 2, WHICH IS THE BENEFIT TO CONNECTING CUSTOMERS, IS SENSITIVE TO THE DIFFERENTIAL AND TO THE FORECAST OF FUEL.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the other question before we leave stage 2 is the question about how to treat the analysis. Should the NPVs, for example, be added, as you seem to suggest and Union seems to suggest as well?  Or because of this question of the reliability, the forecasts that are under them, that there should be some sort of weighting applied to that when considering the overall NPV impacts of a project?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, as per procedure described in EBO 134, so this is how they should be added, so they are discounted at the same discount rate, so they should be simply added.

DR. HIGGIN:  However, I just postulated that that premise is what you've used.  There could be an argument, a strong argument, that because of the sensitivity, particularly of stage 2, to fuel prices that this should give less weight.  It shouldn't be one-for-one additive.  I postulated that.  Do you want to answer?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, it is possible, but we have to follow some rules, and the rules -- the rule I am following is EBO 134, is this is how it is described.

DR. HIGGIN:  But 134 doesn't apply to 188-type projects.  You are proposing that it applies to your CE portfolio; correct?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, I think that can follow up in argument -- I'm trying to speed you up, Dr. --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yeah --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  So what I'd like to now switch to is a little bit on the SES, and I'm still having a little trouble understanding how you calculated the SES, okay?  So perhaps we could look at Table 1 again, and also -- but look at it in the format that was provided in the Exhibit S3.EGDI.SEC.14.

The reason for using this table is it shows the matter of payback period.  That's why I've gone to this particular table as opposed to the original Table 1, because it does show the payback periods, and that's why I'm asking you to look at this.

So having looked at this, now with the exception, as we've discussed it, the weighted average numbers here are going to have to change if the propane was changed.

But just using these numbers, am I correct that the difference between the 1,661, and the $113,551, that is the basis for the 551 anticipated savings to the new customer?

MR. McGILL:  Are you referring to the propane line item here?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, no, just the average.

MR. McGILL:  On the average?

DR. HIGGIN:  As shown in this.  This is using your original numbers of course for propane.  We haven't changed it.  I'm just trying to understand the basis.

That's where you get the 551 from the average, correct?

MR. McGILL:  I'm struggling here to find the 551, Sorry.

MR. AHMAD:  So the difference of column 4 and 5?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. AHMAD:  So is it 551?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. AHMAD:  So that is the SES amount per customer.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, 552 is the SES, the annual SES.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So as we discussed, this is very -- if you were going to deal with payback, which is the right-hand column, 3.4 years on average, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  That will now change, because if you change any of the other inputs, just as what we said propane -- so what I'm trying to understand is this is highly dependent on the differentials between the different energy sources.  The 551 is very dependent; it is a derivative of those, is that correct?

MR. AHMAD:  That is correct.

MR. McGILL:  In a sense, yes, because when we landed on 23 cent per cubic metre surcharge amount, we were -- which equates to, on average for a residential customer, $552, we were trying to end up in a position where we would still be providing those customers with a reasonable payback period on the cost of their conversion.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, because you just answered my next question is:  Why 25 cents per cubic metre as being a reasonable number as opposed to any other.

MR. McGILL:  23 cents per metre.

DR. HIGGIN:  23 cents, sorry.  So why did you choose that?  Was it based on payback?  You just said so.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, yes, I thought I'd answered the Question, but --


DR. HIGGIN:  No, sorry.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, because we were trying to end up in a position where the customers in these new communities would end up with a reasonable payback period for the conversion of their equipment.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Now Union has in its evidence -- I take it, subject to check -- has said he thinks a four-year payback on the cost is reasonable.

Enbridge now is suggesting if you use your data, 3.4 years as being reasonable, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Well, I believe -- yeah, we are ending up at three years with the SES based on these figures.

And the discussion with Union was to keep it under four years, so I think we're consistent with that.

DR. HIGGIN:  But you have a different number to that than Union is proposing, right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, because ours is based on the information from the survey data that we received with respect to some of the communities we've had under consideration, and Union got their figures from wherever Union got them from.

DR. HIGGIN:  So we -- so I put it to you that we have concerns about a general SES surcharge rate, because you would tend to think that for each project, there should be a direct link between the cost to serve, the benefit of the cost to the project to the connecting customers, and therefore the specific rate surcharge that might be appropriate rather than a general 23 cents per cubic metre.

So, if you don't do -- if you use the same number for all projects, all customers, won't we get internal cross-subsidy within those customers from one project to another, and there will be intergenerational equity issues as well if we use a single number?

MR. McGILL:  If we use a single number?  Potentially yes, but I don't see that as being any different than the situation that we're in today with respect to EBO 188.

We have projects that go ahead with PI of 18.  They are blended into other portfolios with other projects that have a PIs in excess of 1, and as long as that portfolio averages more than 1, the projects go forward and we've met our obligation under EBO 188.

So there is that degree of subsidy inherent within each tranche of projects year by year. This isn't any different.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, I have your argument and we'll leave that for argument.  


The last area I want to go to issue 10, and that's how will the Ontario government's proposed cap and trade program impact on the alternative framework that the Board may establish to facilitate the provision of natural gas services in communities that do not have access.

So, can you pull up, as a segue into that, exhibit K1.8?  This is the Globe and Mail article, a recent one from the Minister of the Environment.

So my focus is on the new climates change action plan which hasn't been announce the yet, but there was a precursor of it in this article.

So I have some context type questions or statements, which you can agree or not with, and then I'd like to ask you three questions.

So, the context is that EGD's customers will pay an additional amount based on their cost consumption for residential consumption, that would be somewhere around -- we've heard numbers around $65 a year.

So, do you agree that that statement is correct, or would you like to modify that?

MR. McGILL:  No, I think that statement is reasonably correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the next statement is regarding the fact that natural gas is the lowest carbon, emphasis, fuel and, as has been discussed with a number of parties, reduces greenhouse gases relative to other fossil fuels.

For example, there was an exchange between CPA and Ms. DeMarco on day two that propane was 180 percent higher in producing greenhouse gases.

But the point anyway is that it will reduce greenhouse gases relative to the other fuels that are now currently being used in those communities.  Am I correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So my three questions are has EGD considered the potential implications of the CCAP -- that's the climate change action plan still to be announced -- and the opportunity for the customers and its customers to benefit for gas DSM, fuel substitution and renewable natural gas initiatives.  Has EGD considered those opportunities?

MR. McPHERSON:  I'd say our answer is yes.  We have been working on a program.  We have been discussing this with the government with regard to their final action plan which we don't know.  We've been evaluating those opportunities.  The DSM program has now been approved for the next framework, and we have been working on an evaluation based on the Alberta Innovates report on he potential for renewable natural gas in our system, which we believe has the potential to deliver up to 18 percent of our system supply in the future.

Also, with the displacement of transportation-based fuels, we believe there is enormous potential for GHG reductions by displacing diesel oil in return to base and in heavy trucking fleets in Ontario, and also in marine and rail.

So there is great opportunity, by extending these systems to these areas, that we can bring these benefits that they don't have, or even have access to these opportunities.  That is part of that plan, we believe, in the future.

DR. HIGGIN:  So my last question in response to that is: Do you have a view as to whether given the reduction in greenhouse gases that would occur whether EGD may propose that there should be some support provided from the climate-change program for fuel substitution in these communities?

Has EGD considered that and, if so, have you discussed that with the Minister of the Environment?

MR. McPHERSON:  So you are referring to --


DR. HIGGIN:  The CEP.

MR. McPHERSON:  It would be fair to say that we believe that some of these monies that would be collected from cap and trade are to be reinvested in some of the technologies I've mentioned, RNG, helping transportation companies to reinvest, refuelling infrastructure throughout Ontario.

With respect to communities themselves as a fuel subsidy, I don't believe that is in our discussion.  However, I think this whole process and this idea of our proposal represents that support that would help those communities in reducing their greenhouse gas emissions.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that answer.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.

Could we move on to Mr. Buonaguro.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good -- is it still the morning?  No, good afternoon, panel.  Michael Buonaguro for Consumers Council of Canada.

I would like to start with a follow-up of an issue that came up, I think it was on Thursday.  BOMA IR number 26 was discussed briefly, and it was discussed at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 33.  BOMA 26 was talking about a particular project, the Alfred and Plantagenet project.  Do you recall that from last week?

MR. McGILL:  Just give us a moment.  So I'm looking at BOMA 26 year here.  It deals with the Alfred and Plantagenet project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And the discussion was around the customer forecast, and I think the paraphrase -- the issue that was raised was the difference between the original forecast, I guess you would call it the 2,376 customers, and the actual number of customers of 1,382 customers, and I think some of the -- the questions were getting around what was the penetration rate, and I think the answer was that that isn't a penetration rate issue, that is a forecasting issue; do you recall that?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the forecast was 2,376 customers.  The actual was 1,382.  That doesn't necessarily tell us what you thought the penetration rate was going to go -- was going to be when you made the forecast, right?

MR. AHMAD:  Not from these numbers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you tell us what the forecast penetration rate was?  What was the total potential customers out of which 2,376 were forecast?  That will be, I think -- assume by undertaking.

MR. McGILL:  At a high level I can break it down or we can undertake to go and -- go through the leave to construct for that project, but as I recall, there were about 1,800 existing homes, businesses, in this community, and then there was, I guess, around a further roughly 570 that were projected as new construction or growth in that community at the time the leave to construct application was before the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that sounds like the assumed penetration rate was 100 percent?

MR. McGILL:  Well, we probably would have been assuming a high level of penetration in the new construction.  And probably something similar to what we are using today with respect to the existing, but again, we can go back to the actual leave to construct documents and I can take an undertaking to do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, I would appreciate that.

MR. VIRANEY:  That will be Undertaking 3.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. 3.10:  WITH REFERENCE TO BOMA IR 26, TO PROVIDE THE FORECAST PENETRATION RATE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'll read a passage from the transcript, because I want to follow up on it.  This is from Volume 1, at page 33, and this Mr. Ahmad between lines 9 and 14 where he said:
"We actually did a lot of community expansion in the past, like between 1995 to 2000 time frame, so if we look at that old record, so the conversion rate or the forecast area was not as bad as it looks for Alfred and Plantagenet, so that was the only project during the last ten years."

So as you can imagine, that piqued my interest that in the somewhat recent past that there seemed to be a lot of community expansion projects that I don't think there is a record of in this proceeding, so perhaps you could talk more about how many community expansion projects we are talking about, for example, between 1995 and 2000?

MR. AHMAD:  I have a list here about four, five projects or maybe more than that, I'm not sure.  Subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I think this is going to end up in an undertaking, but perhaps we can discuss it first.

So when you're talking about -- so you are saying there is around for four or five community expansion projects in that time frame?  Is that what I just heard?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And you used the words "community expansion projects" when referring to them.  What did you mean?  Is it the -- I'm assuming it's not exactly the same as the definitions that are being proposed here, so what made them community expansion projects back in 1995?

MR. AHMAD:  Community expansion is typically if there are existing homes which are currently unserved, so we call them community expansion, where a subdivision is a brand-new development.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, so in that time period, four or five projects where you were going out to an existing community with existing houses and converting them to natural gas?

MR. AHMAD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you provide a summary of those projects in that time frame?  And particularly what I'm looking at is the size of the communities, what the forecast -- what the potential number of customers were, what the forecast number of customers were, leading into what I presume is a leave to construct, and what the actuals were, to try and get a sense of, A, how often people convert; and B, what your record was.  I'm also interested in the relative size of the project, so in terms of capital costs.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, for example, I have Creemore here, Creemore community.  The forecast customers were 558 and we end up attaching 567.  So the forecast accuracy was 102 percent.

And the other one I have is Tiny Township, so the forecast customers were 2,054, and we actually connected 1,739 customers.  So the accuracy was around 85 percent.

And there is another one, Rockland, so the forecast customers in that community were 2,239, and the actual additions were 1,639.  And forecast accuracy was 73 percent.


These projects were tracked over five years, not even ten years, so --


MR. BUONAGURO:  So those were the attachments within the five years?

MR. AHMAD:  The first five years after the in-service date of those projects.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now -- so those are three.  Are there more?  You said four or five.   So it seems like you're reading off something, that you've done a summary of activity in that area, so...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. AHMAD:  So I can undertake to provide that information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you've given -- yeah, you've given us the forecast versus the actual, but did that include the potential?  So it sounds like you went into leave to construct saying we were going to connect X and we ended up connecting Y, and that's -- it seems to me you're giving me the percentage difference between those two.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But there is another number, Z, which is how many customers are in that area, which is what I think you're using in this proceeding when you talk about potential versus forecast.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah.  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So can you -- do you have how many potential customers there were?

MR. AHMAD:  I'm not sure if I have that information, but I will try to find if --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And are we just talking about the three projects?

MR. AHMAD:  There could be more, but I was able to find just these projects --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you've mentioned four to five projects in that time frame, so if you could do those three and any others you can find for that time frame and provide the forecast, the actual, but on top of that the potential, to see, if you have a community of a thousand, how many people would you forecast and how many were actual, for example?  There would be three numbers, not just two, for each one, okay?

MR. AHMAD:  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm also looking for the size of the project, so are these million-dollar projects, are these $10 million projects, are these $50 million projects?  I have no idea.

MR. AHMAD:  No, I have those numbers.

MR. MILLAR:  So the undertaking is J3.11, if the panel is clear on what's being requested.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.11:  WITH REFERENCE TO BOMA 26, TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL, THE FORECAST AND THE POTENTIAL NUMBERS OF CUSTOMERS FOR THE FOURT TO FIVE PROJECTS, AND THE SIZE IN DOLLARS OF THE PROJECTS; TO ADVISE THE CURRENT STATE OF THE PROJECTS AND THE FORECAST OVER THE 20-YEAR LIFE OF THE ASSETS AND THE PAST 25 YEARS.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, I guess within that that response that came was the observation that those connections between the projected and actual were over five years.

Would you be interested in what's the state today, what's happened up to current, because that would, I think, provide us with the -- if you are talking about the timeframe that we're talking about, we'd be interested in seeing what goes beyond the next generation of furnace change of its 20-year life of the assets where people would be making those decisions, and what has occurred from '95 to today would be indicative of more of a higher population of people that are going through that decision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.

MR. McGILL:  We can try and do that.  It is not as easy as it sounds.  I know we've tried to do it for a couple of past projects, but we'll do our best to go back and do that for you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  I appreciate that, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Still on that topic, and this is before certainly this proceeding, so presumably there were restrictions on the types of investments you can make.  So I'm presuming that at some point, those projects were put forward to the Board for a leave to construct on the basis of something around a 1.0 profitability index?

MR. McGILL:  If they were big enough to require leave to construct, there are three criteria that define leave to construct.  One of them is capital cost over 2 million or more, I believe.

There is a transmission line pressure requirement that I can't remember off the top of my head, and a pipe size diameter requirement.  So those are three threshold items that determine whether a project is required to go forward for a leave to construct.

So in cases where we do have leave to constructs on record, a lot of the historic information around the original potential market and whatnot will be embodied in those applications for smaller projects.  That information will be a lot more difficult to try and obtain.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So what I'm trying to get at is -- I'm presuming that whether or not there is a leave to construct required, there would have been an economic analysis done on these projects before you went forward, right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we do economic calculations on all customer attachments and customer attachment projects.

To the extent that we have the records, we will endeavour to find them.  But it's not an easy task to go back over 10 or 20 years of records and try and find all that information.

Anything back beyond ten years, I would expect that it probably no longer exists.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Forgive me, I have a hard time thinking of the 1990s as being that long ago, but I guess it is.

I mean, are these cases where there were material shortfalls in what would normally be a PI of 1.0, and you needed to do a capital contributions and where do those distributions come from, for example?

MR. McGILL:  Well, up until 1998 when EBO 188 came into effect, we were operating up under a different set of guidelines.  I think that was that the project had to give a positive pay back within five years, if I recall correctly.  That all changed with EBO 188 in 1998.

So anything prior to that would have been -- the feasibility would have been established under a different set of rules.  There may or may not have been capital contributions associated with those projects.

Again, you know, we will do our best to go back and look to see what information is available.  I'm just not certain that there will be much of it available at this point in time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'll leave it at that then, thank you.  So that will be part of the existing undertaking, to try and give an idea what the project economics were?

MR. McGILL:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  With that, I'd like to pull up an exhibit that I produced with the London Economics Group on Friday, K2.1.  It's sort of a ground -- so at least you have that available.

But I'm going to actually start with table 1 of your evidence to explain what I did here, and have you agree with whether I've done it properly.  So if we could maybe pull up table 1 of the evidence on the screen?

I'll tell you what I was trying to do with the table. You may have heard this on Friday, but I didn't put it to you.

My understanding is that this table shows -- is trying to show the difference for a customer that's converting from some other heating source or energy source to natural gas, and to show the benefits of that, and then show the benefits of that including having to pay the SES charge under your proposal, generally speaking.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you have at the bottom a weighted average, so this is essentially -- I think it's supposed to be used as a tool to say this could apply to your average customer across your territory, right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I think one of the key points in this, or the key areas is that the differential is calculated from a natural gas bill, an annual bill of $949, right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's based on average consumption of about 2,400 cubic metres per year?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's based on Enbridge's prevailing rates, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, as they were in the fall of 2015.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And when I look at that, what I think in my mind is missing in terms of doing this kind of comparison is the cost of bringing that natural gas to the customer.

And I think you get part of the way by charging the SES, right.  So they are not only pay paying the 949, but they have to charge the SES under your proposal as their contribution towards the actual cost of bringing natural gas to them, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But in all cases with respect to the 39 projects that you're talking about, the SES doesn't get them to 1.0. In fact, it doesn't get them to 8.0 in terms of the profitability index?

MR. McGILL:  It doesn't get them to 0.8.

MR. BUONAGURO:  0.8, sorry.  I guess 1 would be pretty good, or eight would be good.

So I was trying to see if I could do a quick proxy to see what the cost would be per customer if they were required to do that.  And I discovered that Energy Probe had asked the question: What if each of the individual communities had to provide an SES charge -- or had to pay the SES charge over 40 years, it would actually bring the profitability index for their particular project up to .8.

And you provided that answer in EP number 0, which I noted on my exhibit, and so that is why you get an individualized project by project calculation essentially the same as yours, where we used the same assumed penetration rates, the same natural gas savings relative to having to pay no SES, the same estimated conversion costs, the only difference being that the SEA charge is not based on .23 cents, it is based on the individual SES to bring that project up to .8.  Are you following me?

MR. McGILL:  Column 1 on your table?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  So I used this as a proxy of if each project had to meet a profitability index requirement of .8, which is the status quo for it to be considered under EBO 188, this is what it would cost them on an annual basis, okay.  Is that fair?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the reason I was doing this is to try and get an idea, out of the portfolio of 39 projects that you were putting forward, how many of them from a customer perspective in terms of the cost to provide natural gas to their customer, how many of them would actually made sense.

You can see that in column 5, annual savings under SES charge, a lot of them are in the red, negative, which means that if these customers had to pay an SES charge that made the project almost profitable, a .8 profitability index, they would actually be paying more for natural gas than they would for the alternative fuel.  Is that a fair conclusion?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So now your proposal -- I'm going to use the words “gets around this” by dealing with it an on a portfolio basis, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we were proposing to include all of these projects of this type in a single portfolio.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So, for example, and I use this example with London Economics -- if we go to the fifth line, the Mono Township project, even though the cost to serve that customer natural gas exceeds the cost of the average other fuel cost by something in the order of close to -- approaching $4,000 a year, you would still do this project under your portfolio; right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And if we get a little more granular, this is -- I think this is largely because of the first project or the first two projects in the portfolio, isn't it?  You can do that under your proposal because of the strength of the first two projects relative to the others?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, the projects with the higher PI help the projects with the lower PIs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So if you look at the first project, Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon -- there was a lot of examination on this last week -- my understanding is that this is by far the most advanced project on the list; is that fair?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, in terms of our understanding of the costs and the market.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, forgive me if you answered this last week.  When we talk about the advanced stage of this particular project, one of the differentials between the project economics that you've generally set out and what could happen in the future, as I understand it, is there is a 30 percent contingency included in the cost estimates?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, for Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, are you still at the point where that 30 percent contingency is included in the calculation?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, we still have the 30 percent contingency included in our cost estimates for Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So there is at least the possibility that the capital costs could come in up to 30 percent lower.


MR. McGILL:  Yes, for all 39 of these.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I'm talking -- I was curious about Fenelon Falls in particular since I knew it was in more advanced stages.  It's still there.  The contingency is still there.


MR. McGILL:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if we can flip over to Table 10 from your evidence for a second.  My understanding is that this table includes all the projects; correct?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, the 39 projects identified in the portfolio.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now -- and then Mr. Higgin took -- or Dr. Higgin took you to a very -- somewhat detailed analysis of these numbers, but what I'm curious about is this:  If you were to redo this analysis just for the first two projects of the 39, based on what I saw in the table that I created, my understanding is that the combined benefits for those two projects would be in the order of the $234 million that you're claiming here.  And that if you did the analysis for the rest of the projects you would get a small number, probably a negative number.


Can you agree with that, or do you want to do the calculation?


MR. AHMAD:  We have to do the calculations.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then the undertaking is to redo your Table 10 analysis, I'll call it, separating it out into two calculations, one just for the first two projects on the list, which are the Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon project, and the Scugog Island project, which is also looking at the annual savings after an individualized SES charge would be $725.  And then do it -- separate that out and do another calculation for the rest of the projects.  Okay?


MR. MILLAR:  It is J3.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.12:  TO REDO THE TABLE 10 ANALYSIS, SEPARATING IT OUT INTO TWO CALCULATIONS, ONE JUST FOR THE FIRST TWO PROJECTS ON THE LIST, WHICH ARE THE FENELON FALLS AND BOBCAYGEON PROJECT AND THE SCUGOG ISLAND PROJECT, WHICH IS ALSO LOOKING AT THE ANNUAL SAVINGS AFTER AN INDIVIDUALIZED SES CHARGE WOULD BE $725.  AND THEN SEPARATE THAT OUT AND DO ANOTHER CALCULATION FOR THE REST OF THE PROJECTS.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Now, you spoke about -- I was going to ask you the question about the community definition and the 50-person or 50-customer threshold, but then you answered that, I think it was with Dr. Higgin, saying that there would be projects in your list of 39 that would fall out, and I think there are two that don't meet that 50-town -- 50-customer threshold?


MR. McGILL:  I believe there are two.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yeah.  And in fact, I think one of them is the one I talked about, the Fifth Line Mono Township one; right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But they are still in the portfolio, right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And they are in the portfolio under the -- under your proposal under the requirement that they would actually pay an SES charge that would bring them all the way up to 1.0, profitability index?


MR. McGILL:  That's not our proposal.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, maybe we can take a look at your -- I misinterpreted a part of your evidence then, so I probably should take a look at that.


If we look at the part that describes the small main extension proposal.  I'm just trying to find it here.  Sorry.  So at paragraph 63 of your evidence, page 22, it says:
"In the case of a small main extension projects (sic) the SES would be applied until the project achieved a PI of 1.0."

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I think we clarified this in an interrogatory response that we would be maintaining the SES until the portfolio reached a PI of 1.0.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, that doesn't make sense to me.  The portfolio includes all the projects; right?


MR. McGILL:  That's right.  So what I was trying to clarify -- and we did clarify -- I can't remember the interrogatory response -- but we would continue to apply the SES until the portfolio -- for the 40 years or until the portfolio reaches a PI of 1.0, whichever comes first.  And that would include the smaller projects, as well as the projects with more than 50 potential customers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  How would that be possible?  It's confusing to me, because you're saying that there is -- you would -- how is that different than the regular project that would go into the community expansion portfolio?


MR. McGILL:  It wouldn't be.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So there is no distinction between a small main extension project and a community project?


MR. McGILL:  Not from the standpoint of the application of the SES and their inclusion in the portfolio.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So what are the differences?


MR. McGILL:  That there are less than 50 customers is the main distinction.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I'm just trying -- I'm struggling to understand why that's important if there is no practical effect.


MR. McGILL:  In hindsight, it probably isn't that important.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Okay.  So then we are back to all 39 projects are in on the same economic basis.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And just quickly, you talked about originally starting the work on this project with Union Gas?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess specifically you were looking at providing sort of a uniform framework.


MR. McGILL:  Yes, we were working on what we thought would end up as a common framework that both companies would bring forward to the Board.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And as I understood it, the path that Union was going down -- and as we've seen now in their filing -- is a framework that doesn't capture many, if any, of your projects; is that right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, once we had the opportunity to go into the detail or more detailed assessment of the communities that we'd been looking at, we determined that the application of that proposal or the one that Union has brought forward in this proceeding wouldn't enable us to extend the service to very many of the communities on our list, and because of that we determined that we needed to make some changes from that original proposal.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It sounds like the process, certainly from your perspective, was looking first at the communities that were being excluded by EBO 188, presumably, and seeing if there was a framework that you could put together that would capture most, if not all, of them?


MR. McGILL:  Umm... well, yes, we were trying to come up with a, again, a balanced proposal that would put us in a position where we could extend service to these communities.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, lastly, am I correct that you don't have to do any of these projects?

MR. McGILL:  I don't think we necessarily would have to do them.  My understanding of the Public Utilities Act is that we have to provide service and, I guess paraphrasing, to any property that is adjacent to our lines, I guess in this case which is our pipeline system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I actually looked at that, too, the other day to see how specific it was.  And that wouldn't capture any of these projects.  None of these projects are situated in the proximity to of your existing lines where you were actually under statute obligated to connect them.

MR. McGILL:  Technically, it is probably a legal question.  But the way I understand is that our obligation to serve would not capture these communities as it's defined in the Public Utilities Act.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So there is no -- we talked about policy directives of the government and the Board's invitation to applicants and so on, in terms of this -- what turned into this proceeding.

But specifically, even if there is a framework came out of this, Enbridge still has to decide on a particular project whether it's going to apply for the leave that's required, or if it's going to proceed on a project, correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and there are a number of factors that would come into play in that decision.  But the primary ones would be, you know, the criteria that comes out of this process.  That would give us the information we need to screen projects and prioritize them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's interesting that you say that, because my thought would have been -- and I am going to put it to you -- is that you're still in the driver's seat with respect to what you do when it comes to this type of spending, you still are required to be prudent.  Isn't that true?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we asked the question in interrogatories, at CCC interrogatory number 12, and it was for the big picture question which was:  On what basis does EGD believe it is prudent to spend $410 million to connect natural gas service to potentially 16,000 customers, and at what point would EGD consider a subsidy too large to proceed.

And the answer, which is on the record obviously, but to paraphrase, it never, in our view, answers the question what's prudent about the proposal.

It talks about that there is a proposal and that the Board is going to decide whether you can go ahead or not. But it doesn't really speak to the idea of why is this prudent.

And I ask again, if I may, because in having gone through some of the projects and looking at what the cost is to serve some of these customers relative to the benefits they're going to realise, it doesn't seem to me to be a lot of the projects.  It doesn't seem to me that there is prudence involved, so I'm asking again --

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I think, with respect, the question is answered.

The question was about the prudence of the projects included in Enbridge's proposal and the last sentence of the response indicates that in the company's view, it will be ultimately up to the Board to determine to what extent subsidy amounts beyond that currently allowed are appropriate.

So the prudence will be an outcome of the framework that the Board establishes in this case.

I don't know how the witnesses can go beyond that at this point.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Buonaguro, just a question to you.  Isn't that what we're doing here?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Absolutely.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't mean that to be trite.  I just the -- to the extent that the Board, even in a leave to construct for spends -- and what we'd be doing here is establishing a framework, and that would be the lens at which we would look at things going forward and that, to the extent we're establishing a framework, would be to provide the lens for further approvals.

And then once the approval is given, isn't it the spend that occurs after that that gets tested as to whether or not it is prudent.

It is beyond the point of whether or not it was a good idea in the first place, I guess is what I'm getting at, so I'm --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm actually at the part of whether it is a good idea.  So I'm looking at the framework, and we can discuss it a little bit, and maybe you can either answer or refuse.  And again, I can bring it down to a specific project.

Enbridge has provided a proposal.  It is a framework, it is a framework that let's in certain projects and may ultimately exclude some projects.

And when I cross-examined London Economics, they agreed when looking at this list of projects that -- not specific to any project, but they said it isn't the case that every project should necessarily go forward.

So I'm looking at the types of projects that would go forward under your framework, and all I can look at is the 39 projects that you, at a high-level, set out.

And looking at some of these projects, and looking at the cost to serve the customer natural gas relative to what the savings would be for that customer, it seems to me that many -- in fact, more than half the projects -- result in costs that are much more than what they're paying now for energy, right?


So I'm trying to ask you what is prudent about that.  How can that be prudent? If we take the specific example, if we take the fifth line Mono Township example, and if we look at the table of costs associated with that particular -- sorry, the total capital costs for that project, I think it would be table 5, the fifth line, Mono Township capital costs are just under $1.8 million.

And then the total number of customers is 24, which comes to approximately a $75,000 investment per customer.

And this is a project that's in your portfolio that your framework would proceed with.  I'm asking the question how is that prudent.


MR. McGILL:  Well, I think I've said this a number of times here already, and we've said it in our evidence a number of times.

The portfolio of 39 projects we've presented here has been presented to illustrate how our proposal would work, and if we went ahead with these projects based on the best information we have today in terms of number of customers and the capital costs, this is what we would  anticipate the impact being with respect to those customers we would add through these projects and our existing customer base.

That's the framework.

As we -- assuming the Board approves what we've proposed, then we would bring projects forward one by one, and they would be filtered through that framework.

Some of them would pass the test.  Some of them presumably wouldn't and we would -- as we've said, we would be managing that portfolio to keep the PI at a minimum of .5 or above.

So it's easy to go in here and pick one of the least favourable projects and say -- and try to make determinations about it.  But that wasn't really the intent of this list of 39 projects.  We're not asking for leave to construct here.  We know the information we have isn't refined to the point where we would be in a position to do that.

What we're asking the Board to do is consider our proposal as a framework that we would operate from going forward.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, can I perhaps, for my own clarification?

Mr. McGill, you mentioned that here's the framework.
If the Board were to accept in its entirety the proposal as put forward, you said then that would be a framework.  Then would you would go through these and some would get kicked out.

If no other communities came in and this was going to be established for the rolling portfolio, what would the criteria for kicking any of them out subsequent to that be?

MR. McGILL:  Okay.  So if we stick with this Fifth Line Mono Township as an example, like right now we're anticipating capital costs of 1.8 million and 24 potential customers.

Now, if we step up to that project and we go through and we do detailed fieldwork, and we find that, well, there is a 500 house subdivision on the books to go in there sometime in the next five years, well, that's going to change the numbers with respect to that project.

The capital cost will be higher, the number of customers will be higher, the revenue will be higher, and its economics will be entirely different.

So, when --

MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be a scenario where the economics would improve.  What if the economics were to get -- or stayed the same.  If they stayed the same, there wouldn't be a criteria to kick it out, would there?

MR. McGILL:  The criteria would be could we do that project and still maintain a PI of 5 for --

MR. QUESNELLE:  So that's the criteria, okay.

I guess, Mr. Buonaguro, I think I'm just trying to see what's argument and what's more probing here.  An argument   could be made that perhaps there is something that would establish a framework that would take certain projects out, irrespective of what their contribution would be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think your follow-up questions make the point, and if I can confirm, there is nothing in your proposal that looks at an individual project economically and says yes or no, unlike EBO 188 which has not only the rolling portfolio rolling portfolio requirement, it also has a .8 portfolio requirement -- or project requirement, something like that --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  For clarity, Mr. Chair, just in case this is not fully understood.  There was no intention here that the Board would be requested to approve 39 projects.  The intention was to present something that would assist the Board in creating a framework.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

MR. CASS:  That's the intention.

MR. QUESNELLE:  But -- and to my question, though, Mr. Cass, was, as presented, and I Mr. Buonaguro has just articulated it, there isn't a mechanism in here that's establishes on any one project basis there is a criteria.  It is all rolling average.  That's the criteria.

MR. CASS:  [Nodding]

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'll leave it at that.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.
Procedural Matters:

A couple of things.  We'll break for our lunch, but as those who have been paying attention to the schedule, we are slipping behind.  We are not going to get everything in by the end of day Wednesday, so we've put aside Friday as well.

Mr. Viraney will be seeking assistance from people as to what's best to push off to Friday and have evidence presented on that day as well.

Another item, we also have -- NOACC will be providing -- I believe we have -- Mr. Melchiorre is here -- will be providing opportunity for cross-examination of their evidence over -- whatever we hook up -- we'll either teleconference or hopefully Skype, in a combination of the two, so best that we do that, I think, right after lunch.

The witnesses can certainly take their seats in the witness stand.  There is no need to -- because we will be going -- doing this over the teleconference, so no need to disrupt yourselves --


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, there -- just while we are on this topic --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  -- I was going to raise is, there is another potential scheduling issue, though I think it may have fallen away, given where we are.  South Bruce was hopeful of getting everything in today, because Mr. Vellone can speak to this, but their witnesses would prefer not to stay overnight if they don't have to.

Unfortunately the time estimates for South Bruce are something around four hours, and we still have Enbridge to -- I think we still have three more questioners for Enbridge, so even if we went straight to South Bruce from Enbridge, I'm not sure they would get in today.  I believe NOACC is available to go first thing tomorrow morning, but as I look at the time I'm not sure that makes sense.

Mr. Vellone, did you want to jump in?  I know that you were hopeful to get them finished today.  I'm just, I'm not sure it's going to happen.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  This is a logistical issue, primarily.  We're in the Panel's hands.  We do have six witnesses, three of whom are in from out of town.  They can extend their hotels if necessary.  We are conscious that you are balancing a lot of different schedules.  We were hopeful to get it done today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, we know that the ability of this witness panel is very flexible, Mr. Cass; is that correct?

[Laughter]

I've avoided making eye contact.

[Laughter]

The -- if we were to go to -- and I understand that the -- if NOACC -- just confirming that they would be available tomorrow morning, Mr. Melchiorre?

MR. MELCHIORRE:  Yes they would have to be first thing in the morning, 9:00, 9:30.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So if we were to hold off on completion of this panel until after we attempted to get South Bruce through, even starting at two o'clock, and as you suggested, Mr. Millar, we're --


MR. MILLAR:  It is not clear we would even finish.  If we started at 2:00 -- time estimates may have fallen off, but we have almost four hours now for them.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Maybe that's the best way to start.  Can we do an estimate?  I'll just read through the -- what people have provided for South Bruce and just do a confirmation of where we are.  And it's difficult.  I recognize South Bruce hasn't been up yet, so there has been no questioning whatsoever at this point.

And perhaps -- Ms. DeMarco, we've got you down -- I have 15 minutes written here, and that might be a reduction on what you've asked for, but that's one of the -- that's what we're looking at.

MS. DeMARCO:  I've got two clients for this panel, and I think for --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Uh-huh.  Yeah, 45 is the total of them, Anwaatin and Greenfield?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, I'm ten to 20 for Anwaatin and about 30 for GFSA --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Brett for BOMA?

MR. BRETT:  I have no questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Buonaguro?  15?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I have us down for 15 -- I can give up on the time.  I know that there are people with more comprehensive crosses for this, so I'm at the front of the order because I'm alphabetical, but if I go to the end of the order I can reduce that to five or maybe none.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I think I'm at the beginning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You are fairly close to the top, yes.  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  No, we have no questions for that panel, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  For South Bruce?  Okay.  Mr. Ardal?  Am I pronouncing that right?  I didn't quite catch it this morning.

MR. ARDAL:  Yeah, that's correct, Ardal.  I believe we may be down for ten minutes.  I could maybe do it shorter than that, though.  I only have a few questions for Mr. Todd, and maybe one question for --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. ARDAL:  -- the mayor, so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  And Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chairman,  I think we provided --


MR. MILLAR:  The mic.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah.  There we go.  We are good now.

MR. MONDROW:  We provided 30 minutes.  I may be able to do 20 based on the questions I have now.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, Mr. Shepherd was probably planning on being here this afternoon.  I haven't heard anything different.  Mr. Viraney, have you heard anything from Mr. Shepherd?

MR. MILLAR:  I know he was listening in, Mr. Chair, but I haven't heard anything else.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Vellone, you're -- no, sorry, we've got Mr. Rubinstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think I'm down for 45 minutes.  I will probably be about a half an hour.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Duncanson?

MR. DUNCANSON:  I don't expect we'll have any questions, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  And Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I thought that was going to be my chance to be Mr. Kaiser.  I think we're down for 15.  I can't see us being longer than that.  We may be a few minutes shorter.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  The municipal witnesses only and for 15 to 20 minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  There was some reduction there, that I think it's worth a try.

Apologies to this witness panel and Mr. Cass.  If we can -- I know this is becoming a bit of a nightmare, but I think that to the extent that we're moving things off to Friday, it would be very helpful to get this block of testimony in this afternoon.

Okay.  So, we'll excuse this witness panel until further notice.  We may go with NOACC first thing in the morning as well and then have them start right after that.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Chair, if I may just ask a question just for my own logistics.  Do you have an anticipated finishing time today?

MR. SMITH:  Five o'clock.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, my apologies, apparently I've misspoken.  We did have some time in for Southern Bruce, I apologize.  I will consult over the lunch break and see what --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  -- we can do to take --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Fair enough.

MR. CASS:  -- that to the lowest possible amount.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, also I just wanted to, if you don't mind, check about Friday.  Is Friday a certainty?  I can't be here Friday, so I would have to arrange for someone else to step in.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, we have no way of doing this by the end of Wednesday.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And Thursday was out.  We've checked that.  So my apologies, and apologies to everyone, actually, but it -- we were optimistic, overly optimistic, that there would be a reduction just on the amount of -- you know, that people would hear that was right in line with their intended cross, but we must say we haven't heard anything that we felt that wasn't necessary to date, otherwise we would have said so.  This is all very good information.

Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Chair, the Board has a proceeding that they have invited a fair number of the people here to between 9:00 and 11:00 on Friday morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  This is just coming to mind, Mr. Janigan.  I just -- yes, I am recalling that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would after that --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, Mr. Viraney, perhaps you could canvass parties and we'll see what we can do about putting things off to Friday, and we'll try to work around part of that.  That's -- we're doing this on the fly, and I'd forgotten about that element of things happening on Friday.

We'll look at other options, and perhaps there is a possibility of getting some time in on Thursday.  I'm not sure, but we'll revisit that in very short order.

Okay, with that let's resume at two o'clock, please.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:07 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:03 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just before we get started, as you may have been contacted by Mr. Viraney, we are working at rescheduling and getting things organized.

We are not going to be able to satisfy everybody, obviously we're doing our best.  So it looks like we'll move to Thursday as opposed to Friday, and we'll see what we can do with that.  And anything that surfaces as far as that causing more difficulties for individuals, we'll see what we can do to accommodate the one-offs, and go from there.

But that's where we sit right now anyway.  We'll move to a full Thursday, nothing on Friday.

Let's do our best to do something within that slight potential of being able to do something on Friday afternoon.  But I know that's not going to be ideal for anybody.

But anyway, that's what we'll work towards.  Okay.

Okay, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Panel, Chair.  I have the one procedural issue that I'd like to address just before we start swearing-in the panel, and it is actually in respect of the VECC compendium for cross-examination for this panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm conscious that a large number of the disputed interrogatories that the Board had to deal with through an expedited motions process a week or so ago, a lot of those were directed at my client, so I thought I would deal with this right up front.

My specific concern relates to pages 14 and 15 of the VECC compendium.  One of the disputed interrogatories was South Bruce Union number 1.

In that interrogatory, Union Gas asked:
"Please provide a copy of the franchise agreement of the each of the municipalities signed, and provide a summary of any differences between these franchise agreements and the Ontario Energy Board-approved model franchise agreement.”

That was refused, and the Board made a determination that the particulars of an individual negotiated agreement was not something that you did -- that you really wanted to delve into in this proceeding.

And now as I look through the compendium, I see excerpts from that other application including a summary of the differences between the franchise agreement.

So I wonder if perhaps my friend at VECC why he intend to do this line of questioning, and I'd just explain it to me.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I'm not even certain I need this material in my compendium to speak to what I'm looking to what as to what South Bruce is requesting in the terms of -- on a going forward basis.

I'm not particularly interested in the transaction that had taken place beforehand, only to the extent that it may indicate what they are requesting on a going forward basis in relation to their particular concerns.

So, you know, I don't -- I may not even need to refer to that, to that material on pages 14 and 15 --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- given the general ambit of my questions.

If I stray into an area that reflects the transaction itself, I'm sure my friend will object.  But otherwise, that will be my plan.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Janigan.  I think we can cross that bridge if and when we get to it.

MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if I could jump in on this issue as it may create some efficiencies in the process, Mr. Chair.

I struggled with my friend, Mr. Vellone, to walk the fence between what is validly a process issue within the scope of issue number 9 of the issues list, and pages 3 through 11 of the evidence of South Bruce and what is beyond the scope of this proceeding.

So I've drawn the line -- and I guess I'm looking for some guidance from the Board on this -- is anything that is expressly within the bids, or with the franchise agreements is for another proceeding.  But anything relating to the process evidence, particularly in pages 3 through 11 and numerous interrogatories, is fair game.

Have I got that right, Mr. Chair?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I think what our thinking was, and -- was that we were looking to things that would inform the Panel on creating a framework.

And I take that perhaps in your direct, Mr. Vellone, you'll go over the purpose of the evidence that was provided and what was the thinking behind his client in putting it together.

I understand it was to assist the Board in is exactly that, and it's an example of something that has occurred.

So I'm not sure exactly the delineation, if it's process versus details, or whatever.  But I think in a general sense, something has occurred.  We're not interested in going through the merits of what has occurred, but more to take what information we can from what has happened to form our creation of a framework.

It is difficult to describe an abstract, I realise.   But that's kind of our thinking.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If that helps going forward --


MS. DeMARCO:  I'll do my best to stay on the right side of that line.  I'm sure you will correct me, if I don't.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We'll know it when we see it, I suppose.  It's that kind of thing.  I'm afraid we're --you've identified an issue that we're going to have to wrestle with.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I guess I'll allow the witnesses to be affirmed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, I didn't anticipate – sorry, I just noticed that you had your mic on afterwards.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, you said everything that I was going to say.

MR. PASTRIK:  Maybe you can introduce the witnesses first, just so I know who's who.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  Maybe the witnesses can state ate and spell their name, and describe their position for the benefit of the transcript.

MR. BACON:  My name is Bruce Bacon, B-R-U-C-E B-A-C-O-N, and I'm here to talk to the proposal of rural rate assistance.

MR. TODD:  I am John Todd, J-O-H-N T-O-D-D, from Elenchus.

MR. MURPHY:  I am Lawrence Murphy, L-A-W-R-E-N-C-E  M-U-R-P-H-Y, and I'm an adviser to the municipalities.

MAYOR EADIE:  I am Mayor Anne Eadie, A-N-N-E E-A-D-I-E, from the municipality of Kincardine.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  I am Mitch Twolan, M-I-T-C-H T-W-O-L-A-N, and I the mayor of the Township of Huron Kinloss.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  I am Mayor Paul Eagleson, P-A-U-L E-A-G-L-E-S-O-N, and I am the mayor of the municipality of Arran-Ederslie in beautiful Bruce County.
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Bruce Bacon, Affirmed

John Todd, Affirmed
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Mitch Twolan, Affirmed

Paul Eagleson, Affirmed

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Vellone:

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, there are a few different reports here.  I'm going to start with the one and move through the three.

First starting with the document entitled "The Report prepared by the Municipality of Kincardine, the Municipality of Arran-Elderslie, the Township of Huron Kinross, and Henley International dated March 21st, 2016."

Mayors and Dr. Murphy, do you recognize this document?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Was it completed by you, or under your supervision?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  To your knowledge, is the report filed with the Board true and correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you adopt it is a your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  For the assistance of the Panel, could you each briefly describe your roles?

MAYOR EADIE:  I am Anne Eadie, the mayor of the Municipality of Kincardine.  I was elected in 2014.  Previously, I served as the deputy mayor in the Municipality of Kincardine, and also as a member of Huron Kinloss council before that.

I also currently sit on the board of directors for Bruce Telecom, which is a local business owned solely by the Municipality of Kincardine.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Paul Eagleson; I am the mayor of the Municipality of Arran-Elderslie.  I was elected in 2010 as mayor.  I am a licensed Ontario real estate salesperson and the owner of a funeral home and furniture store in the village of Tara.

I was -- prior to being a mayor, I was councillor for the Tara ward in Arran-Elderslie, and for several years I was the warden of the village of Tara and a member of the Tara village council prior to amalgamation.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  I'm the mayor of the council of Erin Kinloss.  I was elected mayor in 2004.  I was actually elected to council in 1999.

I am also the warden of the County of Bruce, currently serving my third term.

At this time, I am also the chair of the Great Lakes St. Lawrence Cities Initiative, which is 132 municipalities and cities around the Great Lakes that represent about 17 million on the United States and Canada.

I'm also a registered real estate broker, and sit on the board of directors for the Grey Bruce Health Unit, Westario Power, Bruce County Public Library, and the Saugeen, Grey Sauble, Northern Bruce Peninsula Source Water Protection Committee.

DR. MURPHY:  I'm an advisor to Southern Bruce municipalities in connection with this initiative.  I have been president of Henley International Inc. for over 20 years and have been actively involved consulting in the electricity industry in Ontario for most of that time.

Prior to starting Henley International I was director of strategic planning and government relations at Gulf Oil Canada Limited and, before that, the vice-president, economic forecasting and research at the Conference Board of Canada.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Dr. Murphy.  Perhaps, Mayor Eadie, starting with you, can you please briefly summarize and explain your evidence which is more fully detailed in your report.


MAYOR EADIE:  Certainly.  First of all, I would like to thank the Ontario Energy Board for having us here today.  And I'd also like to thank you for undertaking this generic proceeding on your own motion.

So the Municipalities of Kincardine, Huron-Kinloss, and Arran-Elderslie are among the largest communities in southern Ontario without access to natural gas.  This has put our municipalities at a disadvantage for both the retention of existing businesses and the attraction of new businesses.

We have had some existing businesses telling us that being able to operate using natural gas would greatly improve their profit margins and their ability to compete with businesses where natural gas is available.  Without access to natural gas in the near future, some businesses might have to leave our area.

In the past we have also had new businesses interested in our area but, upon learning that we do not have access to natural gas, chose to go to a neighbouring community with natural gas available.  Examples include restaurants, farm businesses, and some stores.

In both the 2010 and 2014 election campaigns while going door to door I had quite a few people ask me if natural gas was coming to our municipality.  Some had even figured out the average amount they could save per year on their heating costs.  Estimates varied from 1,000 to $2,000 per year.

Also, one worker at Bruce Power who deals with new hires told me that many young people liked Kincardine and area but would often make their decision to live elsewhere that had access to natural gas.  The main reason for a young family starting out with mortgages and car payments, the savings are substantial over the years.

Another young man who does not work in the nuclear industry and has a modest income told me he was so shocked his first winter in Kincardine when he opened up his bills and found out that his heating bill was around 500 to $600 per month for the older house he was renting, he did he not know whether he could afford to stay in Kincardine with his young family.

Also, our local food bank has more people come in the winter months and tells us that some people have to make the choice between heating their homes and having enough food. The United Way and Bruce County Social Services tell us the same thing.

The municipality of Kincardine itself would see estimated savings of around $100,000 per year with its own buildings.  Other services like Bruce County Social Housing note the substantial cost difference for their department in the Kincardine area compared to other areas in the county where natural gas is available for social housing.

Of course, savings could be realized in our schools and the hospital as well.  This benefits the province, who provides significant funding for social services, schools, and our hospital.

And last but not least, many of our farmers -- we are from an agricultural area -- would like access to natural gas, especially for their grain dryers.  Having to use propane is more expensive.  My farming family members and friends have expressed this advantage of natural gas for their business to me different times.  Helping our agriculture -- helping our agricultural community is important to us and to our economy overall.

So in conclusion, having access to natural gas can save our Southern Bruce communities up to $27 million per year, according to our business case study.  These substantial savings could greatly improve our ability to attract new businesses, while retaining existing businesses, as well as create savings for our residents and improve our tax base.  Thank you.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Thank you, Panel.

When Arran-Elderslie was invited to look at the possibility of bringing gas to our municipality we jumped at the opportunity.  We were asked to be part of this process, since we are on the route that Union had proposed to take gas to Kincardine.

Industry played a large role in the beginning, encouraging us.  One of the industries was Paisley Brick and Tile, who was extremely interested in getting access to natural gas to be more competitive.  Paisley Brick and Tile was a family-run business.  Years ago it produced mostly agricultural field tile, and in the last several years it has been manufacturing primarily a beautiful brick product.  About two years ago they stopped producing brick.  They're temporary (sic) closed at the moment and people have been laid off.  One of the contributing factors was the lack of natural gas.

My biggest wish is to be able to provide natural gas to Paisley and Chesley.  It is vitally important to retain small industries we have, whether it's a small store on one of our main streets or a Paisley Brick and Tile.

We are six years into the process now, and many people doubt whether this will ever happen.  With the availability of natural gas I hope Paisley Brick and Tile will come back and start up business again.

In Chesley it's the same issue.  There is one furniture manufacturer and another hardwood manufacturer, GRS Hardwood Flooring, whose savings would be huge if they switched their kilns, their drying kilns, to natural gas.

GRS was founded by a Chinese company in 2012.  They only have a handful of people working there at present, but they would ramp up production with natural gas.

The one that drove it home for me the most was one of our open houses a widow came up to me and asked me about a more affordable way to heat her home.  She is on a -- she is obviously on a single pension.  Her taxes go up, her hydro goes up, she is unable to take care of her snow removal and lawn maintenance on her own property.  She confessed that she may have to go to an apartment in the neighbouring city of Owen Sound.

Given these increasing costs, coupled with her high heating costs, for her this would mean leaving the community she grew up in and her church.  That's a shame.  Her story for me created more reasons to push so that everyone benefits.

There is a well-known developer who built senior rental housing units in Paisley.  That same developer built similar rental units in the village of Tara (ph), which has natural gas from Union because it was on the line.  It was just fortunate enough to be on the line when Union took natural gas over to Southampton and Port Elgin.

Because of the difference and the cost is so high he said he wouldn't build any more housing units in Paisley unless the village could get access to natural gas.

There is another little village just north of Tara.  There is some beautiful homes there listed for sale.  However, when potential buyers find out that there is no natural gas in that community they don't even want to bother going and taking a look at the house.

The average consumer really wants gas.  It is all about the gas.  It affects everybody.  That doesn't mean people can't go without it, but people should have the option.

It is a no-brainer for me.  During our last election the council was fully re-elected because we all campaigned and dedicated our time working on getting natural gas.

Based on the last study, 27 million would be saved in the region as a result of the introduction of natural gas.  It would save us an immense amount on operating municipal buildings, hospitals, schools, and social housing facilities, just to name a few.

In the first and second round of studies residents in Paisley and Chesley had a higher preference for conversion than did the residents of Kincardine, largely because they were lower-income individuals.  Lower-income people need this gas.  That is who I am fighting for, so that we can give them an alternative.  Thank you.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Thank you, Panel.  Everything that my colleagues have mentioned in their discussions here also applies to the township of Arran-Kinloss.  So I can attest to not having natural gas in our communities as well.

I just wanted to share a couple of examples of the situations that we as mayors here on a timely basis, especially in the winter time when people are struggling. One example is a single mother putting her children to bed wearing snowmobile suits, because she has to choose between paying for gas to go to work in the morning and feeding her children.  So that's one example.

Another example, I had a retired woman who called me crying because her hydro bills were $800 and her and her husband have obviously worked all their lives for retirement, and they were have having to dip into their retirement funds just to pay for the high electricity costs.

So those are the types of things that we as mayors hear in difficult times.

Anyways, as Bruce County Warden as well, we oversee the social services of the county of Bruce, and we hear many more stories than just these two.  So I will be keeping my remarks very short, but I just want to give a flavour to everyone here today of the impact that high electricity prices have on our communities.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  The report we filed is intended to be responsive to issue number 9 on the Board's approved issue list.

The report provides a summary of the process pursued by the municipalities and their advisors over a five-year period, which ultimately resulted in the selection of EPCOR Utilities Inc. as the preferred company to provide a gas distribution company in the area.

The competitive RFI process the municipalities use to identify potential natural gas providers delivered significant benefits by testing the marketplace and obtaining multiple competing proposals for expanding natural gas service.

For years, the municipalities have been told by Union that expansion into their region under the existing regulatory environment would require substantial contributions towards necessary capital costs coming from municipalities, funds that municipalities did not have at their availability.

The RFI process allowed the municipalities to consider alternative proposals which, in turn, contributed to a better understanding of different approaches to meeting the region's natural gas needs.

For example, because the RFI was solution-neutral, proponents were free to submit proposals based on pipelines, LNG storage, or other innovative approaches.

The process helped the municipalities to gain a better understanding of the size and composition of the potential market for natural gas in southern Bruce.

The process provided the municipalities with an opportunity to consider different approaches to system design, staging, as well as varying capital cost estimates.

The process also highlighted a significant variance between the estimated customer rates.  Some bidders required a CIAC to be paid by the municipalities to make the project economic.  Other proponents proposed a stand-alone model that would charge the rates set at the level necessary to make the project economically viable.

This expanded considerations about different ways of expansion costs, and how they could be allocated to make the project economically viable.

The process also helped identify the role that subsidies may play, whether originating with governments, other gas consumers or otherwise.

The process also sought information about different ownership structures, which in turn allowed the municipalities to individually decide on their preferred level of ownership, if any, they wanted in a new utility together with gathering -- with considering, rather, the risks and rewards associated with different alternatives.

The process also clarified the nature of the regulatory restrictions that impede the expansion of natural gas markets.  One major impediment in this regard included the combination of using current rates and a profitability index of 1.0 to determine required contribution and aid of construction on the part of municipalities.  And that's it.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, and I'll just ask are there any corrections you'd like to make to your evidence?

MR. MURPHY:  No, for all of us, no.

MR. VELLONE:  I'd like to turn now to Mr. Bacon, your reports.  The title being Rural Rate Assistance as a Rate-making or a Rate Recovery Approach, and it's dated March 21st, 2016.

To your knowledge, is this report true and correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes, it is.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And do you adopt it is a your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I do.

MR. VELLONE:  Panel, I believe everyone -- many of the people here are going to be familiar with Mr. Bacon.  I would like to tender him as an expert in the topics of utility rate design and rural rate assistance for electricity.

His CV was included as an appendix to his report together with a signed acknowledgement of expert duty.

I believe we were not going to go through the detail reading through the CV, but I'll leave it in your hands.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Any submissions from anyone concerned with the areas that we --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I do want to make one comment, and I won't necessarily object to Mr. Bacon being an expert for the purpose of his reported because his report is -- there is a literature element review and then applying a framework that exists.

But Mr. Bacon is a council -- is an employee of the council to the municipalities which raises obviously a question of independence.  I don't wish to challenge his expertise, but I just would like to put it on the record and say that issues like that should go to weight.

That is obviously a highly unusual situation.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if -- I agree with Mr. Rubenstein, surprisingly.  But I wonder if it would be worthwhile for Mr. Bacon to describe how he maintains his  independence in his unique situation as an employee of council.  Would that be helpful?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, it would.   Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Bacon was given the Board's signed acknowledgment of expert duty, and he did acknowledge that he would be an independent and impartial resource to the Board Panel.

But I can let him speak to his understanding of what it is he's here to do today.  I think that would be helpful.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think more specific to Mr. Shepherd's point, I don't know that in that waiver we would have talked about the relationship and the maintenance of the independence, other than to claim he is independent, but how he maintains that.  I think that's your point, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is.

MR. BACON:  The report I've done is based on my experience in rural rate assistance, and my understanding of it is I'm independent and separated from the council because of -- it's just my experience that we have this Chinese wall sort of set up for things like this, and I don't -- that is how I would -- that is how I would understand my I understand my independence would be.

MR. VELLONE:  Maybe I can ask a couple of questions just to help guide us through this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Bacon, you are an employee of BLG; that's correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. VELLONE:  So am I.  You have an office at Borden Ladner Gervais' facilities?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I do.

MR. VELLONE:  How often do you spend time in that office?

MR. BACON:  Once a month.

MR. VELLONE:  To do what type of work?

MR. BACON:   To do billings and -- strictly billings.

MR. VELLONE:  How closely involved in the operations of BLG are you?

MR. BACON:  Hardly at all.

MR. VELLONE:  What do you do?

MR. BACON:  What I typically do is I'm involved in putting rate applications together, and what that involves -- I'm working at home and I'm separated from a lot of the lawyers at BLG.

But typically I help with rate applications and preparing rate applications for LDCs in the province.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Bacon, in the creation of the reports that you will be speaking to, was there any collaboration with anyone at BLG?

MR. BACON:  I had research assistants help me with it, yes, I did.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, and how did that inform your report?

MR. BACON:  It helped me with my understanding of the -- it helped me with my research and understanding of the history of rural rate assistance, and specifically the section of the history of electrification in the province.  That's where the research helped out.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

[Board Panel confers]

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the Panel is prepared to take that and to put it to weight.

I thank Mr. Rubinstein for raising the question.  I think it was a valid concern and I'm glad we had the conversation.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chairman, can I ask Mr. Bacon two questions?

MR. QUESNELLE:  On this issue?

MR. MONDROW:  This topic.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, Mr. Mondrow.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Bacon, who retained you?


MR. BACON:  Bruce County.


MR. MONDROW:  And who recommended you to Bruce County?


MR. BACON:  Mark Rodger.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  This is going to make the next part of my introduction a little bit moot, but Mr. Bacon, when you were engaged by Southern Bruce were you made aware of the Board's Rule 13(a) of its Practice and Procedures?


MR. BACON:  Yes, they were.


MR. VELLONE:  And do you understand that as an expert you are required to assist the Board impartially by giving evidence that is fair and objective?


MR. BACON:  Yes, I am.


MR. VELLONE:  And can you please confirm whether you have done and will continue to do so?


MR. BACON:  I will do so, yes.


MR. VELLONE:  And please briefly explain what you were asked to do.


MR. BACON:  I was retained to provide a brief history of the rural rate assistance for electricity services in Ontario.


MR. VELLONE:  And based on your assessment what was your conclusion?


MR. BACON:  The purpose of my evidence was to be helpful to the Board and to provide a possible alternative rate recovery approach to provide natural gas services to Ontario communities that do not currently have access to natural gas.


That approach would be to implement something similar to rural rate assistance used for rural electricity services in Ontario.


The electrification of rural Ontario occurred from 1911 to 1958, and over those 47 years various methods of combining self-supporting funding and Ontario government subsidies were used to fund the power system and provide electricity to rural communities.


These methods could be classified as being similar to the Ontario government recent announcement that it's supporting the expansion of natural gas access in areas of the province that are not currently served to the 200 -- that are not currently served to the $200 million natural gas access loan of $30 million natural gas economic development grant.


After self-supporting funding and Ontario government subsidies were used the rural rate assistance method was introduced in 1981 into section 108 of the Power Corporation Act, which essentially provided funding from the urban customers to rural customers.  Although section 108, along with much of the PCA, was replaced in 1998, the calculation of rural rate or remote electricity rate protection continues today under Ontario Regulation 44-2-0-1.


And while the calculation in this regulation is different than the calculation outlined in section 108 of the PCA, the principle is the same.  Urban customers subsidize rural customers.


And it is clear that Ontario has a long history of and precedent of achieving sustainable energy policy objectives, such as rural electrification through provincial subsidies and cross-subsidies from urban to rural customers, that have been in place in one form or another for almost a century.


The most recent approach to that of rural rate assistance has been enshrined in legislation governing Ontario's electricity distribution sector for approximately 35 years.


As a result, I would suggest that the Board should consider and can take guidance from the rural rate assistance as a made-in-Ontario rate recovery and a rate-making approach as it considers how to implement existing provincial policy to expand natural gas services to Ontario communities that currently do not have access to natural gas.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Bacon.


Are there any corrections you would like to make to your report?


MR. BACON:  No.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.


And moving on to the last of the three bundles of material.  This is a report prepared by Elenchus titled "Mechanisms for supporting natural gas community expansion projects".  It is dated March 21st, 2016.


Mr. Todd, do you recognize this document?


MR. TODD:  Yes, I do.


MR. VELLONE:  And to your knowledge, is the report true and correct?


MR. TODD:  Yes, it is.


MR. VELLONE:  And do you adopt it as your evidence in this proceeding?


MR. TODD:  I do.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.


I would like to tender Mr. Todd as an expert as well, this time in the topic of regulatory approaches to system expansions.  I guess I should see, are there any objections?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Any submissions, objections, or general submissions on this request?  Okay.  Being none, the Panel accepts.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.


Mr. Todd, when you were engaged by the Southern Bruce municipalities were you made aware and did you agree to accept the responsibilities imposed on experts under Rule 13(a) of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure?


MR. TODD:  Yes, in fact it was attached to my original letter of engagement, as well as being attached to my evidence at the end of the process.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And do you understand that as an expert you are required to assist the Board by impartially giving evidence that is both fair and objective?


MR. TODD:  I do.


MR. VELLONE:  Can you please confirm whether you have and will continue to do so?


MR. TODD:  I have and I will.


MR. VELLONE:  Can you please briefly explain what it is you were asked to do?


MR. TODD:  I was asked by the municipalities to bear evidence that it has two things.  First, it reviews the evolution and policy context of the existing economic feasibility framework used by the OEB-regulated natural gas distributors.  Second, it provides illustrative examples of approaches that have been utilized in other Canadian jurisdictions in other sectors, regulated sectors, of the Canadian economy to address the challenge of meeting the needs of unserved communities at affordable rates.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And what information informed your assessment?


MR. TODD:  I undertook a comparative and historical review of policies and approaches.  As you will see, a large portion of the evidence is actually quotes.  I've thought the words from the documents actually told the story better than anything I could say.


MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  And can you share your observations with this Board Panel?


MR. TODD:  Yes, I can.  This proceeding, or those involved in it, do not need me to review the evolution of the current EBO 188 rules.  I recognize many faces, having sat around the table of the 188 process.  We're still here, and I think those that aren't were many students of those of us who were there.


It's fascinating to us, but I'm not so sure it is fascinating to the rest of the world.


High-level observations are what's relevant at this point.  In my view, there is a few observations that are important.  Number one, Ontario's non-urban infrastructure, or non-urban small-town infrastructure, has developed since at least the 1980s with the assistance of government programs and/or implicit customer-to-customer cross-subsidies that have facilitated the expansion of the natural gas system to communities that would be uneconomic to serve in the absence of the subsidies.


Most customers have received subsidies either in the short-run or the long-run in order to get connected.


The form of assistance to -- number two.  The form of assistance to expansion projects has reflected the policies of the day.


Number three, while the reasons for subsidizing natural gas system expansion have evolved through the years, there are some common policy themes.  Natural gas is and continues to be a low-cost and a relatively low-carbon energy option.


Two, natural gas is distributed using common facilities, which is important, hence the efficiency and low cost requires high penetration rates.  The higher the better.  Hence, subsidizing projects increases the benefits that are realized.  It improves project economics by making natural gas more affordable for more households and businesses that are potentially being served.


It is considered to be equitable for customers in inherently low cost-of-service areas to subsidize customers in higher cost-of-service areas.  This fairness principle underpins the widely accepted concept of postage stamp rates.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.


And I understand you looked at several other illustrative examples, and I was wondering if you could share your observations on that part of your work as well?


MR. TODD:  Yes, my evidence covers three examples of the actions taken to improve economics of extending utility service to high-cost areas in Canada.


First, the provision of natural gas to Vancouver Island in the early 1990s; second, Ontario's pooled cost approach for the integrated electricity transmission grid; and third, the approach adopted by the CRTC, the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission, for maintaining basic telephone service at affordable rates in high-cost serving areas.  They are actually formally called in CRTC jurisdictions HCSAs across the country.


The CRTC is currently considering proposals to extend the current subsidy regimes called the "national fund" to include broadband internet facilities, again, an evolving essential service.


The key observations relating to these illustrative examples that in my view are relevant to this proceeding are, subsidies are a standard tool used to achieve public policy objectives.


Second, the design of the subsidy mechanism used in any particular circumstance depends on many factors:  Explicit government policy, is government providing funding or not?  The full mix of government and regulatory policy objectives that must be balanced in a pragmatic and acceptable way.

Third, of course, relevant legal constraints and finally, generally accepted regulatory economic principles.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, I might just follow-up on that last point of yours actually.

Can you please summarize your views on what are the key accepted regulatory and economic principles that should be considered?

MR. TODD:  First and foremost, in my view, is that whatever the public policy objective, it should be pursued using the most cost effective approach available.

In the current context, that implies either realizing a fixed program, fixed scale of system expansion for example, using an approach that minimises the required subsidy for that expansion package; or two, realizing the greatest amount of system expansion with a fixed number of dollars.

Two sides of the same coin, or some balancing of those two efficiency objectives.

Consistent with the positions I've taken in the current CRTC proceeding and the previous ones related to the creation of the national fund which subsidies HCSAs, this can best be achieved by an auction mechanism that uses a competitive bidding process to select the lowest cost provider that can meet the required service standards.

The CRTC example is a bit different here, but your the concept is you are auctioning to the most attractive bidder.

Second, the subsidy regime should be designed so as to minimise the impact on other taxpayers or customers. In general, this is likely to mean that the broader the base of contributing to the subsidy, the better.

The broader the base, the lower the cost per customer of the subsidy.  And lower administrative costs are better.

In a telecom case, for example, essentially all service providers are required to contribute to the national fund, which is then used to subsidize those companies serving the HDSAs, from all to a few, so they can recover their full cost of service.

This approach not only minimizes the impact on a per customer or per dollar revenue basis across the industry as a whole, but it is competitively neutral.

Third, whatever mechanism is adopted, it should be customer-focused.  That is it should be designed to subsidy subsidize the services of customers being subsidized that they will want and will benefit from.

Again, to refer to the CRTC example, the commission defined what it referred to as basic service objectives, it's the first step in defining the services that would be subsidized.

It is that basic service objective that the CRTC is currently reviewing with the expectation that it will be expanded to include broad-band service.

The national fund currently supports or subsidies only landlines.  Landlines, I know from my clients in remote communities, First Nations communities, landlines are useless to them.  They are all using the internet, overloaded.

They need to have a subsidy for broad-band service and they're looking at it as being explored on an auction basis.

The bottom line of my evidence is very simple.  Subject to any legislative or other legal constraints which are beyond the scope of my expertise, the Ontario Energy Board should feel comfortable that generally accepted regulatory principles and past practice both suggest that the Board has a great deal of latitude to establish a funding regime for community expansion that is as efficient and effective as you consider practical.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Todd.  Are there any corrections you'd like to make to your evidence?

MR. TODD:  No, there are not.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Panel.  That was a lot to get through.  Thanks for your patience.  The panel is available for taking questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco, you will be going first.   I take it you are acting for both your clients at this point in time?

MS. DeMARCO:  I think it is just one at this point in time.  I think I'll start with Anwaatin and follow --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Are they that separated that you want to -- what I'm getting at, is if you could let the witness Panel know who you are representing as you are asking them questions.

MS. DeMARCO:  Let them know what side of the schizophrenia I'll be falling on today.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:

Panel, I will be asking you a few questions for Anwaatin, which is a group of First Nations in Ontario, and I have mainly two areas to ask you about.

The first is general First Nations issues and the process that you've gone through.  And then secondly, I'm going to ask Mr. Todd to help me with some confusion that I have in relation to one of the responses to an interrogatory.

So I will predominantly be referring to the evidence itself of South Bruce, with some specific reference to the appendices there.

So I'm not sure who precisely to address this to of the mayors, so any one or all three of the mayors I will ask.

You'd agree with me that there are a number of First Nations communities located in or around the southern Bruce municipalities; is that right?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's correct, there's two.

MS. DeMARCO:  So two total, and specifically which First Nations communities are they?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Saugeen and Chippewas of Nawash, and also you could lump in there Metis group, too, are recognized as well.

MS. DeMARCO:  And fair to say that those First Nations communities are fairly active on energy issues?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I may have missed it, but it's fair to say that First Nations are not considered anywhere, Mr. Todd in Appendix A, your portion of the evidence, the Elenchus report; is that right?

MR. TODD:  Are you referring to the 2015 report at this point?

MS. DeMARCO:  I am, the February 2015, the Appendix A.

MR. TODD:  Yes, that was not part of the work done at that time.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm going to move on to Appendix B.  Specifically, this is the Union Gas report and at page 8 of that report, there is specific reference to the First Nations in that process.

And if I can take you there, I'm at page 8, the second full paragraph entitled "Government Relations - Aboriginal Affairs."   We'll just wait for that to come up, if I can.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Can you repeat the reference, Ms. DeMarco?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, it is Appendix B of the Southern Bruce evidence at page 8.

I'm at the second full paragraph, and I'll start as it's coming up.  Essentially, this portion of the evidence indicates that -- Union here indicates that First Nations should be consulted on this project, and it specifically indicates that it contacted the Union of Ontario Indians, and the independent First Nations, who both recommended that the Saugeen Ojibway Nations be contacted, and they specify that the Saugeen Ojibway Nations consists of the Chippewas of Saugeen and the Chippewas of Nawash Unceded First Nation.  Do I have that right so far?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Nawash.

MS. DeMARCO:  And they go on to indicate that the Metis Nation was historically contacted back in 2015; is that right?

MAYOR EADIE:  2011?

MS. DeMARCO:  2011, yes.

MAYOR EADIE:  When we first started?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  So I've got that right?

MAYOR EADIE:  I'm pretty sure, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And very specifically, is it fair to say that Union indicated that consultation with First Nations was recommended, ongoing?

MAYOR EADIE:  It's standard for any projects in our municipalities, anything we're doing, it is just standard procedure now.

MS. DeMARCO:  And it's important; is that fair to Say?

MAYOR EADIE:  Oh, yes, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Almost even pressing at this point, yes?

MAYOR EADIE:  I would say it is just standard; we know it's part of standard procedure.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, great.  If I can ask you to turn to Appendix E of the evidence, at page 113.  This is the  Premier's 2014, September 25th, 2014, mandate letter.

Fair to say that at about page 14 of that letter, consultation with the First Nations is also a very key component of the Premier's mandate, indicating it is a key element of the considerations around natural gas expansion; is that fair?

MAYOR EADIE:  Excuse me, which letter, to the Minister of Energy or to the infrastructure?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, it is the letter outlined in Appendix E of Southern Bruce's evidence.  It is dated September 25th, 2014.

MAYOR EADIE:  To Mr. Chiarelli?

MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And the Premier indicates that -- on or around page 14 of that letter -- that consultation with the First Nations is a key element.  Is that fair?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then going on to Appendix C of the evidence, which I believe is page 87 of 207 of the evidence at page 6, in fact the recommendations of BLG do indicate that Southern Bruce municipalities should continue stakeholdering with affected First Nations; is that right?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  It is very difficult, because the definition of "consultation" means different things, and we are a creature of the province, and basically as elected officials we give letters of -- just letting know our friends at Saugeen Ojibway First Nations that there are proposals or projects coming down the pipe, and a lot of times we don't hear from our First Nations friends until almost shovel in the ground, and I can give you an example of that right now.

We're dealing with an issue that I had given a letter to Saun (ph) a year ago, and we are just getting ready for an environmental assessment on a county project and now we're just finally starting to meet, so I know the Premier in the past has put consultation in there, and we do take that under advisement, but it can be very difficult.  And at this point, as warden of Bruce County, I have a very good relationship with Chief Nadjiwon and Chief Roote.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm going to take you back to this process, thank you, if I can, and specifically I'm looking at the recommendations of BLG, and I'm going to read from those recommendations again.

We're at page 6 of Appendix C, where specifically BLG recommends that the municipalities, and I quote:

"...should continue their stakeholdering activities with the general public, including all key customer groups and affected First Nations and Metis communities."

Do I have that right?  Have I read that correctly?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Now, turning specifically to the actual RFI that you issued, and that was provided, I believe, as part of an attachment to an interrogatory at Exhibit S13.South Bruce.2.EGD.1.  I'm not going to turn you to any specific part of that RFI unless I've got this wrong.

Is it fair to say that the RFI did not -- didn't -- include a requirement to consult with First Nations?  Do I have that right?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Hmm.  And South Bruce itself did not initiate further consultations with the First Nations communities on this specific RFI; is that right?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now I'm going to ask Mr. Todd for a specific correction.  I'm going to ask you to turn up your interrogatory response, or the interrogatory response 2.OGA.3.  And specific --


MR. TODD:  Do you have a page?  Is that a page of 77?

MS. DeMARCO:  Fifty-two of 77.

MR. TODD:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I believe you're being asked to reconcile the cost per cubic metre of propane, of 18.6 cents.  Sorry, this is of natural gas -- of 18.6 cents, with 24.03 cents on page 6.

MR. TODD:  The question says 23.04, but whatever is the correct number.  There might be a typo there.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Let's pull up specifically that response, because I just want to make sure the record is correct on this point.

We're talking about, I believe, page 6 of your report. This is the first report --


MR. TODD:  Again, we're talking about Appendix A, the 2015 report.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.

MR. TODD:  Page 6.

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe it starts at the bottom of page 5.

MR. TODD:  Yeah, the number -- the number appearing on page 5 is 18.6.  The number appearing in actually the footnotes to the table is 23 -- it's in dollars, .2304 dollars per m3.

MS. DeMARCO:  23.04 cents; is that right?

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And in your answer to the question it indicates:

"The report states that the cost per metre cube appearing on page 5, 18.6 cents..."

I'm going to take you to page 5.  We've got 18.6 cents there; is that right?

MR. TODD:  Per cubic metre, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, was the average Canadian residential natural gas commodity cost as of October 2014, whereas the cost appearing in the chart on page 6, again you've got 18.6 cents there; did you mean 23.04 cents?

MR. TODD:  Yes, thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, so if that could...

MR. TODD:  I will amend my earlier statement about no corrections.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

MR. TODD:  You're always helpful.

MS. DeMARCO:  It is not that I'm OCD or anything, but we'll just leave that there.

I'm going to ask you to go specifically to that chart.  And I understand that chart to reflect estimated annual cost of energy in both southern and northern Ontario; do I have that right?

MR. TODD:  That's what the label says, and it's a while ago, but I'm sure the label is correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so here we've got natural gas coming out significantly lower than the cost of propane; is that right?

MR. TODD:  Correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, can I ask you to turn to CPA, the Canadian Propane Association, evidence at Exhibit 9, tab 9, page 9 of 27.

MR. TODD:  I do not have that with me at the table, so I'd have to call it up on the screen, please.

MS. DeMARCO:  Board Staff has that reference.  Again for the record, CPA, Exhibit 9, tab 9, page 9 of 27.

MR. TODD:  I do have a paper copy in front of me now.

MS. DeMARCO:  And Figure 1 is, as you'll see from the paragraph above, "estimated annual energy costs", but just in southern Ontario.  Do I have that right?

MR. TODD:  I'll take that subject to check.  I'm not familiar with the CPA evidence.  I read it at one point, but that was --


MS. DeMARCO:  If you just want to --


MR. TODD:  -- no, I did not check numbers or anything.

MS. DeMARCO:  If you just want to look at the first sentence of the paragraph above Figure 1.

MR. TODD:  Yeah, I'll accept the statement.  As I say, I have not verified that, so I cannot confirm its correctness.  I will accept the evidence, as I stated.

MS. DeMARCO:  And it looks here that there is an approximation of the propane costs and the natural gas costs, slightly different than your more comprehensive table that includes southern and northern Ontario; is that fair?

MR. TODD:  Yes, and of course it's actually not my table.  It is from a website, which is a Union Gas table.

MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.  So I will come back to Greenfield in the alphabetical order.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. DeMarco.  I wasn't sure how you wanted to handle that; that's fine.  The reason for my earlier question was I wasn't sure if you had the same question for both clients.

But that works, okay.  Mr. Cass, are you able to determine if you do have some?

MR. CASS:  I have a few, Mr. Chair, it will not be long.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Panel, my name is Fred Cass and I'm a lawyer for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I have a few questions and I think they are all for the mayors.

Would the mayors, all of you, appreciate that under discussion here in this proceeding is a framework where customers of one gas utility would subsidize expansion by another company.  You understand that that's part of what is under discussion here?

(Yes).

MR. CASS:  And I take it from your witness panel and the witnesses you have here with you, that part of what you are here for is in fact to support this idea that customers of other utilities would subsidize expansion of gas service to your municipalities?

MULTIPLE SPEAKERS:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  So just as an example, you would be here to support the proposition that customers of Enbridge and Union would pay a subsidy to assist gas service to customers in your municipalities?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Now you have agreements under EPCOR under which EPCOR will pay an annual fee to your municipalities. So am I right in thinking that your expectation is that customers of Enbridge and Union will pay money to assist gas service to customers in your municipalities, while the supplier of gas, EPCOR, is going to pay an annual fee to your municipalities?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Do you know where EPCOR will get the money for this annual fee?

MAYOR EADIE:  Sorry?

MR. CASS:  Do you know where EPCOR will get the money for this annual fee?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  No.

MAYOR EADIE:  The -- it's part of the --

MR. VELLONE:  I'm not sure the mayors are subject matter experts in utility regulation where a utility might or might not get its money from.  I'm not sure they know the answer.

MR. CASS:  That's what I asked them, is whether they know.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If they don't know, they don't know; that's fine.

MAYOR EADIE:  Well, I thought it was the 1 percent of --


MR. VELLONE:  Do you know where EPCOR could get the money?  Yes or no?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  No.

MR. CASS:  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Ardal?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ardal:

MR. ARDAL:  Good afternoon, my name is Kiel Ardal.  I represent Environmental Defence.  I will be asking just a few questions, and I shouldn't take too much time.  Most of them will be directed to Mr. Todd.

So to start, I would just ask that the response to our Interrogatory No. 1 to South Bruce be put up on the screen, Environment Defence response to our Interrogatory No.1 to South Bruce.

MR. TODD:  Do you have a page reference in the hard copy?

MR. ARDAL:  Sure, just one moment.

MR. TODD:  Page something of 77?

MR. ARDAL:  It is on page 33 of the response.

MR. TODD:  Thank you.

MR. ARDAL:  You're welcome.  So here we'd asked Mr. Todd if --


MR. TODD:  Sorry, on the screen, if you scroll down to the next page, the response is actually on the second page of the --


MR. ARDAL:  Yes.  So we'd asked if subsidies should only be provided for natural gas expansions, if the expansion resulted in net GHG emissions and if natural gas expansion was preferable to alternatives such as renewables, and let me read your response here.

Your response was:

"No, the criteria identified in the question may be appropriate if the policy framework defines the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions as the sole objective of the community expansion initiative.  Other objectives, such as economic development considerations and reductions in the total energy costs of consumers would imply different criteria."

So I think what you're saying is that greenhouse gas emissions are an important objective, but not the only  relevant objective.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. TODD:  Yes, key to my response was the first line of the interrogatory which said "should be required.”  So it would be like a go, no-go criterion, is the way I read the question.

MR. ARDAL:  Just for our purposes today, what you are saying is that a fair characterization of your response is greenhouse gas emissions reduction can be an important objective, but maybe not the only relevant objective.

MR. TODD:  Right.

MR. ARDAL:  So would you agree that cost effective energy conservation will also contribute to economic development and a reduction in the total energy costs?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. ARDAL:  Would you agree that renewable energy investment, such as geothermal, can also contribute to economic development and reductions and our total energy costs?

MR. TODD:  Yes, it can.

MR. ARDAL:  Moving on to a hypothetical situation, let's say that a gas expansion project would provide economic development benefits and lower energy costs, but would also increase greenhouse gas emissions.

Under what circumstances do you think the Board should approve that project?

Or I can put is a little bit differently.  What general guidance can you give us in weighing potential GHG  emission increases against economic and cost considerations?

MR. TODD:  That's a policy consideration that the Board would have to take a policy framework of the government into account in developing its policy, and the Board has its own legislation and must be, number one, true to its legislation, and part of that legislation is to take into account government objectives.

So, it would put all those pieces together and as I referred to in direct, it has to balance off cost and policy objectives to come up with what the Board considers to be an appropriate balance.

MR. ARDAL:  Thank you.  So this is my last question for you.  Let's say that it's possible to get larger bill reductions in one of the municipalities that you represent through an alternative method, such as conservation or a renewable energy project.  All other things being equal, would you recommend to them that they pursue that alternative instead?

MR. TODD:  I don't understand the logic of that.  You're saying -- so we have a community that does not have gas at the present time, and we're going to reduce bills by conservation?

You are saying that conservation -- so this is a universal conservation program that applied electricity, natural gas, to whatever?

MR. ARDAL:  Correct, or a renewable energy project.  I mean, if there's a way to reduce the bills in your municipalities' energy bills through other methods, either conservation or a renewable energy project.  If other things were equal, would you recommend that they pursue the alternative?

MR. TODD:  In the context of this proceeding before the Ontario Energy Board developing a set of rules for natural gas expansion, I don't see how that can be built in a set of rules.

The way that that can be addressed is by a municipality making a decision in the interest of its customers and looking at the options out there, and municipalities such as the municipalities sitting at table have had the opportunity to consider options and choose the one that it considers best for its community -- or communities, in this case -- which may be the alternative to expansion.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Ardal, if could?

Mr. Todd, could you envision a framework that would have a least cost planning component to it as to what the options are to meet the objective, if the objective was to have lower rates?

I'm just basing this on -- the premise of the question was if the objective is lower rates, lower bills – I shouldn't say rates, but lower bills, energy bills, could a framework have a component that would look at the alternatives to the expansion?

MR. TODD:  Yes, and with the way this process has evolved, I've thought about that a little bit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  And one of the challenges is that for this Board and for a community, a natural gas expansion is, by its nature, a community project.

Most of the alternatives, such as geothermal, use of propane, are individual household decisions.  It would be interesting if somebody had come to the communities, the municipalities, and said:  We will come to your community and we will do on a broad-based project basis, do some other kind of conversion.  One of the intervenors, the Geothermal Association, OGA, says shouldn't be doing geothermal.  At the present time that's an individual household decision, it's not a community project.

If something was on the table, it could have been proposed to the communities, and it was preferred to be done.  The Board could create a mechanism that says as part of a leave-to-construct filing, show us this is the least-cost project for the customers.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, that's helpful.

MR. ARDAL:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all my questions for Mr. Todd.

I just have a couple of questions for Mayor Anne Eadie.  So I just have a question or two for you.  They are at a really high level, and I apologize if they seem somewhat obvious, especially given the evidence so far.

So generally speaking, what you're looking for is lower energy costs for Kincardine; is that right?

MAYOR EADIE:  We're looking for choice.

MR. ARDAL:  So overall is the objective -- and from listening to your evidence today and, frankly, evidence from most of the munici -- from all the municipalities about, really focused on the costs, and the costs to your constituents, to the businesses, is that -- you know, is that the underlying goal, lower energy costs?

MAYOR EADIE:  Well, that's part of it.  As you know, the municipality of Kincardine, we have the largest nuclear facility in the world.  We also have well over 200 windmills in our little municipality, and we have a lot of solar projects, so our logo of -- part of our logo is related to energy, of course, so -- however, the one remaining choice we feel we really need, it's important we always diversify our economy and keep our businesses and attract new ones, and this is the -- getting access to natural gas, as I said before, we're the largest community, especially in rural Ontario, that does not have access to natural gas.

So this choice is very important to us for many reasons, but the economic reason, the lower cost, is very important to us.

MR. ARDAL:  Thank you.  And if you can achieve that lower cost, the economic reasons which you mentioned was very important, if you can achieve it through natural gas or another alternative, you know, in other words, as long as it's the same cost reductions can be achieved, and all other things being equal, that wouldn't matter to you -- would that matter -- that wouldn't matter to you and your constituents?

MAYOR EADIE:  Well, I think our constituents have said to us they want natural gas.  That's -- a lot of them -- we have had the studies, we've done the surveys, and as we said in our evidence, our residents want natural gas.

MR. ARDAL:  I guess I'm --


MAYOR EADIE:  They want the option of natural gas.

MR. ARDAL:  I'm saying the reason that they want the option of natural gas is because it lowers their energy bills; correct?

MAYOR EADIE:  And it makes our businesses more competitive.

MR. ARDAL:  And -- yeah, exactly, and if there was other ways of lowering the bills, that wouldn't matter to you?  If there is another way, everything else is actual, the same -- and you got a lower bill, then that wouldn't -- you wouldn't -- it wouldn't matter to you if it was a lower bill through a different measure than natural gas?

MAYOR EADIE:  We want diversification in our municipality as well.  Our businesses are demanding it.  We are thrilled to have the nuclear industry in our municipality, but as you know, it's important to diversify with new technology, changing times.  It is important for us to diversify our economy as well, and this is -- this -- having natural gas is really important to us for that.

MR. ARDAL:  So there is another option, though, that also enables you to diversify your economy and present with lower energy bills, the same lower energy bills that could be achieved through natural gas, then would that be a --


MAYOR EADIE:  I'm just curious to what other option.  We've got nuclear in our community, we've got wind, we have got solar, we've got geothermal.  We want the other option of natural gas.

MR. ARDAL:  And it's the hypothetical situation, and we've heard Mr. Todd refer to geothermal energy, but for example, if there was sort of renewable energy projects that could be implemented in your communities that resulted in the same reduction in your energy bills, would that be -- would that be the same for you?  Would you have any objectives to that alternative over natural gas?

MAYOR EADIE:  Well, we do have renewable energy.  We have a lot of renewable energy.

MR. ARDAL:  Okay, I'll move on in my last question.

And, you know, basically what I'm getting at is if you could present your community with an alternative which is a cleaner option, in other words, you know, potentially lower greenhouse gas emissions, and it resulted in the same -- and we don't have to get into the specific of what the alternative is, but say there was an alternative available to your community that resulted in the same reductions in energy prices for your energy bills, and it was a cleaner option, in other words, and more environmentally friendly option, would you prefer that option?  Without getting into specifics of what that option was -- is?

MAYOR EADIE:  As long as it would have the same benefits to our municipality.

MR. ARDAL:  Yes.

MAYOR EADIE:  Some technology in the future, I guess.

MR. ARDAL:  So is that a yes?

MAYOR EADIE:  I said yes.

MR. ARDAL:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Ardal.

Ms. DeMarco, I believe we're back to you, representing Greenfield.


Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, thank you again, Panel, for your indulgence.  On behalf of Greenfield Specialty Alcohols, I'd like to ask you questions on two areas.  The first is in relation to the need for natural gas in the area and the second is in relation to the process that you went through to get to where you are today.

So let me start first.  I'm referring predominantly to the general evidence of South Bruce, the 11 pages.  And you indicate throughout that evidence that the lack of natural gas in South Bruce represents a -- and I'm quoting from page 3 of that evidence now -- a "serious ongoing economic disadvantage".  Do I have that right?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And entities that would be disadvantaged would include businesses as well; is that correct?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And both you and Elenchus indicate that natural gas in the county in the Southern Bruce municipalities will result in very considerable savings -- I believe the number was 27 million -- for customers; is that fair?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And Elenchus also -- you very specifically addressed that it will also result in greenhouse gas savings as well; is that fair?

MR. TODD:  In the 2015 report, that is Appendix A, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so getting alternatives to -- energy alternatives to Southern Bruce, as you've indicated, is very pressing, very important to you.

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so now let's talk about process.  Fair to assume that your recommendations and thoughts about a generic process here are informed by your experience to date?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And quite specifically, your recommendations on a generic process that are outlined in pages 3 to 11 of your evidence are as a function of what works and what didn't work for you; is that fair?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And some of that evidence includes the history, how you got to where you are; correct?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And some outlines specific RFI processes that you've gone through; also fair?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, so in getting to the specific RFI process you looked very specifically at how much you needed; is that fair?

MAYOR EADIE:  Sorry, could you ask that again?  How much we needed natural gas?

MS. DeMARCO:  Energy, the demand, the actual.

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And do I have the number correct at about 30 million metres cubed or 30,000?

MAYOR EADIE:  I'm going to defer to our --


MS. DeMARCO:  Is that 103 m3?

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And at Appendix B of your evidence, in your report to Union Gas, you have some specific numbers for customers, individual customers, big ones.

MR. MURPHY:  This is the Union Gas study?

MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I'm going to take you, if I can, to page 7 of the Union Gas study.

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I know the mayor referred very Paisley brick.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  At the top of that page, Paisley Brick is identified as one of those customers; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  As is Greenfield Ethanol; quite a major customer.  And later on in the Union Gas at about page 15, Greenfield's estimated volume is about 13 million metres cubed, is that fair -- or 13,000, 103 m3; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  That's correct, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And if I could take you to Appendix C in the BLG report, at or about page 27.

MR. MURPHY:  Yep.

MS. DeMARCO:  We, at Exhibit 16 there, have very large, I would say important customers identified there, the big industrials; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  That's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  And there we have Commercial Alcohols and if you can take, subject to check, that Commercial Alcohols is the same as Greenfield, identified as a large customer, using about 17 million --


MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  -- metres cubed, or 17,000 103 m3.

So my math is rough, you will bear with me, but 17 is more than half of 30; is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  So very significant, more than half the demand in the area.

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  To Greenfield Ethanol, Greenfield Specialty Alcohols.  Is that fair?  Do I have that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm going to take you again to page 6 of that BLG report.

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  Where BLG specifically recommends that the municipality should continue their stakeholdering activities with the general public, including all key customer groups.  Do I have that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Umm, that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Would you agree with me that a customer that represents more than half the demand in the area is a key customer group?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And very specifically, the costs of the expansion, the capital expenditures required for the expansion relate to the demand; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Usually.

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, let's look specifically at your system.  Would you agree that the costs of the expansion required relate to the demand required?

MR. MURPHY:  I can't say for sure.  It depends upon the particular system you're talking about.

We had two of them at the time.  One was being proposed by Union, and the other by Northern Cross.  They had their own capital expenditures, their own route designs, so they were quite different.

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, let's look specifically at those two proposals.

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  As I understand it, the Union estimate was about 97 million for the capital expansion --


MR. MURPHY:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  -- the CAPEX.  And as if I understand the Northern Cross estimate correctly, the demand went up in their estimate; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Certain parts of demand.  Some parts went down and some parts went up.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm going to take you to page 5 of your evidence, if I can, the second paragraph.  I understand there at the bottom of the second -- the first full paragraph, that in the Northern Cross estimate, the demand was about 25 percent higher; do I have that right?

MR. MURPHY:  That's overall; that's right.

MS. DeMARCO:  So 25 percent higher overall.

MR. MURPHY:  That was a result of including certain elements that weren't in the estimates for Union, and you may have residential, for example, lower, but industrial higher and commercial higher, because of the change in configuration.

You'd have to go through all the line by line details.

MS. DeMARCO:  So that's what you've got there. increased demand by 25 percent due to a number of factors, and decreased costs in the next paragraph; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Decreased cost; you're talking about capital expenditures?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, we're looking at 70.2 million instead of 97 million; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  That's right.

MS. DeMARCO:  So increased demand, decreased costs; have I got that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Decreased capital expenditures, yes, that's right.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, great, thanks.  Now, fair to say then by the same logic, if we decrease demand by about half, we're likely to increase the cost of capital expenditures; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  No.

MS. DeMARCO:  It's not?

MR. MURPHY:  No.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, I haven't heard your answer there.

MR. MURPHY:  The answer is no.  If you are saying that's a general principle, the answer to that is no.

MS. DeMARCO:  So if we decrease the overarching demand by about 17,000, 103M3, will the cost be the same?

MR. MURPHY:  Well, it depends upon what's decreasing.  If you are decreasing demand for residential, for example, there would be a substantial decrease in capital expenditures because capital expenditures per unit of sales to residentials is high.

If you're talking about a reduction in sales to Industrials, there are tremendous economies in the use of capital for sales to industries.  So it depends upon the particular proposition you're talking about.

MS. DeMARCO:  Let's get specific then.  Let's look at if one customer representing 17 million metres cubed is no longer served by the project, will the capital expenditure costs of the project be the same?

MR. MURPHY:  They'd be lower.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Could I then walk you through -- we understand that you then, after going through this process of assessing demand, retained BLG and Mr. Quinn, Dr. Quinn, to look at the business case.  Do I have that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  And part of that business case concludes that the interest of large volume customers are quite important; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then you proceeded to RFI; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  And that RFI was intended to gauge the interest of investors?

MR. MURPHY:  More generally, actually the business case was designed to assemble all the information we had at the time to put it in a context, and that would be the information base that would be used by the respondents to the RFI process.

We did some analysis of the information that we had so far, and a general conclusion of that was twofold.  In the case of the Union offer, what they were offering was to supply the areas that were required by the municipalities.  The capital cost would be about $97 million, of which 86 million would have to be paid by the municipalities.  That was no go.

The second was an offer by Northern Cross Energy, and they had their own combination of capital expenditures, customers, forecast and demand and so on.  They treated it as a stand-alone operation.  They did not have a customer base.  They did not have to go through the EBO 188, so they determined independent stand-alone rates, and those rates were basically substantially higher than could be supported by the market if in fact you're trying to place -- if you're trying to encourage conversions.

So both of those approaches were essentially leading to the conclusion that we weren't going to get anywhere.

So with that as a background, we then put that together in a package, opened up an RFI and opened it up to everybody.  Take a look at this, see if you can approach this project in a different fashion, use different approaches, maybe recommend different methodological approaches to policy, maybe your capital expenditures -- numbers could be lower, maybe you could use different configurations of system design that could lower costs.

We opened it up to anybody.  Maybe you could use a combination of, I don't know, compressed natural gas and distribution pipe networks.  That was open to everybody to submit.

So that was the purpose of the FRI to assemble all the information we had gathered over five years of looking at this, made it available, and invited people to respond.

MS. DeMARCO:  So I understand that that's what you're telling us now.  I'm going to take you to the express wording of what you told people on the RFI, so if I could ask you to turn to page 7, precisely what you told people on the RFI.  I'm reading from the quoted section, about halfway down, indented it.  I'm reading there on the first line:
 "This RFI -- initiated this RFI for the purpose of canvassing Canadian and U.S. energy sectors to gauge interest from potential investors and investment funds."

Do I have that right?

MR. MURPHY:  I'm on the wrong page.  I'm going to have to catch up with you.  Oh.  That is correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then later on, the municipalities indicate that they have made no decision on a course of action; is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Right.

MS. DeMARCO:  And their primary motivation, just reading further down in bold here, "has been and remains to bring natural gas to their communities".  I've got that right so far?

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm, correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  "To the benefit of their citizens, farms, and businesses and industries"; is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So the clear intent was to benefit each of those entities.  Not detriment, fair?

MR. MURPHY:  That's right.

MS. DeMARCO:  And not remain the same either, but to benefit; fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  Is that a yes?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And that's what entities were told; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Right.

MS. DeMARCO:  So you're in a process of gauging interest, no indication that there is an intent to award a municipal franchise agreement; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Not in this part.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so certainly in relation to those benefits, you'd agree with me none of the major stakeholders in the process would assume that they would be anything other than benefited?

MR. MURPHY:  No, there was an intention to choose a preferred partner.  I don't see that here, but that certainly was in the text.

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe in fairness you say that later on on page A, "preferred partner"; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And looking very specifically at the question of benefits, it would not anywhere in here be reasonable for a major stakeholder to assume that they would be anything other than benefited from this process; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Well, the benefits were to flow to the people we identified.  The medium would be the partner that we brought in to do it, and we would work with that partner to ensure those benefits to the constituency.

MS. DeMARCO:  Right, and so going back to page 7, you clearly indicate that industry intended to be benefited; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Industry, individuals, commercial entities, everyone.

MS. DeMARCO:  Wonderful.  And again, going back to the recommendation that you go on and consult with your major industrial customers?

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  Did that happen in the RFI?  Was there a requirement to consult with major industrial customers in the RFI?

MR. MURPHY:  I'll turn you over to the mayors.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  I guess consultation was public meetings that were held.  Consultation is obviously within a small area, and this was headline news in all the newspapers for -- it's been going on years, so we were not approached by any of our industries or commercial operations with concerns, rather than Hurry up and bring us natural gas.  And that is part of the reason that we went through this process, because we've been at this for five years, and our constituents are saying we want answers and we want natural gas.

MS. DeMARCO:  So can I ask you to show me exactly where in the RFI you required bidders to consult with major industrial customers?

MAYOR EADIE:  So through our whole process with trying to explore ways to get natural gas, right at the start we had some of the local businesses and industry on our initial steering committee.  And so we had lots of good input there, and then all through the process we issued media releases.  We had open houses, and at any time, if I had -- my door was open.  People could come in.  I had my staff prepare our media releases.  I'm -- these are some of them, from 2013 to 2016 on, so just, I'll refer to the one -- just give me a minute, if I can find it here.  We make reference to update everybody that we are undergoing the RFI process.  Just see if I can find it.

Yeah, there is one in May 20th, 2015, and it starts:

"South Bruce gas initiative begins the next phase.  Yesterday the municipal councils of Kincardine, Arran-Elderslie, and Huron-Kinloss received the results of their confidential request for information process designed to solicit interest and identify potential partners to implement the proposed new natural gas distribution utility for South Bruce."

And so I really feel we had a very open and transparent process through -- and community engagement process through the whole five years, starting from 2011 right through til now, and our open houses people were free to ask questions.

There's, you know, unless certain information is totally confidential, but even when it was confidential through the RFI process, we kept everybody informed that it was going on, and the overall intent.

And so, you know, as I said, at any time I -- if there is somebody from the municipality of Kincardine, they could meet with me, and I'm sure if you are acting on behalf of Greenfield Ethanol, they were welcome to come in and ask questions anytime, and they did.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you for that.  Can I get you back to my original question, which is, can you show me where in the RFI there was a requirement to consult with major customers?

MAYOR EADIE:  We've been consulting with major customers all along.

MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say that there is no requirement in the RFI to consult with major customers?

MR. VELLONE:  The RFI is on the evidentiary record.  If Ms. DeMarco wants to make this point in argument she can, but I'm not sure my witnesses have it memorized.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm happy to redirect the question to Mr. Murphy.  It could be that I've missed it, but I could not find a requirement.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So the question is:  Is there a requirement?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you know if there is one?

MR. MURPHY:  I have no idea.  I'd have to read it again to find out if there is one.

MS. DeMARCO:  Could I get an undertaking from Mr. Murphy to do that, please?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  J3.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.13:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THERE IS A REQUIREMENT IN THE RFI TO CONSULT WITH MAJOR CUSTOMERS.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And respond to the question as to whether or not there is a requirement.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  Thank you.

I have one last question, which is one of, I believe, largely clarification.  And I'm not sure exactly who to direct this to you, but it's in relation to South Bruce's interrogatory response to Board Staff Interrogatory No.8.  And I believe it's Mr. Todd who indicates that there are not necessarily any changes required to EBO 188.

MR. TODD:  You are referring to Board Staff number 8 to South Bruce, which appears on page 21 and 22 of 77 in the package?

MS. DeMARCO:  Quite specifically, page 22 of 77 where you refer --


MR. TODD:  And you are probably referring to, on page 22, lines 7 and 8:
"Mr. Todd notes that the southern Bruce approach to system expansion by EPCOR to serve the southern Bruce region would neither require nor preclude changes to the EBO 188 criteria."

MS. DeMARCO:  Do I take that correctly to assume that no subsidies necessarily would be required, is that what I understand, if there is no change to EBO 188?

MR. TODD:  EBO 188, number one, does not preclude subsidies, it invents them.

Number two, we are talking about a stand alone company which doesn't have pre-established rates, so the whole structure of rates would be subject to determination, as I understand their proposal.

All of that would have to be determined, therefore it was not preconditioned on any changes to EBO 188, which is why I say it neither requires nor precludes.  It's an open question, as far as I know.

MS. DeMARCO:  And --


MR. TODD:  There may be legal elements to the documents that I missed.  But as far as I understood, there is nothing required one way or the other.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's quite helpful and thank you, Mr. Todd, for that because it helps me make sense now of -- I'm referring to Exhibit R13, South Bruce response to CCC number 3, which is located at pages 27 and 28 of 77, specifically at line 9 of page 28, where I understand that in response to questions about the EPCOR proposal, it indicates quite clearly that currently external funding will be necessary to support the expansion of distribution of natural gas into the franchised area represented by the municipalities.

So do I have it right there that --


MR. TODD:  Correct, there are many venues for subsidy, including government programs that had been announced.  There is no idea how much funding would go where, so the package, the end result package in part will be determined by this Panel, and in part will be determined by future government actions.

We do not know at this time, as far as I can tell.

MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say funding is required, but down at line 14, you just have no idea how much at this point?

MR. TODD:  Yes, funding will be required, I think that has been clear from day one on these projects, and that's why we have this hearing which is all about serving communities that are uneconomic to serve on a stand-alone basis.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.
Procedural Matters:

Just to canvass the remaining parties that are cross-examining, I understand from a travel perspective, that the three mayors could be finished off with the questioning today, that would be helpful.

Is that correct, Mr. Vellone?


MR. VELLONE:  That is correct.  They can also extend their hotel rooms if push comes to shove.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Murphy, Todd, and Mr. Bacon, you are all available if we went past today and you had to come back for a portion of tomorrow, or no?  Or some time before the end of Thursday?

MR. TODD:  I'm in Winnipeg Wednesday to Friday, but I can adjust my schedule tomorrow.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's attempt to plow through.

We have IGUA, the Ontario Geothermal Association, Schools, Union and VECC.

And so why don't we take a ten-minute break and resume.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:48 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:59 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Catching everybody off-guard there.  The clock has been giving us trouble all week.  It's four o'clock, according to somebody's watch here.  Okay.

Okay.  Mr. Mondrow, I believe you're up.

MR. MONDROW:  I think so, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

And just before I start, I want to put a marker on the record, which I hopefully won't have to call in, and indeed I may not have the chance anyway, depending on whether this panel finishes today, but I was trying to scribble furiously as Mr. Todd was giving us a very erudite response to his direct examination, and it just struck me that -- perhaps it is just all repackaged, but I found myself wondering, struggling to keep up, whether there were new concepts or opinions or views in there, and I won't know, of course, until I get a transcript, so I'm happy to proceed, and I realize Mr. Todd may not, in fact, be here tomorrow morning.


But I wanted to put that marker down, and if I review the transcript and think I can make the case that there was something new that I need to ask about for some burning reason I will be back to you on that, so I'm not asking for any relief at this point.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, we will be here too, so...

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I appreciate that, sir.  Thank you.

MR. TODD:  Can I use that in my CV that I am erudite?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, please.  And I would give you a personal reference to that effect, Mr. Todd, anytime.


MR. QUESNELLE:  The clock is ticking, gentlemen.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  My first question really is for the mayors, and it is for all or any of you.  I should introduce myself.  I'm sorry, my name is Ian Mondrow.  I am counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association, and I have the privilege or obligation of playing the heavy for a moment or two, and you will know why in a second based on this question.

You shared with us some very poignant stories about widows and layoffs and choices between gasoline or heat overnight for children, all I which I don't deny normally, my clients are very important, but it struck me that in large part your plea to this regulator here today is for a form of low-income assistance.  I think you actually said as much.

Is that a fair understanding of one of the main reasons you're here?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's part of it.

MR. MONDROW:  And another part of it is economic development initiatives, and you've talked about the industries and companies in your various municipalities.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so really you're asking this Board to deal with issues of the distribution of wealth across the province; is that right?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  No, and to give you an example, the -- for cross-subsidization, for example, a person paying $800 a month for electricity charges is, in fact, in my estimation subsidizing the rest of the electrical users around the province, and the benefits to all of the people of the province of Ontario for cross-subsidization is actually a savings, for example, the hospitals, the schools, our social housing in the county, our buildings, that is all being funded now by the taxpayers of Ontario, so I feel that it's not making people wealthier.  I think what it's doing is letting them have more choices with the money that's in their pocket rather than just paying it in electricity prices.

MR. MONDROW:  And so, in part, you're asking the Board through gas delivery rates to fix some of those economic distribution issues, quite fairly, perhaps, but you are asking the Board do some social policy-making and some social policy funding, it seems to me.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  I don't think we're asking the Board for that.  What we're asking for is just fairness within our communities that gives our taxpayers the opportunity of choice to help them offset some of their costs, and, I mean, at the municipal level we carry those costs.  When people can't afford to pay their taxes, we are the ones at the municipal level carrying those costs.

So, in essence, I guess maybe we are asking for help at the municipal level too, because energy and electricity is -- this hurts our community, so in all fairness it would benefit all of our taxpayers.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for that, sir.

Mr. Todd, I may have misheard you, but I thought at one point, not in your direct but subsequently in response to a question, I heard you say that part of the OEB's legislative requirement is to take into account government objectives; did you say that?  Did you mean to say that?

MR. TODD:  Yes, I meant to say that, and I -- my legal interpretation of legislation may be off, but I'm just trying to remember the latest version of the act.

There certainly have been, in the objective section of the act, section number 1, my recollection, subject to check, is that policy objectives of the government are there.  Now, I may be mixing up jurisdictions, and if I am I apologize for that.

MR. MONDROW:  No, that's okay.  But --


MR. TODD:  I just came from New Brunswick, and I know that they're there.

MR. MONDROW:  So I think it's actually section 2 deals with the gas objectives, but that's where you say this authority comes from?  If it exists in Ontario, that's where we would find it?

MR. TODD:  Well, if it is not there explicit in the legislation, in the review of decisions, policy objectives, that's part of the point of my evidence, that government policy objectives do inform decisions of regulators.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, but let's be really precise here, Mr. Todd.  You said, I think -- and you certainly just said you recall saying -- there's a legislative requirement of the Board to take into account the policy objectives of government.

MR. TODD:  I believe so, and if that was a misstatement I stand corrected.  It was in my head.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine, and I'm not giving evidence, but you think that if there is such a legislative requirement we'd find it in the section that deals with the objectives of this Board in respect of natural gas.

MR. TODD:  Yes, and -- if there is one for gas.  It may only be -- and maybe I'm thinking of in electricity.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  Thanks.

I'd like to go to page 55 of the BLG report, which is at -- the BLG report starts at Adobe 82 of South Bruce's main piece of evidence, Adobe page 82, and page 55 of the BLG report is at Adobe page 136, if my notes are correct.  It appears that they are.

And this page, as it's being pulled up on the screen, deals with Chapter 4 of the BLG report, and this is risk analysis.  And the first option whose risks are analyzed in this report are the Union option of the time.

And towards the bottom of the page there is a statement that I just want to ask about.  And the statement is:
"The heart of the problem is in the fact that the regulatory system at least as currently configured does not allow for the passing on to new gas customers the incremental cost of serving them on the existing system."

And am I correct -- and I'm not sure who will speak to the BLG report, but if one of you could -- am I correct that the Union and Enbridge proposals for expansion customer surcharges essentially, if accepted, would solve that basic problem?

MR. MURPHY:  I don't know if they'd solve it, but they would go in a long direction towards solving it.  The constraints on Union in the case that we were looking at was they had to take a look at expansions within the framework of fixed rates, the existing rates, for new customers and then determining the size of CIAC that would make the project economic.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. MURPHY:  And that meant that it was impossible really for the municipalities to see any progress in that respect, because they simply couldn't come up with that money.

If there was some flexibility on rate design so that they could charge part of the incremental cost to the new customers, that would alleviate at least part of the CIAC, so that kind of flexibility is what we were looking for, perhaps among other changes as well, that would give more scope to the -- to the distributor in coming up with different arrangements that might meet the needs of the new expansion areas.

MR. MONDROW:  So who would I ask if Southern Bruce as an entity supports Union and Enbridge's proposals in that respect?  Would that be the mayors?

MR. VELLONE:  We can deal with that in argument.

MR. MONDROW:  No, we are going to deal with it in a question.  You can refuse it, I suppose, but I don't think it is a matter of argument to get your position -- the position of your client, Mr. Vellone, which as I understand it is the coalition of these three --


MAYOR EADIE:  So could you just --


MR. MONDROW:  -- municipalities --


MAYOR EADIE:  -- clarify the question again?

MR. MONDROW:  Sure, and my question is whether Southern Bruce supports Union and Enbridge's proposals in respect of being able to charge the expansion customers, so the customers to be served by the gas distribution expansions surcharge to cover at least in part the costs associated with that expansion?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And in the EPCOR option, of course, the existing rates are not a constraint.  As I understand it, EPCOR would, if it proceeded to apply to the Board for rates based on its cost to serve and whatever those costs to serve would be, it would be subject to prudence of expenditure, it would have those rates.

So, in respect of the proponent you're going with, Mayor Eadie, we don't have that constraint.  So that's not a problem here, correct?

MAYOR EADIE:  No, I think whatever it would be across the board.  Whatever the -- if the costs or subsidies would apply to everyone.

MR. MONDROW:  Let's leave subsidies aside.

I pointed you in the BLG report to a significant problem that was identified, which was that Union and Enbridge can't charge the expansion customers a different rate from everybody else.  And Union and Enbridge have proposed to deal with that by charging a surcharge, and you've said you all right support that.

In respect of EPCOR, they don't have existing rates in the province, so that is not a constraint; that's all I'm trying to establish -- is that right, for the moment?

MAYOR EADIE:  If they -- well, I don't know.  It's up to the Board.  So you are trying to say like a surcharge wouldn't be an option?

MR. MONDROW:  It's irrelevant.  They will apply for rates to cover their costs.  There is no surcharge issue there.  They are not constrained, because they don't have existing rates.

MR. VELLONE:  In an effort to help, can you direct the question to Dr. Murphy?  Does it have to be Mayor Eadie to respond?

MR. MONDROW:  No, Dr. Murphy, you could respond.

DR. MURPHY:  Yes, that's the conclusion because restraint is eliminated on a stand-alone basis.  They would use the traditional cost of service approach and determine the rates.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.  Sorry, Mayor, I didn't mean to put you on the spot.

MAYOR EADIE:  That's okay, I was just trying to understand the question.

MR. MONDROW:  Please do. Fair enough.  But the problem with the EPCOR approach or the stand-alone rates, as I understand it, Dr. Murphy, is the resulting rates you fear will be exorbitantly high, exorbitant in the sense that you wouldn't get enough customer take-up.

MR. MURPHY:  That's the problem.  If the rates are too high that you can't encourage the conversions, because the savings levels are not adequate.  Then that's the limitation on upper rates and that has been a constraint in the analysis we have done so far.

MR. MONDROW:  And is that the savings level over the entire life of the customer, or life of the project, or is it a timing problem?

MR. MURPHY:  Usually a timing problem because the entity that is converting wants to see a payback in a specific period of time, and they have a short time horizon.  So that maybe a business might be prepared to wait for 15 years, but typically these companies want to see their money returned in a short period of time.

MR. MONDROW:  So I think it was you, Dr. Murphy, that answered or confirmed -- it might have been Ms. DeMarco that it's the Southern Bruce position that external funding will be required to have its gas distribution project proceed?

MR. MURPHY:  I don't know that.  I really don't know that.  It depends on what comes out of the analysis that EPCOR does.  They are actively involved in looking at this.

We were dealing with preliminary numbers, so they may very well solve the problem.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Could we go to the Southern Bruce response to CCC number 3, which you were taken to before?

I'm looking at the -- and part of this question and the answer – sorry, but this was a complicated question. But part of the question was this question about whether external funding would be required, and I took the first bullet to say yes.  But I take it, Dr. Murphy, that in fairness you'll have to see, depending on how the economics and the proposal shakes out.

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MR. MONDROW:  That's the evidence that you are going with?

MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.

MR. MONDROW:  You have to say yes, please, for the record.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, and there is beyond all this the so-called government funding that's out there that could be used in a variety of ways to help deal with the problem as well, so it is all undetermined.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  I was going to come to that, because the second part of that first bullet of the answer to this response says:
"The funding may come in the form of interim pipe tax relief."

That's a municipal solution, isn't it?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Are mayors of the municipalities prepared to do that?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, or it could come from the provincial tax base through subsidies or loan programs.  Dr. Murphy, two forms of that have now been announced.

MR. MURPHY:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  And the third is from rate base, and I take by rate base you are actually referring to subsidies from existing distribution customers.

MR. MURPHY:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  And in the case of the franchise agreement that you've now signed with EPCOR, that would be the distribution customers of the other entities, Enbridge and Union?

MR. MURPHY:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  Does it matter, mayors, which of those options is pursued, as long as the required assistance is delivered?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  No.

MAYOR EADIE:  We just want to get gas.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Mr. Todd, I want to come back to you for a moment.  If we could come to the Southern Bruce response to IGUA number 7 please.  So you've asked before, Mr. Todd, that would be page --


MR. TODD:  Forty-seven.

MR. MONDROW:  Actually 48, I believe, on my copy. In any event, as long as you've got it, it is response to IGUA number 7.

MR. TODD:  You're correct.  48.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Now the question was an attempt to explore a little bit the discussion in your current report, and the report filed as a stand-alone piece in this proceeding of the uniform transmission rate cost pooling.

And in response to our part (a) of our question, you refer to the benefit of to all Ontario electricity transmission users from the integrated transmission system.

You can help me with what you mean by integrated in that context?

MR. TODD:  If you set aside the diesel communities that are not transmission connected, the rest of the transmission grid is all connected.

It works together as a whole, including the various connections across the border to neighbouring jurisdictions.

MR. MONDROW:  Does the gas distribution system work like that on an integrated fashion in the manner you've just described it?

THE WITNESS:  There is not a funding mechanism that is comparable, but the gas system is interconnected.

MR. MONDROW:  But does it work together as integrated system?

MR. TODD:  No, it does not work together as an integrated system.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry to interrupt.  Thank you.

My last area, lady and gentlemen, Southern Bruce is advocating, as I understand it, mayors and Dr. Murphy, competition for gas expansion; is that right?

MR. MURPHY:  Well, it worked in our case.

MR. MONDROW:  You've offered it as a model to the Board.

MR. MURPHY:  We went through that process and the Board asked us to describe it, that it might be helpful to the Board.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, the Board asked to you describe it?

MR. MURPHY:  That was my understanding.

MR. MONDROW:  Really?  Okay.  Can you me to where that request came from?

MR. MURPHY:  Maybe I have that wrong.

MR. VELLONE:  It's outside of the witness's knowledge.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry?

MR. VELLONE:  It is outside of the witness's knowledge.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, Dr. Murphy said the Board asked them to describe it, so he's the one who made the statement.  I'm just asking where that comes from.  He has elaborated that he may be mistaken.  Maybe there is nothing else he has to say, but it is not a question of whether it is outside his knowledge.

MR. VELLONE:  I'll try to –

MR. MURPHY:  I should say that it was my understanding that the Board --


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  Thank you, sir.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you want me to try to answer the question?  I'm not giving evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Actually, Mr. Mondrow, I can shed some light on.  I think the Board did take an active engagement to make sure that municipalities across the province were aware of this, and I think in that context there may have been the actual notices that went out.  But communication with AMO, for instance, ongoing, as to okay, this is what this is about.

This is a, you know, something on the Board's own motion.  I think the Board was wanting to ensure they had people that had an interest to be here.  So I'm not sure if that's the -- I'm not positive that that's what brought the conversation on.  But I want to be very frank that we were engaged with municipalities in general to make sure they were here.

MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that, sir, thank you.  And no question that the municipalities have been invited and welcome to provide their perspectives, and I appreciate why that is.

But I asked a slightly different question, panel.  I asked whether Southern Bruce advocates competition, and I thought that's what your evidence said, that you are offering to the Board a model that you feel is a model they should consider.  Is that not the case?

MR. MURPHY:  I'll make a comment and then the mayors can correct it, if they see necessary.

We thought it was an effective procedure.  We did get various points of view.  At one point we seemed to be stuck with two models that didn't seem to lead in any direction, so we opened it up to alternatives.  We got new ideas, new participants, and, in fact, ended up choosing someone who we would not have contacted initially, who arose only because of the RFI.

So in our case it was successful.  And if that can carry over to other municipalities, then perhaps it is a model.

MR. MONDROW:  And so would Southern Bruce oppose any mechanisms that would compromise competition?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  No, no, I mean, we live this every day in tendering processes, that everything we do at the municipal level, we -- any big project, we have to go out to tender.  It's an open, transparent process, and that's how we're driven, and that's how we came to the point of going out for the RFIs, to see what was out there, what other companies are out there.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, so, sorry, maybe I misspoke myself, sir.  I asked whether a constraint on competition would be a problem from your perspective.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  A constraint on competition would not be --


MAYOR TWOLAN:  Oh, sorry, yes, yes, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  It would be a -- I took that from your answer.  No, that's okay.  Thank you.

So if the Board were to determine that it did not have authority -- and I'm not ask -- I won't ask you to comment on this, but if the Board were to determine that it did not have authority to order Union and Enbridge to collect funds from their customers and then contribute that to a universal service fund or some sort of cross-subsidy of Southern Bruce, for example, and were therefore left with the option of whether to let Union and Enbridge subsidize their own expansion or not let any subsidy occur, which of those two options would Southern Bruce recommend?

MAYOR EAGLESON:  What were the options again?

MR. MONDROW:  So one option is that Union and Enbridge can collect funds from their distribution customers to fund their own expansions, but they can't fund anyone else's expansion other than their own utility, and the other option is not to allow a subsidy at all.

Which of those two options would Southern Bruce endorse?

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Well, we may have three different opinions here.  I don't like either of your options.

MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate you don't.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  But the --


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for that.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Maybe -- I support Union and Enbridge on expanding their business and their lines in other areas of Ontario, and I guess I've said that before and maybe got in trouble because maybe you don't quite under -- because the geography is a little bit different, and Arran-Elderslie up at the top end, I've got gas in Tara, where I live through Union Gas, and for just a little bit of expansion, they can go north a few mile and service 60, 70 homes.  So I support their initiatives as well.

MR. MONDROW:  Even if it results in an anti-competitive position vis-à-vis EPCOR?  See, it's not an easy question, right?  That's why I'm asking you.

MR. MURPHY:  That's why it takes more than ten minutes to answer that question.

MR. MONDROW:  So that means I don't have time for your answer; is that what you're suggesting?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  I think in all fairness we as municipalities support cross-subsidize -- any means it takes to bring natural gas to our municipalities, I think we're open for business, and whoever that entity may be -- we're hoping it's EPCOR, but at the end of the day if it's not because of certain circumstances and the Board's direction, I guess that's the way we would have to go.

MR. MONDROW:  So mayors, if I could take you one last reference, please, to -- this is your evidence that you adopted today, and it is page 11 of your evidence.  Just give you a minute to turn that up, because I think it is important, and if you could go to the second-last paragraph on that page for me, please.

And this is the report in which you, as I read it, offer to the Board an example, a model of a process that you think is a good one and in the second-last paragraph you say:

"The process also pointed out the problem of the limitation of possible subsidization by other natural gas customers to current natural gas distributors, a restriction that would work against the entry of new participants in the market."

And I took that statement in your evidence to be that you would oppose that sort of restriction.  Did I misunderstand that statement?

MAYOR EADIE:  That's our position.

MR. MONDROW:  Did I misunderstand that?

MR. MURPHY:  No, you didn't.

The position there is that if there is such subsidization, it should be available to everybody in the market.

MR. MONDROW:  And if that's not legally possible, should it be available at all?  I know what you want.  I know you want it to be available to everyone, but if that's not possible, what's your position on subsidies --


MR. MURPHY:  Well, that's the difference --


MR. MONDROW:  -- from ratepayers, not -- I'm not talking about government funds, I'm not talking about municipal subsidies.

MR. MURPHY:  What you mean is if it's not possible to prevent the one from being able to participate, so the other two can still do it; is that right?

MR. MONDROW:  I'm not sure what you're asking me.

MR. MURPHY:  Well, what is your question?

MR. MONDROW:  My question is --


MR. MURPHY:  You say, if that's not possible.  What do you mean, the whole paragraph is not possible?

MR. MONDROW:  If it's not possible for the -- if the Board's persuaded, this Hearing Panel is persuaded, that it's not legally entitled to order Union and Enbridge to collect money to distribute to among other municipalities, the Southern Bruce municipalities, if they're not going to be served by Union or Enbridge --


MR. MURPHY:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  -- should there be subsidies through distribution rates at all, or should some other funding mechanism be viewed as more appropriate?

MR. MURPHY:  So they still can provide those subsidies to their own customers.

MR. MONDROW:  To their own customers.

MR. MURPHY:  And not the others.

MR. MONDROW:  Exactly.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  And that creates the philosophical problem, because some people are going to be better off because of that and someone is going to be worse off because of that.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. MURPHY:  If the majority of people are better off, is it good?  That's a welfare problem.  That's complicated.  It's not an easy answer to that.

MR. MONDROW:  But in any event, that sort of result would work against the entry of new participants.

MR. MURPHY:  It would, for sure.

MR. MONDROW:  And that in itself would be a problem.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much, lady and gentlemen.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. Shepherd?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I represent the Ontario Geothermal Association.  And I just have a few questions that are left over after my friends have done such a diligent job.

And I'll start with you, Mr. Todd.  In your direct evidence I wrote down that you -- you stated your opinion was that the Board had jurisdiction to establish a fund to support natural gas expansions by all entrants.

Did I misunderstand that?

MR. TODD:  I would not have spoken to jurisdiction.  That's not my -- I'm not a lawyer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not a lawyer, and you're not expressing any opinion on the Board's jurisdiction, are you?

MR. TODD:  No, I'm not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's excellent.

Then you also talked a little bit about the expansion of essential services into areas that don't have access to them; for example, basic telephone service or broadband or things like that, right?

MR. TODD:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In this example, is the basics -- the essential service, is it natural gas or is it energy?  Which is it?

MR. TODD:  That's the market definition, and having gone through a couple of competition issues, the definition of a market is the subject of courses in economics.  It depends on how you define the market.  You can define the market either way, frankly.  It depends on what purpose.  For purpose of this proceeding, the market is natural gas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  And that's exactly where I wanted to go, because in your cross-examination by my friend from Environmental Defence, I thought I heard you say that you didn't consider in doing this analysis, and it wasn't part of your scope, any options for energy services to these communities other than natural gas; right?

MR. TODD:  I wasn't considering natural gas as an option to these communities, in terms of, from an analytic basis.  I'm talking about -- the only point I was making was that regulators have flexibility, and it has been exercised in the past in terms of the way they proceed in this case, in general, in the way they proceed with subsidization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but the Chair asked you about least-cost planning, and you would agree that it's sensible, if you expand the concept of the essential service from natural gas to energy, that it's sensible for there to be a requirement that before you spend a lot of money to expand into an area, that you first do a least-cost planning to make sure natural gas is the best choice; right?

MR. TODD:  To achieve the same objective.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. TODD:  So in principle I agree with you.  The concern I expressed was natural gas is inherently being -- bringing service to a community.  The alternatives, the primary alternatives other than electricity, do not bring that alternative to a community.  They bring it to individuals.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, and I understand that I missed a discussion about geothermal while I was out coughing.  But for example, a district energy option for geothermal would accomplish the same goal, right?

MR. TODD:  Or what I mentioned was or if a proponent would come in and provide geothermal on a community basis, that could be a very comparable alternative.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Then I want to then go -- and this is probably still for you. but it may also be for Mr. Bacon.  Both of you have looked at subsidies to move into a new area, Mr. Bacon, using the rural rate assistance model, and yourself using the telecommunications model, right?

And I guess the government has announced a type of subsidy through their 200 million or 230 or whatever it is. What is it that makes you believe that some additional subsidies is appropriate beyond what the government has already said is appropriate?

MR. TODD:  I am not saying anything about what subsidies are appropriate.  That's a policy decision, not an analytical decision.  This Board is considering what it should do within the context of the existing EBO 188 rules, which could, by some of the proposals, lead to increased cross subsidies within the gas infrastructure and the gas  systems, which could be layered on top of the provincial subsidies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're not expressing an opinion on that?

MR. TODD:  I'm saying that would be a matter of policy from the government and this Board as to whether or not that is appropriate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Bacon, would you say the same thing?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I would.  Basically my proposal is A method to deal -- if the subsidy needs to be there -- my method -- my proposal would be a method to deal with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at some point, what the mayors are asking for is a form of subsidy.  I think one of the things you're asking for is a form of subsidy, some amount of money to help their municipalities get natural gas.  I think that's right, isn't it?

Who decides the amount?  Who should decide the amount?  I'm asking actually the experts first, but I'll ask the mayors as well.  Who should appropriately decide the amount?

MR. TODD:  There is a structure you need to put in place, that structure of rules will determine it.

Considerations are if you want to -- if the policy is we want to bring expansion to communities that are currently not served, a key consideration is that for gas to be economic to expand, you have to have a high enough penetration rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Uh-hmm.

MR. TODD:  To get a high enough penetration rate, you have to have a big enough differential between the existing alternatives and natural gas to make it worthwhile.

So you basically have to bring the cost of the expansion to a level where the rates that are being charged are -- will attract the kind of penetration that will make the system economic.

Remember, the basic backbone infrastructure of any system expansion is largely fixed.  Then you start connecting people, and yes, there's a cost to adding people to that system.  But the higher the penetration rate, the more of the potential customers sign up within some period of time, the more economic that basic backbone is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the implication of that is 200 million isn't enough, or might not be enough, so that Board should throw in whatever is -- whatever else is needed?

MR. TODD:  If the expansion is desirable from a public policy perspective, yes.  But that's a first question that has to be answered.

In the case of telecom and electricity, for example, there was a clear policy in place that said universal service is the goal.

We do not have universal itself as a goal in natural gas.  But what we do have is a provincial government policy around the funding which indicates there is a -- what seems to be a provincial policy that is important to bring natural gas to these communities.

These communities are saying that we will save -- our people in the community will save a lot of money, so there is a goal of making it economic, subject to various kinds of considerations which have been raised here.

The Board will have to decide what the constraints are that may limit the communities that receive gas service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to circle back to my original question, which was who should decide.  And the reason I ask the question is because some would argue that the government's already decided.  This is worth $200 million, done; we've already told you what the number is.

MR. TODD:  I would say the government has decided it is worth 250 of taxpayer's money.

There is already a subsidy mechanism in place for ratepayer money to subsidize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh is, there?

MR. TODD:  EBO 188.  The last four system expansion projects the people all won, because of their subsidies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Only if the portfolio is at 1, right?

MR. TODD:  Yes, but projects are subsidized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want to turn to the mayors.  There is obviously a policy issue here, should the Board order a subsidy of expansion into your community or any other community, or should they leave that to the government.

You'll understand that.  I mean, you are in government, and you have to deal with those things all the time.  What's your view on who should make that policy decision?  How much should we spend?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's a good question, because I have spoken to a lot of mayors around the province and, you know, I've talked to the mayor of Terrace Bay who said it would cost millions of dollars to bring natural gas to his community, just as an example.

I am pro-geothermal, just so you know.  We, along with a developer here in Kinloss, have a 144-lot subdivision that is on geothermal, so we are open for business for all energy.

But who should make that decision with regards to -- I think it's got to be a little bit of both, the government and the Board.  I think that would be my opinion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do either of the other mayors want to comment?

MAYOR EADIE:  I agree.  I don't think that's our decision.  The Premier, in her letter -- I was just looking at it here, and she says: "Your goal is to provide..."

This is to Brad Duguid:
"Your goal is provide consumers in under-serviced consumers more energy choices, make commercial transportation more affordable, attract new industry to Ontario, and benefit our agricultural producers."

So it's that level of government and the Ontario Energy Board, I feel that's their decision to work it out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's sort of why I asked the question, because the Premier sent a letter to her minister in the government saying your goal is to do this.

I didn't see any similar letter to the Ontario Energy Board, did you?

MAYOR EADIE:  Well, the Ontario Energy Board, when they sent out their letter in -- what date was this? -- in February, they are supporting it.  You know, they reiterate that the provincial government has set out a goal of ensuring that Ontario consumers and communities that currently do not have access to natural gas are able to share in affordable supplies of natural gas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have two more questions.  The first relates to -- you are being cross-examined by Greenfield, which is in your community, right?  And so all of us who are not in the community are like aren't they on the same page here?

Am I right that the rates that Greenfield would pay under the EPCOR deal would be significantly higher than if Union came in under their current proposal before the Board?  Is that right?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does anybody know what that difference is, or has that been estimated at any amount?  Sorry, I didn't hear an answer.

MR. MURPHY:  I don't know.  I don't know those rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know the Union rates, or you don't know the EPCOR rates?

MR. MURPHY:  I don't know either rates that would be charged to Greenfield.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't give a franchise agreement to EPCOR without some estimates of rates, did you?

MR. MURPHY:  I didn't give a franchise agreement to anybody.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but the mayors did; I'm looking at them.

MR. MURPHY:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had some estimates of rates, right?

MAYOR EADIE:  But they are just estimates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us what they are?

MAYOR EADIE:  Not off-hand.

MR. VELLONE:  Jay, that was one of the disputed interrogatories.  I think we've covered that ground.  We weren't going to talk about the specific proposals and the rate proposals in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what I understood, but all right.

Can you tell us -- here's a different way of approaching it, because I'm trying to get a sense of what this means to customers.  You've got a customer -- your biggest customer, in fact, right, Greenfield?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is opposing what you want to do because they want lower rates.  How many dollars are involved here?  Can you give us a sense?  Is this a lot of money?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  I don't know.  I can't answer that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then my last question is -- relates to the types of structures that would be suitable in a framework that the Board would consider.

The arrangement you have with EPCOR -- and I don't want the details, I'm just -- I'm looking at concepts here -- has a number of payments back and forth; right?  It has some upfront payments from you to them, likely; is that right?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  We have a confidential agreement with EPCOR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking concepts only; I'm not asking dollars, just concepts.

MR. VELLONE:  Repeat the question, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it has payments by the municipalities to EPCOR, like contributions in aid of construction, in effect?

MR. VELLONE:  So you are asking questions, I guess, about a specific franchise agreement that's before the -- a different Board panel in a different application?

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm asking about is the concepts that would be appropriated in the framework this Board's established.  As I see it, you have payments from the municipalities to EPCOR, you have payments from EPCOR to the municipalities in the form of taxes or not, and you have payments to the municipalities as some sort of royalty, and that back-and-forth is part of how a selection takes place, but those dollars matter, and they matter in the context of a net present value to your ratepayers of $27 million a year.

And so I'm trying to get a sense of what worked here, conceptually only, not the dollars, so that the Board can understand what sort of package should -- or what sort of limits should they put around what's appropriate.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vellone, to the extent that the Board in its decision did say we were going to be informed by areas without getting into the merits of them, fully recognize that we do have an application before the Board in another forum, and that's why we decided what we did in the scoping of -- and the request for further responses, but I think what Mr. Shepherd is asking is conceptually what should -- or should -- what should be considered by this Board now in determining what a framework would be on a go-forward basis.

So I think to the extent that we could answer directionally, that would be informative.

MR. VELLONE:  So I guess my question would be, should we do that not by way of argument, and his client can respond in responding submissions?  We're not putting forward the negotiated arrangement between the parties as a framework.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Recognizing that, but there are components which I think Mr. Shepherd has just articulated, that there are certain categories of a way an arrangement can be landed on, and I think that's informative from a framework perspective to this Panel.

I don't know that -- and argument can follow, it is just a -- it's  factual request for information.

MR. VELLONE:  Go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm asking:  Does it include each of those three categories:  Payments to the proponent, capital payments, if you like, some arrangements on municipal taxes in which they're -- they're reduced or they're paid back, and some form of royalty arrangement?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does it include all three of those?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MAYOR EADIE:  Excuse me, I just wanted to ask something.  What was the first thing you said?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Capital payments to the proponent from the municipality.

MAYOR EADIE:  No, capital payments to the proponent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, upfront payments to the municipality.  Or to the -- sorry, to the proponent.

MR. VELLONE:  I think they're confused.  I believe the answer is no.  You can confirm if you want.

MAYOR EADIE:  Pardon?

MR. VELLONE:  There is no capital payment going from the municipalities to the utility.  There is none.

MAYOR EADIE:  Yeah.  That's what I thought he said --


MR. VELLONE:  I think the answer is no.

MAYOR EADIE:  -- from the municipalities to the utility, if there are capital payment?

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's no capital payments.

MR. VELLONE:  The other two are correct.  The first one was incorrect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then how does the -- how does the provincial money get to the bottom line?

MR. VELLONE:  I'm not sure the mechanics have been worked out, Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would have to go through the municipalities; right?

MR. VELLONE:  We don't know.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I suppose to the extent that there has been no agreement on that because there is no confirming -- nothing confirming that there will be provincial money; is that the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand correctly then -- your first answer I understood completely.  Now I don't understand it.  I understand correctly that some form of capital payments has to be made, or there -- the project is not viable; is that right?  I think Mr. Murphy said that.

MR. MURPHY:  I said I didn't know, because I had not seen the latest economics done by EPCOR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But on the original numbers that's --


MR. MURPHY:  On the original numbers that we looked at in the business case, that was true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

Mr. Rubinstein or Mr. Smith, want to have a quick conversation here.  I provided assurance that we'd be out by 5:00.  Mr. Smith, do you have a hard time that you have to leave?

MR. SMITH:  I do.  I have a childcare responsibility.  I have to leave at 5:00.  I'm sorry.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubinstein, are you free to let Mr. Smith go first?  Yeah?  Great.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, members of the Board, I really appreciate it.

Panel, my name is Crawford Smith.  I'm one of the lawyers for Union Gas.  I have a few questions for you, and I just wanted to follow up on where you started off today, and also some questions by Mr. Mondrow and Mr. Shepherd, if I could.

So I take it, Mayors, the thrust of your evidence is not having access to natural gas today is disadvantageous to your residents and businesses.

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And what you mean by "disadvantageous" is it's the energy alternatives that your residents and businesses are using now are more expensive than natural gas.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And the lower the price of natural gas the better from your residents' and businesses' perspective; correct?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you would expect that to be true of the residents of any municipality that isn't presently served by natural gas.  In other words, your concerns are shared by mayors of other municipalities.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  They want natural gas, and the less expensive the better.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it the residents and businesses are also concerned with reliability of natural gas supply?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes, the liability of any supply.

MR. SMITH:  And the more reliable the better, correct?

MAYOR EADIE:  The more reliable the better.

MR. SMITH:  And that's true for safety and quality of service as well.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  The safer and higher quality service the better from your residents' and businesses' perspective, correct?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And those I take it are -- would be your concerns as well, and I take it you would agree that they would also be appropriate concerns for this Board; correct?

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you may or may not be aware of this, but Mr. Todd will certainly be aware of it and Mr. Bacon will be aware of it.  Coming out of this proceeding you have a franchise approval application, and that is a proceeding that is governed by the Ontario Energy Board; you're aware of that.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you are aware that it is also the Board's responsibility to set just and reasonable rates.

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So from the Board's perspective, the Board should be concerned about making sure that the distributor is the low-cost provider; correct?  Let's back it up.  Your residents and businesses want the lowest-cost natural gas service possible; correct?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the Board wants that as well; correct?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the Board has to approve the franchise agreement; correct?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the Board has to set just and reasonable rates; correct?

MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So the Board needs to set its objective to set the lowest cost rate or the lowest cost provider possible; correct?

MAYOR EADIE:  Yes, that's part of it. But we also want natural gas to all three municipalities.


MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  You want -- the Board's objective should be the lowest cost distribution option, fair?


MAYOR EADIE:  As long as it's to all three municipalities.


MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  And the safest, highest quality, most reliable service as well, correct?


MAYOR TWOLAN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And in order to make that decision, the Board has to have available to it the information of the distribution options that have been considered by the municipalities, correct?


MAYOR EADIE:  Are you referring to our Union Gas option and to the Northern Cross?


MR. SMITH:  Here's the problem.  Let me lay it out.  You have signed a franchise agreement -- let me back up a step further.


As I understand your answers to Mr. Mondrow and the thrust of your evidence, it is to talk about the benefits of the competitive RFP process, correct?


MAYOR TWOLAN:  Correct.


MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And Mr. Todd talked about the benefits of competition and competitive bidding in his examination-in-chief; you will recall that as well.

But ultimately, it's the Board and not the municipality that has to approve the franchise agreement and rates.  You understand that?


MAYOR EADIE:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And in order to make an informed decision as to whether or not the distributor that the municipality has chosen is in fact the best provider for the residents and businesses, the Board has to have the underlying information from the RFP process, doesn't it?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vellone?


MR. VELLONE:  I'm struggling with this.  We're waiting until what's the Board's legal test for a certificate of public convenience and necessity, and what type of evidence does the Board Panel --


MR. SMITH:  I don't think that this is complicated at all.  We're talking about a framework where what is being put out is the benefit of an RFP process.  Except at the end of the day, it's the Board that has to make a decision on the franchise and the rates.


And nobody is going to dispute that the Board is most qualified to make that decision.  And of course, as I've asked the witnesses, in order to make that decision, the Board has to have the relevant information.  Otherwise, it's operating at an informational disadvantage.


MR. QUESNELLE:   Ultimately --


MR. SMITH:  That's simply my question.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So the answer to this question would assist you in framing an argument that would say what, Mr. Smith?  Is it the notion of what is required in the framework itself as far as franchise allotments?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, the question for the witnesses is:  Do they agree that it should be a requirement of the framework that the municipality that is granted the franchise agreement also provide in the franchise application, in confidence if necessary, the response information it has received to the RFP process, including any rate information.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vellone.


MR. VELLONE:  Do you understand the question?


MAYOR EADIE:  Well I -- sorry, this -- not really. But my understanding was that the detailed information would be at a separate hearing when --


MR. VELLONE:  Let me try to rephrase.  I think I do understand the question.


MAYOR EADIE:  Not a generic.


MR. VELLONE:  Do you think that the municipalities would have to file the proposals received in response to your RFI as part of a franchise agreement application, yes or no?


MAYOR EADIE:  Sorry, say -- I can hardly hear you.


MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, I'll try again.  Do you think the municipality should have to file before this Board the responses it received to the RFI process, the proposals you received to the Energy Board as part of an application to the OEB to approve a franchise agreement, yes or no.


MAYOR TWOLAN:  No, because we had confidentiality agreements with all the proponents.


MR. SMITH:  And there's the problem.  So if I understand your evidence then, what you're saying is that the Board, which has a statutory objective to protect customers with respect to price, service and quality of the supply or distribution of natural gas, would not have available to it the information as to those topics provided by the respondents to the RPF processes.  Is that your evidence?


MR. VELLONE:  We're into argument about what might go on in the specific franchise agreement applications before the Panel.


MR. SMITH:  I just want to make sure that I understand what their evidence as to what should be included in the framework.  And if I understood their evidence, the evidence is that they would object to that information being provided.


MR. VELLONE:  That's our understanding.


MR. MURPHY:  If I could just offer, in the case of sale of electricity distribution companies when it's done through an RFP, it's done on a confidential basis.  A winner is chosen, and that winner has to get approval from the Board.


The Board has the same obligations that you've just mentioned and it does so without having access to all of the submissions of all of the other participants.

I don't understand why that information is necessary.


MR. SMITH:  As I understood the evidence, sir, from the witnesses, the reason they want the subsidy from other ratepayers is because their customers want the lowest cost natural gas available.  And the only way to ensure that happens is that the party with the statutory obligation to discharge that will not have the -- is not going to have the information, and therefore it can't ensure that that customer-driven desire is met.


We can say save this for argument.  Let me ask this question: Does EPCOR have the information with respect to the other respondents?


MAYOR EADIE:  No.


MAYOR TWOLAN:  No.


MR. SMITH:  So if the question was asked of EPCOR by way of an interrogatory in those subsequent proceedings, they could answer that they don't have the information.


MAYOR EADIE:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  So it is only you who has the information.


MR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Rubenstein?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  Right here in the back.


My name is Mark Rubenstein and I'm counsel to the School Energy Coalition.  I wanted to ask you about the process.  I want to understand what information at a very  -- at a conceptual level you looked at, what the considerations.  If this Board is going to use the RFI -- a competitive process which you said was a success in your case, I just want to understand that a little bit more.


I have prepared a compendium, a short compendium of materials.  I'm not sure if the panel has them.


MR. MILLAR:  We have copies here, Mr. Chair.  Let me give it an exhibit number.  It is K3.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF SEC FOR SOUTH BRUCE PANEL 1


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just to confirm what I understood from the evidence earlier today, without some form of subsidy regime being set up, without some form of taxpayer subsidies, not just ratepayer subsidies, some other aspect, there will be no natural gas in your community.  There needs to be some added funding for it to be -- for EPCOR or any one else to have a viable -- to create a viable natural gas system in your community; do I understand that?


MR. MURPHY:  That's where we ended up at the end of the business case.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that still the case?


MR. MURPHY:  Don't know.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 4 of the compendium?  This is from your evidence.  Beginning on page 4 and going to page 7 -- sorry, page 6, you talk about the various benefits of the competitive solicitation process; do you see that?


MR. MURPHY:  Uh-hmm.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In general terms, were those the same things that you considered when you were determining who the successful proponent would be?  Were those the factors that you looked at to determine which one should be selected or not?

MR. MURPHY:  They're not exact, but they're similar.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So they were similar things that you looked at?  And was it a subjective process or was it an -- did you set out objective criteria beforehand or was it, taking in all the information, what do we think is the best proponent?

MR. MURPHY:  You are talking about the beginning of the RFI process now?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  The criteria that we used at that point were largely directed towards determining their qualifications, okay?  And having done that, the next phase, bury down into the project itself and explore their familiarity with these types of projects in some detail.  And then there was a third phase, where there was a face-to-face interview, and then we got even more detail on the project itself, so it got progressively more specific as we went through the process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the evidence discusses, I believe -- EPCOR provided a phase 1 and a phase 2 submissions.  I'm not asking you about what they provided in there.

How does that match with the different phases you're talking about?

MR. MURPHY:  In the first one they simply described who they were, what their financial capabilities were, what sorts of projects they had done internationally, what their ownership structure was, that sort of thing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then when you got to the -- in the details, the later phases where you --


MR. MURPHY:  We were looking for load forecast, we were looking for estimates of rates, we were looking for system designs, those sorts of things.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you looked at rates?

MR. MURPHY:  The first estimates were rates, yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you consider that a primary factor or a secondary factor?

MR. MURPHY:  It was in a very preliminary state, because when they estimated the costs they were preliminary costs, and you must understand that there is a high degree of variability with capital expenditure costs at this stage of the process.  Once you sign a memorandum of understanding with them, then they allocate resources to it, because it is very expensive to do that.  And then you'll get more fine-tuned costs.

So these costs were at levels where the uncertainty was like up and down 25, 30 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, this is not in my compendium, but in your -- it was discussed earlier on today, but in your response to CCC 3 when you were asked about how much funding is needed, the second bullet point in the response -- and I'm not sure if that's -- that could be brought up or not -- I'll just read it:

"The actual level of external funding required is not known to the municipalities at this time.  It depends on a number of unknowns, including actual solutions being proposed, the costs at the time of construction, the assumptions about uptake, among other things."

So stop you there.  I would have thought that would have been in the RFI process.  You would -- someone would have proposed the solution.  They would have proposed an uptake.  But it seems there was not actually much detail about that.

MR. MURPHY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So really, it was very hard to get a sense of what the rates are at that point; is that fair?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, not until we got into stage 2 did we start getting into rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I want to talk about -- I'm not -- let's put aside phase 1, phase 2.  I'm talking about where you are picking the last proponents.  That's phase 3.

I would have thought a number of the things that are listed here, which you seem -- which are currently unknowns, you would have had more information at that time about; am I correct?

MR. MURPHY:  What stage are we at now?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think you call it phase -- stage 3.  I --


MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  We're at the end.  All right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You have a couple of proponents who have provided you details.

MR. MURPHY:  Yep.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to understand how you chose the proponent.  And this interrogatory makes it seem like you still have a lot of unknowns, so if that's the case, how did you -- what -- on what basis were these rates selected?

MR. MURPHY:  Well, I won't get into the details of it, but we did have a series of criteria for the selection of the preferred candidate, and we'd gone through that and reached a consensus on those criteria and a ranking of those criteria.  Then they were applied to each of the cases.

Rate was one consideration, flexibility in terms of ownership, comprehensive coverage of the entire area was another, those sorts of things, so there were a series of rates that we used to do the final selection.  And rates was part of that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me understand the importance, why was flexibility of ownership a relevant consideration?

MR. MURPHY:  It was important to some of the municipalities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let me back up.  Can you explain what you mean by "flexibility of ownership"?

MR. MURPHY:  Some wanted to participate and others did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And when you were looking at the proponents -- I want to understand the frame that you were looking at.  Were you looking at what was the best interest of the natural -- of what would be the new natural gas ratepayers of your municipalities, or were you looking at what was in the best interest of the municipality?

MR. MURPHY:  All of those things were part of the criteria.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to tell me which one was more or less important between those two?

MR. MURPHY:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you this:  If the Board has to make a determination, if it's going to mandate an RFI process, do you have any views of what the Board should require?  Should the Board require that it's in the best interest of the -- would be the ratepayers, or what would be the best interest of the municipality?

MR. MURPHY:  Oh, I don't know.  The Board will do what it does.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm asking you -- let me ask the mayors.  You are representing the -- those municipalities.  There's supposed to be a framework to determine, what do you think -- what lens should the Board require of the municipalities, that they look --


MR. MURPHY:  I'll let you ask the mayors that.

MAYOR EADIE:  So I'm kind of confused, because we represent the ratepayers.  We're kind of one and the same.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I --


MAYOR EADIE:  And the customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can I ask you to turn to page 7 of my compendium?  And you had this conversation a little bit with Mr. Cass on behalf of Enbridge, but this interrogatory you were asked about, I'm not asking the Board to take a position.  I just want to understand this.

You were asked about essentially, if my understanding of the -- that EPCOR will pay essentially 1 percent of gross distribution revenues to the municipality.  You were asked here about what the purpose of that and what the benefits were of that.

And I want to understand, what's the benefit of ratepayers of having the successful proponent pay some form of money to the municipality?  I understand the benefit to the municipality, but from the ratepayer's perspective.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  From the gas user's perspective?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Well, to me it's one and the same.  They are a member of the municipality, that hopefully it will offset their taxes or keep their taxes from going up, so maybe it's out of a different pocket, but we're talking about the same person.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So to you, the municipal taxpayer is the same thing as the ratepayer?

MAYOR EAGLESON:  Not in all cases, but the ones that are off the -- buy into the gas, it's the same person, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But not always, it is not always the same.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  No, we have rural people that won't be able to access gas.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 10 of the compendium.  This is an EPCOR response.  And we asked EPCOR -- and this is -- I'll just take you to the last sentence of the interrogatory:  Will EPCOR seek to recover the annual fee from ratepayers or will that be a shareholder expense?  And EPCOR's supplementary response was, on the second sentence:
"The answer is that EPCOR intends to apply to the Board to recover that cost of the franchise fee in rates."

So that means, at least how I understand it, that ratepayers will pay for that fee.  Do you think that's appropriate?

[Board Panel confers]

MR. MURPHY:  Yeah, I don't have an opinion one way or the other.  It is up to the Board to decide.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, do the mayors?  Do you think that's appropriate?  They are paying you the monies.

MAYOR EADIE:  That's up to the Board to decide, as far as I'm concerned.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You don't have an opinion if it's appropriate or not that that should be paid from ratepayers, not from, say, the shareholder of EPCOR?

MAYOR EAGLESON:  I'm okay with it being appropriate, but there is another reason for that, which at this time is still confidential.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm sorry, can you -- I didn't catch the first -- I catch that it's confidentially.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  It is okay if the gas user is – if their fees are 1 percent more to contribute the 1 percent of the gross to the -- to all the taxpayers in the municipality?  Is that the question?  Do I understand the question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, essentially, I want to understand -- the proposal, as I understand it, from EPCOR is that they're going -- they have an agreement they're going to pay 1 percent of the gross revenues that they get to the municipalities, and they are going to seek to recover that 1 percent from the ratepayers.  So the ratepayers in your community will be paying a little bit more and I want to understand do you think that's appropriate.

MAYOR EAGLESON:  I think that decision is the Board's, between EPCOR and the Board.

MR. VELLONE:  I don't know if it's helpful, if I can interrupt just for a moment?

There is a -- there was a quid pro quo that occurred and I think that's what the mayor was referring to.

The municipalities gave up their municipal pipe tax and got a 1 percent franchise free fee back.  I think that's what he was referring to.  Is that helpful?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me clarify.  Is that essentially --

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chair, if I can interrupt for just a moment?

We were very judicious and disciplined.  There have been so many questions that my client would have loved to ask along these lines on the scoping, and at the beginning of this panel, we were very up front in terms of trying to be respectful.

If the Panel is open to these type of questions, I will throw a marker down, to use Mr. Mondrow's term, to indicate that we would love to ask similar questions.

MR. VELLONE:  And how far do we let this go, right?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Are you afraid that it has gone too far, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  I am, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You could have said something earlier.

MS. DeMARCO:  We believe that is very appropriate if that's the case.  So to the extent that others have --

MR. QUESNELLE:  To extent that we are still receiving information, I mentioned to you we don't have a bright line demarcation on this, obviously.

These are informative from the components of a framework that could be put together, and I don't think we've gotten into the details.  We've talked about categorization, components of the agreement and to the extent we're being informed about that, that's as far as we can go.

But, Mr. Vellone, if you feel that we're going beyond -- it's a -- the comfort level of your client is part of this, and I recognizing that we're dealing with some of the experts that do not have as much information or knowledge around rate base questions and what have you, and some of them have been going to the funding mechanisms that go to that.

So if you could perhaps let us know if there are areas there that are -- two things, both beyond level of expertise and if these are getting into areas that you feel are compromising the actual negotiations themselves, or that are exposing areas of negotiations that shouldn't have been disclosed --

MR. VELLONE:  We will do that, if and when they arise.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you. Mr. Rubinstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to clarify what you mean when you say the pipeline tax.  Is essentially what was given up essentially the incremental taxes that would flow to the municipalities because of the pipelines that they would lay, essentially the equivalent of the incremental tax equivalent that have been put forward by Enbridge and Union?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, are you talking about in kind or in quantum?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In kind.  I just want to clarify the --

MR. VELLONE:  Isn't this for the franchise agreement application that's before the other panel?

We are getting into the details of the negotiation, the quid pro quo that occurred.  It is that other application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I didn't raise it.  I just want to clarify what the witness said when I asked if it was appropriated to have essentially a franchise free paid from  ratepayers –

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the framing of those questions should be should be what is in your agreement from a component perspective.  Whether or not they feel there should be something be or shouldn't be -- this was brought forward to us, I think, and this is why the panel felt it was informative.  It is the result of something that went on, and I think we were quite specific in our decision that we didn't want to get into the recent negotiations deeply that we were swayed by, okay, what's are the merits of this the negotiations and the outcome.

But I think to the extent that we can ask the questions, are there components of your agreement that do X, Y or Z, or what's the elements of it, I think that's fair and I think that's what we've been getting on the record.

But is it appropriate to have one or the other, I think is going beyond what we need.  If you feel it is or isn't, Mr. Rubenstein, you can put it into argument.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just don't where we sit on the question I was asking about -- is what you are speaking of the same things as an incremental.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And I want to make sure what we're talking about that as in kind and not in quantum, because I think that's a fair question.

MR. VELLONE:  Repeat the question for the benefit of the witness.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The witness said at the end that it was quid pro quo, and that it was foregoing the pipeline tax, I think was the language used.

Is that equivalent to what we've been talking about With respect to Enbridge and Union's proposals for an incremental tax equivalent?  Is that what we've been talking about?

MAYOR EADIE:  We don't know.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do the other witnesses on the panel know?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  They don't know.  I do, and it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  And the last question I have on this area --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco, yes?

MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, I'm struggling to be very responsible with your time.  I know how constrained it is. But certainly as the counsel to the largest singularly affected consumer, we would have loved to have the opportunity to ask specific questions as to the components as they apply to any framework, particularly given that this is the only customer individually at its own cost before the Board right now.

So to the extent --

MR. QUESNELLE:  I took it that those were the types of questions that you were asking and you got answers to, Ms. DeMarco.

If you are feeling that you didn't go deep enough, I'm afraid that – you know, we can't go back and say, well, all right, someone went slightly deeper than I did, and I want another opportunity.  We'll be here for three days.

I think that for you client, I think you've probably got sufficient enough to make arguments.  And I remind everybody about the process of argument that we have here. Put forward an argument, and you will get a response to it.

Everybody is getting two rounds to this, so I think that to the extent that we should have the capacity to address issues that are important to your client going forward.

MS. DeMARCO:  I just want the record to reflect that as we did in the early stages, we drew a bright white line between what was in the municipal franchise agreement and what was out.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And as I mentioned earlier today, we don't have that capacity to do that on this exact issue and we'll have to feel our way through it, and I'm satisfied that we have been doing that.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm done with my questions for the municipal witnesses, the mayors.  So I don't know if you want me to continue with my --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, please do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Todd, you were discussing and I'm -- I forget with who, but you talked about how when you were discussing various subsidy regimes they need to be -- I think you were specifically talking about the high serving area CRTC subsidy, that it needs to be customer-focused; do you recall saying that?

MR. TODD:  I don't know if I said that specifically about the HCSA mechanism.  But yes, you want the mechanism to be customer-focused.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain what you meant by that exactly?

MR. TODD:  One of the goals of this Board is to ensure that it is providing not only what, in its judgment is, in the interest of customers, but in fact what customers want.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you think that has to be from the perspective of the customers, or from the perspective of -- let me rephrase.

In a competitive environment where the process, at a municipal level is through a competitive selection process, would you say the same thing about the municipalities, that they need to look at it through a customer-focused lens in choosing a competitor -- sorry, a proponent, if there will be a subsidy regime that they know will attach to it?

MR. TODD:  I have difficulty with some shoulds, but let me say that in my advice to the First Nations clients in Manitoba and in through their lawyers to the CRTC, say the customers, which in that case are tribal counsels, should have control of their own fate and they should have the ability to influence the choice of service provider.

I won't go into the details there, but there are many reasons why a local community should control its own fate and that's -- I guess that generalises.  If somebody is recognized as a responsible voice for a local community, they should certainly have a major role, in my view, in being able to control the outcome of the process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me posit this to you:  If the Board says we like the competitive process, we think it's beneficial, and because there is a subsidy regime that flows to the successful proponents of this, we want to mandate it, should the Board set, in your expert opinion, specific criteria that a municipality must consider?

MR. TODD:  I don't see how they can do that.  The Board can identify criteria that it will consider when it has a hearing on a franchise agreement or a Leave to Construct application, and that should be transparent so everybody knows what hurdles have to be met.

I don't -- you know, subject to legal opinions, I don't see how the Board would be telling a municipality, for example, in a particular case how they should run their RFP. That is implicitly done by setting their own rules.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Put aside the legal question.  I accept that that exists, and that will be dealt with in argument.  But just conceptually here, the Board, either directly or indirectly, says that it likes these processes and it wants to mandate them in its findings under issue, I believe, 9.  Should there be specific requirements?

MR. TODD:  There would be specific requirements to meet the Board's criteria, and any opponent, any municipal council, any representative of the community that did not respect the Board's criteria would be at risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If the Board sets up a subsidy regime, jurisdictional-wide subsidy regime, either Mr. Bacon's proposal or some other similar proposal, do you think it's then appropriate that a subsidy going from customers around the province to a specific utility, some amount of that money goes from the utility in the form of a franchise fee or similar type unit?

MR. TODD:  I do not see any reason why the Board -- and when I speak I speak from the perspective of regulatory principles -- I do not see any reason why the Board would say on that criterion alone, if you have that payment, it fails.

The Board will have its criteria, and it may be the least cost solution, for example.  If the least cost solution includes a payment to a municipality, that's an issue for the proponents and the municipality.  Whether or not that's recognized in rates is a totally different question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And finally, there was a lot of -- I'm not sure if you listened to the testimony of the last -- last week with LEI.  There was a lot of discussion with questioning with LEI about the benefits of, say, a jurisdiction-wide subsidy model and a -- within a utility subsidy model, and LEI spoke a lot about the administrative burdens of a jurisdiction-wide -- I would assume the costs and the regulatory burden in doing that, and that's a reason why because the cost to the individual customers may be very low, it's not worth the burden.

And I want to -- can you talk and let me first ask, Mr. Bacon, your proposal.  Can you talk about what the administrative burden would be of your proposal?

MR. BACON:  I actually don't see it as very high, because I'm going back to my experience when we did rural rate assistance at Ontario Hydro, and it was basically a formula.

And the administrative burden was minimal, probably one person's a month -- a person month (sic) dealing with it at the time of setting the rates.  Once you set the formula it's pretty straightforward to administer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And Mr. Todd, with respect to your experiences and your knowledge of what -- the CRTC model, can you talk about the administrative burden with that?

MR. TODD:  Yes, in that case there is evidence put on the record by AAC, which is a consumers coalition -- I forget exactly what it stands for -- by an expert who has set up for telecommunications these kinds of regimes around the world, and he specifically addresses -- quantifies the administrative costs across jurisdictions which are quite variable, and his conclusion, as part of the recommendations, is that -- should I say, it's not a show-stopper.  I mean, it is a consideration.  There are some administrative costs.

If everything else was absolutely equal, then that may be a factor.  I think the -- his evidence -- and I concur with that evidence -- is that the benefits of a competitive process are likely to outweigh the administrative costs, and I would put the burden of proof on those who were claiming the administrative costs are large enough to be a problem.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Thank you, Mr. Janigan?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Panel, my name is Michael Janigan.  I represent the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.  I have a compendium which I believe has been placed before the panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K3.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF VECC FOR south bruce PANEL 1.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't think we have it, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  I have it.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm grateful for my friends for canvassing in the areas that I was to touch upon.

Let me first deal with your issue of flexibility of ownership that you attempted to deal with in your RFI.

Based on your experience, should the Board revise policy to consider ownership of a utility as a relevant issue?  This was -- or is this something that was simply a consideration based on your particular circumstances?  Are you capable of commenting on that?

MAYOR EADIE:  I think it was just a consideration, as has been said before, some of us aren't interested, just want natural gas, got enough to do in our municipality without anything else, and others were interested if, you know, if could be worked out, if there was -- if it was the consideration, but the overall goal was just to get natural gas.  That's our overall goal, and that's what we're focused on.

You know how when you explore agreements you explore possibilities.  It was -- I would say it was more just a consideration.

MR. JANIGAN:  A consideration from the individual --


MAYOR EADIE:  For the individual municipalities.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, with respect to your RFI, as I understand it, you've indicated that you believe the competitive RFI will lead to a better solution than simply allowing the incumbent LDC to build into areas like South Bruce.  Am I correct on that?

MR. MURPHY:  In this particular case that was correct, yeah.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder, if you look at page 8 of my compendium it appears that the EPCOR proposal seemed to be the highest cost proposal, and that seems to fly in the face of the idea that a competitive tender [audio dropout] at best.

Can you shed some light on why EPCOR ended up as the chosen entity although it had the highest cost proposal?

MR. MURPHY:  You mean the highest capital expenditure?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Yeah.  Initially it was true that the capital expenditure was the highest.  They subsequently refined that in the downward direction.  They were prepared to consider alternatives to the -- what we were stuck with with Union, and that is to pay a substantial amount of money in CIAC, which simply wasn't available.


That wasn't necessary under the EPCOR option.  We were looking at a standalone entity, and they were quite flexible in coming up with different types of rate structures, investigating a number of them.

For a variety of reasons they appeared to have more flexibility dealing with the problems we were encumbering (sic), and they were open to a variety of inputs from us on issues like ownership, those sorts of things that the others weren't.

MR. JANIGAN:  So this information in this interrogatory on page 8 has to be updated.  It said here that you referenced EPCOR's website information of capital expenditures between 100 million and 120 million.  Those figures have come down, you say.

MR. MURPHY:  That's right, in fact the original number was higher than this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  This is all with the intent to inform us on framework, I take it, Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Exactly.  And primarily I want to understand why a competitive bid ended up effectively, I mean, with the highest capital expenditure.  It seems to be associated with the mechanics of what was in the bid.

MR. TODD:  Could you I add a generic comment to that?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. TODD:  It is incomplete to just talk about the cost of a project.

Rates are the cost spread across the customers.  So a project that has a rate design that will achieve a higher penetration rate, or has a different approach to marketing, signing up customers, whatever, you can actually end up with lower costs, lower rates for customers, despite having higher costs of the capital project, and possibly the higher costs are because it's being done differently in order to get higher penetration.

So the real issue is who ends up with the lowest rates, so we shouldn't have a blanket least-capital cost investment.

 MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Todd.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is it important that the rate designs of EPCOR correspond with that of Union Gas and Enbridge?

Let's say they proposed 100 percent fixed recovery, and that was teamed reasonable.  Would that make any difference to South Bruce?

MR. MURPHY:  Eventually – well, it depends upon how rates are modified, if in fact they are modified in the two hearings that are underway now, a generic hearing followed by the Union rate hearing.

As they were at the time, there was very little flexibility for Union, so they were constrained to do what they could do, whereas the others we were dealing with had far more flexibility to determine different rate structures.

In the case of EPCOR, they also had a specific plan having to do with conversion rates, and encouraging conversion rates.  That was a unique feature of their plan that I thought was critical to the overall success of the project.

So there are a variety of circumstances --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vellone, you've put forward the concern yourself, right, and your witnesses are giving a lot of information that the Board has said could not be answered in interrogatories.

If this is going to a framework question, Mr. Janigan, can you assist me in seeing the connection?

MR. JANIGAN:  It may be the lateness of the hour, but it was intended to be a framework question looking at what -- in terms of any framework, does it make any difference whether or not the rate designs of the utility chosen corresponds to Union and Enbridge.  And does it make any difference, for example, to the commercial industrial customers in municipalities.

MR. MURPHY:  I'm sorry, what's the question again?

MR. JANIGAN:  Let's say that you are chosen in terms of constructing any framework for an RFI -- let's say your chosen utility offers a different rate structure than Union or Enbridge.  Is this something that makes a difference to the commercial and industrial customers, from your experience in South Bruce?

MR. VELLONE:  So I guess where the question is going is towards what was your decision criteria.  I'm failing to see the linkage.

MR. JANIGAN:  No, no, no.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think I'm hearing Mr. Janigan's question as:  What components did you -- did the RFI include that were, as has been presented here in the evidence, the story being told so that they can form this to assist.

And I think what Mr. Janigan is probing is are these the types of things that are important to you, not necessarily the decision criteria, but are they important to you as a municipality offering -- going out to the competitive world.  And I think that's a fair question.

MR. MURPHY:  And the answer is yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can you tell us from your perspective what if any problems are there with a natural gas solution that uses CNG or storage instead of a connection to the pipeline system.

MR. MURPHY:  We didn't get a chance to explore that because no one offered that option.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now there were CMG facilities in your municipality, isn't that correct?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And obviously if nobody offered it, it didn't have any effect on your decision?

MR. MURPHY:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I have a question, and your exchange with Mr. Rubenstein, confused me.

I was under the impression that any municipal tax rate -- the tax rebate that would be paid to a successful proponent like EPCOR, would be the equivalent of the incremental tax equivalent that has been put forward by -- by Union, for example.

 But, as I understood Mr. Vellone's answer, there was this pipeline tax that was the equivalent of the -- of the ITE.

Have I got that confused?  Mr. Vellone can answer that, if he wants and have you adopt.

MR. VELLONE:  There are multiple sources of revenue that municipalities gain when these utilities move into their area.  Some of it is municipal property tax, some of it is pipeline tax.  The bulk of it actually pipeline tax related, so I treated the two as analogous in my response.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the tax rebate to EPCOR in this case would also be the equivalent of the incremental tax equivalent?

MR. QUESNELLE:  One of the things that I had asked for clarification on, Mr. Janigan.  Are you asking is it equivalent from an in kind, or are you asking is it quantum, because I don't want the --


MR. JANIGAN:  Equivalent in kind, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And the answer is yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if the Board rejects any ITE in this process, how does this affect South Bruce?

MR. MURPHY:  Well, as I say, I have not seen the latest number, so I really don't know.  I would have to look into that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Thank you for your indulgence in attempting to separate the two conceptual issues.  And I thank the Panel for their patience as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Buonaguro, you asked to go last to see if you had anything left.  Do you?  No pressure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm good.  I'm all right.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, no, in all seriousness, do you have anything?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I want to --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is your microphone on, sir?  Go ahead.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry. I think it relates to evidence that was put forward by another -- by the EPCOR witness, so I can probably just as easily ask Dr. Yatchew, if I have to.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I appreciate that.  Thank you very much, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Chair, before we adjourn, I have a question on redirect.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly, yes.

Re-Examination by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Mary, it is probably for you, and it is in response to a line of questioning that Ms. DeMarco had on behalf of Greenfield Ethanol.

In that line of questioning, Ms. DeMarco brought forward some concerns about the importance of consulting with industrial customers.

I was wondering if you could share with the Panel what if any consultations did the municipality have with your industrial customers, and I guess specifically with Ms. DeMarco's client, Greenfield Ethanol, during this process from, I guess, 2011 to 2016.


MAYOR EADIE:  So in 2011, as I mentioned before, we did --


MS. DeMARCO:  Again, I'm going to have to object here in terms of where we've gone.  We have been very disciplined and tried to be so responsible.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco, your whole line of questions was about consultation and whether or not your client had had the opportunity.  I think this is -- in redirect, I think there may be more information for us here.

MS. DeMARCO:  We were very careful not to ask specific questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco, you identified your client as Greenfield and all your questions around the consultation were they based on -- I took it setting up the argument that they didn't have the sufficient opportunity to, if that was going to be your argument.  I think this redirect based on things that you opened up is quite appropriate here.

MAYOR EADIE:  So starting back in 2011, when we started this initiative this time, we had the open house, as I said, and then we set up basically a steering committee and Greenfield, the representative, was on our steering committee.

We needed input.  We were, at the start, brainstorming, trying to come up with, you know, possible ways we could get natural gas to our communities.

So we did invite some businesses and industry to be on our committee, and Greenfield was part of that and gave us good information.

And then the progression was, we explored the alternatives, as -- and had the Union Gas study and Northern Cross's proposal, but we sort of came to a dead end, so we took it to a different level and hired a consultant, but as I -- and, you know, went through the process then of working with the three communities.


We worked very hard, but I have to stress, as I did -- I think I mentioned before, that all the time we had public open houses, we had media releases.  When we first started the steering committee I think we tried to have a release every one or two months, and through the process, if there was anything that had developed, sometimes things were stuck for a few months and there wasn't anything really new, but as soon as we had something that we thought the public or the businesses or anybody interested in natural gas, we did make an effort to consult, and as I said before, I did.  I made it quite clear that, in the election campaign, I was open to talking with people, meeting with people, and I did meet with GreenField regarding what we were doing as -- you know, some of it was confidential at the time.  We couldn't divulge it, but my CAO and one of the other mayors we met -- I can give you specific times in September --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Not necessary.

MAYOR EADIE:  Yeah, we had the open houses, and then I met -- I did meet three times after the open houses to answer any questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I think that's helpful.  And again -- and thank you for that, because I think what that informs us is the nature of your approach.  It is informative to us putting together a framework for your client, Ms. DeMarco.  This isn't the area that we would be testing whether or not that was sufficient or not.  This is informative to us.  There is nothing being determined here that would be detrimental to your client as far as what we're deciding here today, so if that's any comfort.

MAYOR EADIE:  So Mr. Chair, if you want to see a sample of our media releases, you are quite welcome to have them.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'll leave it to your -- Mr. Vellone, if there is something that you need to get on the record at another time.  But I think we have got the evidence, if we don't already have it.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  We can easily file that on the record at a later date.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate you coming today and sharing your story with us.  Thank you very much, and the rest of the witnesses.  Thank you.

Tomorrow morning we'll be starting again at nine o'clock, and we will be starting with NOACC, I believe, Mr. Millar, and that will be first off, and then we'll be getting back to Enbridge, I think is the order of events, so with that we'll adjourn until 9:00 a.m. tomorrow morning.  Thanks again.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:43 p.m.
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